Public Document Pack
Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 21st July, 2022
6.30 pm
Meeting Room A, Blackburn Town Hall

AGENDA
1.

Welcome and Apologies

2.

Minutes of the Previous Meeting
Minutes of Previous Meeting

3.

Declaration of Interest
Declaration of Interest Form

Material Consideration
4.

61 - 102

103 119

Planning Application 10/22/0381
104 Livingstone Road, Blackburn

4.6

45 - 60

Planning Application 10/22/0371
Land at Greenbank Terrace, Lower Darwen

4.5

13 - 44

Planning Application 10/22/0034
Burnley Road Bowling Pavilion, Burnley Road

4.4

11 - 12

Planning Application 10/21/1425
Madina Mosque, Oak Street, Blackburn

4.3

9 - 10

Planning Application 10/21/0953
Land at Lower Barn Street, Darwen

4.2

8

Planning Applications for Determination
Agenda 21.07.2022

4.1

3-7

Planning Application 10/22/0430

120 148

5 Chestnut Gardens, Blackburn

149 169

PART 2 - THE PRESS AND PUBLIC MAY BE EXCLUDED
DURING CONSIDERATION OF THE FOLLOWING ITEMS
5.

Enforcement
ENFORCEMENT – 29 PRINCESS GARDENS,
BLACKBURN. BB2 5EJ
Location Plan ENF 29 Princess Gardens.jpg
29 Princess Gardens Site Photo 1.jpg
29 Princess Gardens Site Photo 2.jpg
29 Princess Gardens Site Photo 3.jpg

6.

Enforcement
Enforcement Report
Location plan 74 Queens Park Road.jpg
Picture of shed 1 - 74 Queens Park Road.jpg
Picture of shed 2 - 74 Queens Park Road.jpg

7.

170 175

176 180

Enforcement
ENFORCEMENT – 83 QUEENS ROAD, BLACKBURN.
BB1 1QF
83 Queens Road location plan.jpg
taken 22nd june 2022 83 Queens Road.jpg
taken 22nd june 2022 83 Queens Road (1).jpg
taken 22nd june 2022 83 Queens Road (2).jpg

181 187

Date Published: Wednesday, 13 July 2022
Denise Park, Chief Executive

Agenda Item 2

PLANNING AND HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE
Thursday, 16 June 2022

PRESENT – Councillors, David Smith (Chair), Akhtar, Casey, Khan, Slater,
Browne, Marrow, Baldwin, Desai, Liddle, Imtiaz, Mahmood and McCaughran.
OFFICERS – Gavin Prescott, Michael Greel and Shannon Gardiner
RESOLUTIONS
10

Welcome and Apologies
The Chair welcomed everyone to the Committee.
There were no apologies were received.

11

Minutes of the Previous Meeting
RESOLVED - That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 26th May 2022
be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

12

Declaration of Interest
RESOLVED – There were no Declaration of Interests received.

13

Planning Applications for Determination
The Committee considered reports of the Strategic Director of Place detailing
the planning applications.
In considering the applications, the Committee took into account
representations or submissions provided by individuals with the Officers
answering points raised during discussion thereon.

13.1

Planning Application 10/22/0266
Applicant – Mr S. Close & Miss B. Leek
Location and Proposed Development –
Feniscowles, Blackburn, BB2 5EL.

33

Coronation

Avenue,

Full Planning Application for Erection of two storey side extension, single
storey rear extension, flat roof dormer to rear, insertion of roof lights and roof
canopy to front.
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –
RESOLVED – Approved subject to the conditions highlighted in the Directors
Report
13.2

Planning Application 10/22/0370

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 16th June, 2022

Page 3

Applicant – Ashworth Nursery School
Location and Proposed Development – Ashworth Nursery School, Addison
Close, Blackburn, BB2 1QU
Full Planning Application (Regulation 4) for Installation of 2.4m high anti-climb
green mesh fencing and passenger gates to replace to existing fencing
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –
RESOLVED – Approved subject to the conditions highlighted in the Director’s
Report

13.3

Planning Application 10/22/0428
Applicant – Blackburn Waterside Regeneration Ltd
Location and Proposed Development – Former Sappi Mills, Plot 1, Phase 1
A (Watermills Development) Livesey Branch Road, Blackburn
Full Planning Application (Retrospective) for Erection of a detached 3 bedroom
bungalow (retrospective)
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –
RESOLVED – Approved subject to the conditions highlighted in the Director’s
Report.

14

Proposed Introduction of an Article 4 Direction - Removal of permitted
development rights for the change of use from Use Class C3 (dwellinghouses) to C4 (HMOs)
The Members of the Committee were briefed on the current issues relating to
Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs) and set out the justification for making
a new Article 4 Direction to control the change of use from a dwelling house to
a HMO and to set out the new designated area which that Direction will apply
to. (The new Article 4 Direction designation is proposed to cover the whole
urban area of Blackburn with Darwen and will replace the existing Article 4
Direction.)
In April 2010, the Government introduced a new Use Class C4 (C4) to the Use
Classes Order, relating to Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs) covering
small shared houses or flats; defined as being occupied by 3 to 6 unrelated
individuals who share basic amenities. In October 2010, the Government then
introduced legislation, under ‘permitted development rights’ to allow the
change of use of a dwelling house to a C4 use without the need to apply for
planning permission. Whilst introduced through previous legal Orders, these
‘permitted development’ rights are now legislated through The Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Department of
Place, Growth and Development Order 2015 (as amended)1 or GPDO for

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 16th June, 2022

Page 4

short, which gives permission to carry out certain ‘permitted development’
subject to certain conditions.
The GPDO (2015) (Part 3, Class L (part b)) grants permitted development
rights to allow the conversion from a use falling within Use Class C3 (dwelling
houses) to a use falling within Class C4 (HMOs), and relate only to dwelling
houses of not more than 6 residents. Proposals for HMOs containing 7 or
more residents already require planning permission to be sought.
In usual circumstances, the conversion of a dwelling house to a HMO (for 3 to
6 persons) does not therefore require planning permission to be sought.
However, the Government recognises that sometimes local circumstances will
mean greater control needs to be given to local powers to manage such types
of development. Consequently, Article 4 of the GPDO (2015) allows Local
Planning Authorities (LPAs) to remove permitted development rights from
specified areas under their management, thereby requiring applicants to apply
for planning permission and enabling the LPA the opportunity to consider a
proposal in more detail. These are called Article 4 Directions.
In 2012, Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council agreed to introduce a (nonimmediate) Article 4 Direction to remove permitted development rights for the
conversion of C3 to C4 uses within the wards, then known as, Shear Brow,
Corporation Park, Wensley Fold, Mill Hill, Ewood, Sudell and Sunnyhurst. The
Direction was introduced in response to concerns from elected members,
residents, businesses and other stakeholder agencies, at the detrimental
impact that high numbers and localised concentrations of HMOs were having
on the physical, economic and social fabric of communities and
neighbourhoods across the borough.
Later in 2012, a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) relating to planning
applications for HMOs was consulted upon and adopted, producing clear and
detailed local policy guidance to set out how and why HMOs were affecting the
sustainability of communities and neighbourhoods in the borough, and the
very limited circumstances where they may be supported.
In February 2013, the Article 4 Direction (agreed in January 2012) came into
force requiring all changes to C4 uses within the defined Article 4 areas to
seek planning permission. Small HMOs outside of the defined areas, where
issues of concentration had not been identified, still retained their permitted
development rights.
In accordance with national planning guidance (para 49)2, the Council report
accompanying the original Article 4 Direction (2012) set out its intent to
monitor the appropriateness of the Direction, including review and
consideration of whether the original rationale and/or extend of the Direction
continues to be valid.
Whilst the planning actions taken so far to resist additional HMO approvals in
those designated areas are considered to have been successful, there have
been increasing concerns, from a variety of Council services, that the number
of HMO beds in the borough is growing and, with it, concerns regarding the
amenity harm and associated impact on public services and communities.
Despite the Article 4 Direction, over recent years the borough has seen a
considerable increase in the provision of HMO accommodation, and the
Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 16th June, 2022

Page 5

Council now consider there to be an over provision of such accommodation,
which includes providing for needs imported from outside of the Borough. The
consequence of this proliferation of HMOs are multiple and varied, including
impacting on amenity and well-being, limiting opportunities for investment and
regeneration, reducing the Council’s ability to address the housing supply
imbalance, and increasing the demand for frontline services.
The growth in HMOs and the increase in associated issues, alongside the
progression of the Council’s emerging Local Plan (2021-2037) means this is
now an opportune time to review the Article 4 restrictions and their designated
geographic areas. Whilst acknowledging that planning is only one part of a
number of preventative actions to be implemented by the Council as a whole,
Planning continues to be a key tool in the management of HMOs in the
Borough.
The Committee discussed the report and were in agreement that it was a
beneficial and comprehensive report and to thank the officers for their hard
work in producing the Article 4 Direction.
RESOLVED –
1. That the Committee noted the issues described in the report and the
rationale behind the proposed approach;
2. That the Committee endorsed the making of a non-immediate Direction
under Article 4 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (as amended), with a 12-month lead-in
period, to remove the permitted development right granted by Schedule
2 Part 3 Class L(b) of that Order, which allows a change of use from a
dwelling house (C3) to a house in multiple occupation with between 3
and 6 occupants (C4) and which will apply to all urban areas of the
borough as shown on the accompanying plan.
3. That the Committee recommend Council Forum approve the making of
such Article 4 Direction, with the required consultation to take place
over a 6 week period over August/September 2022.
15

Enforcement
A report was submitted seeking authorisation to take enforcement action
against all persons having an interest in land at 63 Oozehead Lane,
Blackburn.
Background information including grounds for the request were outlined in the
report.
RESOLVED – Authorisation was given to the proposed enforcement action at
land as 63 Oozehead Lane, Blackburn.

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 16th June, 2022

Page 6

Signed: ………………………………………………….
Date: …………………………………………………….
Chair of the meeting
at which the minutes were confirmed

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 16th June, 2022

Page 7

Agenda Item 3
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN
ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA

Members attending a Council, Committee, Board or other
meeting with a personal interest in a matter on the Agenda
must disclose the existence and nature of the interest and, if
it is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or an Other Interest
under paragraph 16.1 of the Code of Conduct, should leave
the meeting during discussion and voting on the item.
Members declaring an interest(s) should complete this form
and hand it to the Democratic Services Officer at the
commencement of the meeting and declare such an interest
at the appropriate point on the agenda.
MEETING:

PLANNING AND HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE

DATE:
AGENDA ITEM NO.:
DESCRIPTION (BRIEF):
NATURE OF INTEREST:

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY/OTHER (delete as appropriate)

SIGNED :
PRINT NAME:
(Paragraphs 8 to 17 of the Code of Conduct for Members of the Council refer)

Page 8

X:\Planning & Highways\2017\Misc\Declaration of Interest\Declaration of Interest Form.doc

Material Consideration

“Material Considerations” are not limited to matters relating to amenity and can cover a range of
considerations, in regard to public or private interests, provided that there is some relationship to the use and
development of land.
Where it is decided that a consideration is material to the determination of a planning application the courts
have held that the assessment of weight is a matter for planning judgement by the planning authority, rather
than the court. Materiality is a matter of law for the Court, weight is for the decision maker. Accordingly it is
for the Committee to assess the weight to be attached to each material consideration, but if a Council does
not take account of a material consideration or takes account of an immaterial consideration then the decision
is vulnerable to challenge in the courts.
By section 38(6) of the Planning & Compensation Act 2004 Act every planning decision must be taken in
accordance with the development plan (taken as a whole) unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. The policies and guidance contained in the hierarchy of planning documents are important
material considerations and the starting point for the Committee in its assessment of development proposals
and most decisions are usually taken in line with them.
However, the Committee is legally obliged to consider all material matters in determining a planning
application and this means that some decisions will not follow published policy or guidance. In other words,
the Committee may occasionally depart from published policy when it considers this is outweighed by other
factors and can be justified in the circumstances of the particular case. Similarly, in making a decision where
there are competing priorities and policies the Committee must exercise its judgement in determining the
balance of considerations
The following provides a broad guide of what may and may not be material, though as with any broad
guidance there will on occasions be exceptions

Page 9

Before deciding a planning application members need to carefully consider an application against the
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998.
Protocol 1 of Article 1, and Article 8 confer(s) a right of respect for a person’s private and family life, their
possessions, home, other land; and business assets. Article 6, the applicants (and those third parties,
including local residents, who have made representations) have the right to a fair hearing and to this end the
Committee must give full consideration to their representation, and comments,
In taking account of all material considerations, including Council policy as set out in the Core Strategy and
saved polices of the Unitary Development Plan, the Head of Growth & Development has concluded that some
rights conferred by these Articles on the applicant(s)/objector(s)/resident(s) and other occupiers and owners
of nearby land that might be affected may be interfered with but that interference is proportionate, in
accordance with the law and justified by being in the public interest and on the basis of the planning merits
of the development proposal. Furthermore he believes that any restriction on these rights posed by the
approval of an application is proportionate to the wider benefits of approval and that such a decision falls
within the margin of discretion afforded to the Council under the Town and Country Planning Acts.
Other duties have to be taken into account in determining planning applications for example the promotion
of measures to reduce crime, the obligation not to act in a discriminatory manner and promote equality etc.
NB: Members should also be aware that each proposal is treated on its own merits!
Reasons for Decision
If members decide to go against officer recommendations then it is their responsibility to clearly set out their
reasons for doing so, otherwise members should ask for the application to be deferred in order that a further
report is presented setting out the background to the report, clarifying the reasons put forward in the debate
for overriding the officer recommendation; the implications of the decision and the effect on policy; what
conditions or agreements may be needed; or just to seek further information.
If Members move a motion contrary to the recommendations then members must give reasons before voting
upon the motion. Alternatively members may seek to defer the application for a further report. However, if
Members move a motion to follows the recommendation but the motion is lost. In these circumstances then
members should be asked to state clearly their reasons for not following the recommendations or ask that a
further report be presented to the next meeting

Page 10

BwD Council - Development Control

Agenda Item 4

General Reporting
REPORT NAME: Committee Agenda.

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF GROWTH & DEVELOPMENT

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
BACKGROUND PAPERS
There is a file for each planning application containing application forms, consultations,
representations, Case Officer notes and other supporting information.
Gavin Prescott, Planning Manager (Development Management) – Ext 5694.
NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION: The extent of neighbour notification is shown on the location plans which
accompany each report. Where neighbours are notified by individual letter, their properties are marked
with a dot. Where a site notice has been posted, its position is shown with a cross.
PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION Date: 21/07/2022
Application No
Applicant

Site Address

Ward

Land at Lower Barn Street
Darwen
BB3 2HQ

Darwen South

Application Type
10/21/0953
Amanda Hodgson
C/O Neil Pike Architects
17-19 Chorley New Road
Bolton
BL1 4QR

Full Planning Application for Proposed Residential Development Consisting of the Construction of 5 Detached Houses
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

10/21/1425
Committee Secretary
Madina Mosque
Oak Street
Blackburn
BB1 6NT

Madina Mosque
Oak Street
Blackburn
BB1 6NT

Bastwell & Daisyfield

Full Planning Application (Retrospective) for Retrospective application for new ground floor level, ladies hall and basement level storage area
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

10/22/0034
Mr Roker
Unit 20 Harwood Street
Blackburn
BB1 3BS

Burnley Road Bowling Pavilion
Burnley Road
Blackburn
BB1 3HN

Audley & Queens Park

Full Planning Application (Regulation 4) for Demolition of existing bowling green hut & dilapidated children's playground; and erection of 2no
industrial buildings with associated landscaping and access from Didsbury Street.
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

10/22/0371
Execution Time: 12 minute(s), 1 second(s)

Page 11
Printed by ADMMXI\Jodie_Carter on 08/07/2022 11:33:51
Page 1 of 1

Barnfield Blackburn Ltd
8 Kenyon Road
Nelson
BB9 5SP

Land at Greenbank Terrace
Lower Darwen
Blackburn

Blackburn South & Lower Darwen

Variation/Removal of Condition/Minor Material Amendment for Variation of Condition No.1 pursuant to planning application 10/21/0597 "Approval of reserved matters for the appearance, layout, scale and landscaping of the employment units 1, 2 and 3, pursuant to permission
10/18/1149" - revisions to the scale and design relating to Plot 3
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

10/22/0381
Fit4home Ltd
104 Livingstone Road
Blackburn
BB2 6NE

104 Livingstone Road
Blackburn
BB2 6NE

Wensley Fold

Full Planning Application (Retrospective) for Double storey rear extension, single storey side extension and rear dormer - retrospective Amendment to planning application 10/21/0519
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

10/22/0430
Mr Majid Anwar
5 Chestnut Gardens
Blackburn
BB1 6PS

5 Chestnut Gardens
Blackburn
BB1 6PS

Bastwell & Daisyfield

Full Planning Application for Extension to rear single storey and erection of a front porch. Alteration to rear garden levels and replacement party
and side/rear boundary wall (retrospective)
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

Page 12
Execution Time: 12 minute(s), 1 second(s)

Printed by ADMMXI\Jodie_Carter on 08/07/2022 11:33:51
Page 1 of 1

Agenda Item 4.1
REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/21/0953

Proposed development: Full Planning Application for: Proposed residential
development of 5 detached houses with associated highway infrastructure and
landscaping.
Site address:
Land at Lower Barn Street
Darwen
BB3 2HQ
Applicant: Amanda Hodgson
Ward: Darwen South
Councillor Kevin Connor
Councillor Lilian Salton
Councillor Andrew Walker

Path (u

m)

1

CR
AN
BE
RR
Y

3

SP

LA
NE
CH
AS
E

5

Y
RR
BE
AN
CR

39

17

Greenf ield Farm Barn

19

23
Greenf ield
Farm

1

3

7

1

5

3

12

1

8

94

6
4
TU
NN
EL
ST
RE
ET

PH

Cranberry Cottage

Vale
ng
ge
Spri
Villa
en
Gard

27

2

2

LO
WE
RB
AR
NS
TR
EE
T

20

3

23

18

7

13

95

NO
RT
HU
MB
ER
LA
ND

Sundial

17

25

55

m
8.5
20

Page 13

60

CUM
BER
LAN
DC
LOS
E

23
GR
EEN
FIE
LD
STR
EET

10

7

LB

16

27

Spring Vale
Garden Village

CL
OS
E

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – Subject to conditions, as set out at paragraph 4.1.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1

The proposal is submitted in the form of a full planning application. It is
reported to Committee due to receipt of a significant number of public
objections, reproduced at paragraph 6.2 (Public Consultations). This is in
accordance with the Council’s adopted Scheme of Delegation.

2.2

Detailed assessment of the application finds that the proposed
development corresponds with the Council’s overarching housing growth
strategy, as set out in the Core Strategy and Local Plan Part 2. Delivery of a
high quality housing led development will be secured. Moreover, from a
technical point of view, all issues have been addressed through the
application or are capable of being controlled or mitigated through planning
conditions.

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.2

The application site (the site) lies within the outer extremities of Darwen’s
urban boundary, to the north of Lower Barn Street. It is an unallocated in-fill
site within an area generally residential in character, bounded by a Green
Infrastructure (GI) allocation to the immediate north with the railway line and a
housing allocation beyond, to the east of which is open countryside,
designated as Green Belt.

3.3

The site features a pronounced change in levels, falling from the southern
boundary on Lower Barn Street to the railway line to the north. The site is
identified by the red edged location plan and aerial view below (Neil Pike
Architects, 24/8/2021)

Page 14

3.4

The below aerial image shows the site and the wider context (Google Maps)

3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 Planning permission is sought for the erection of 5no. detached dwellings
(Use Class C3), including access, hard and soft landscaping and associated
works, as set out in the submitted drawings. The proposed layout is
illustrated below (Neil Pike Architects, 14/2/2022).

Page 15

3.3

Development Plan

3.3.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
that applications be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
3.3.2 The Development Plan comprises the Core Strategy and adopted Local Plan
Part 2 – Site Allocations and Development Management Policies. In
determining the current proposal, the following are considered to be the most
relevant policies:
3.3.3 Core Strategy








CS1 – A Targeted Growth Strategy
CS5 – Locations for New Housing
CS6 – Housing Targets
CS7 – Types of Housing
CS15 – Ecological Assets
CS16 – Form and Design of New Development
CS18 – The Borough Landscapes

3.3.4 Local Plan Part 2 (LLP2)










Policy 1 – The Urban Boundary
Policy 7 – Sustainable and Viable Development
Policy 8 – Development and People
Policy 9 – Development and the Environment
Policy 10 – Accessibility and Transport
Policy 11 – Design
Policy 18 – Housing Mix
Policy 36 – Climate Change
Policy 41 – Landscape

3.3.5 Joint Lancashire Minerals and Waste Local Plan
3.3.6 Joint Lancashire Minerals and Waste Development Plan
3.3.7 Joint Lancashire Minerals and Core Strategy (2009)
3.3.8 Site Allocations Development Management Policies Plan Part 1 (2013)
Policy M2 – Safeguarding Minerals.
3.4

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 BwD Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (2015)
This document provides targeted advice to ensure high quality new homes. It
aims to ensure that new development reflects the individual and collective

Page 16

character of areas of the Borough and promotes high standards of design.
The document also seeks to ensure a good relationship between existing and
proposed development in terms of protecting and enhancing amenity.
3.4.2 Air Quality Planning Advisory Note
3.4.3 National Planning Policy Framework (The Framework) (2021
Overall, The Framework aims to raise economic performance by ensuring the
quantity, quality and mix of housing reflect that required, with an expectation
to maintain a 5-year housing land supply. Quality design should be secured
and environmental impacts minimised.
Areas of The Framework especially relevant to the proposal are as follows:







Section 2: Achieving Sustainable Development
Section 5: Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Section 6: Building a strong, competitive economy
Section 11: Making effective use of land
Section 12: Achieving well-designed places
Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and
coastal erosion.

3.4.4 Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan 2018 – 2037 (Consultation Draft) (January
2021).
3.4.5 National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG).
3.5

Assessment

3.5.1 In assessing this full application there are a number of important material
considerations that need to be taken into account, as follows:






Principle of the development;
Amenity impact;
Environmental impact;
Highways and access; and
Design and layout.

3.5.2 Principle
Core Strategy Policy CS1 explains that the overall planning strategy for the
Borough is one of ‘Targeted Growth’ and identifies a need for ‘a limited
number of small scale urban extensions’.
3.5.3 Policy CS5 explains that the preferred location for new housing, where
market conditions permit its delivery, will be the inner urban areas of
Blackburn and Darwen.

Page 17

3.5.4 Policy CS7 encourages the development of a full range of new housing over
the life of the Core Strategy in order to widen the choice available in the local
market.
3.5.5 Policy 18 requires detached and semi-detached house types to be the
principal element of housing mix on any site capable of accommodating such
housing.
3.5.6 Previous permissions for housing led development at the site, as set at
paragraph 5.0, are an important material consideration in this assessment,
which demonstrate the sites is fundamental suitability for housing. This is
further reinforced by the availability of nearby public transport links into
Darwen town centre and local amenities along the A666. Bus and rail
services in Darwen town centre offer opportunities for easy to reach
destinations such as Blackburn, Preston, Manchester and Clitheroe.
Moreover, the adjacent housing allocation (Local Plan Part ref. 16/6) to the
north, further demonstrates the areas sustainability credentials.
3.5.7 A very small section of Mineral Safeguarding Area (MSA), encroaches into the
northern end of the site, immediately adjacent to the railway, as defined by the
Joint Lancashire Minerals and Waste Site Allocations Development
Management Policies Plan Part 1 (2013).
3.5.8 Policy M2 ‘Safeguarding Minerals’, at paragraph 6.2.3 states:
Current guidance advises that mineral safeguarding should not be
curtailed by any other planning designation, such as urban areas or
environmental designations without sound justification. The mineral
deposits with the Plan area are extensive and whilst they continue
beneath urban areas, they are already sterilised by non-mineral
development and are not sufficiently valuable, with very little prospect of
future working. Therefore, in a wish to make our safeguarding realistic
and practical as possible, we have excluded such areas from the
mineral safeguarding areas.
3.5.9 As the application site lies within the defined urban boundary, the mineral
safeguarded area should not prohibit the development. The area to the south
of the application site has already been sterilised by existing development
which, together with the presence of the railway line, means there is no
prospect of the application site being used for future mineral working.
3.5.10 Accordingly, as a proposal delivering an appropriate mix of homes, on a site
not allocated for an alternative purpose, the principle of the development is
found to be acceptable, in accordance with the provisions of the Development
Plan and The Framework.

Page 18

3.5.11 Amenity
Policy 8 requires development to contribute positively to the overall physical,
social, environmental and economic character of the area. It is also required
to secure a satisfactory level of amenity and safety is secured for surrounding
uses and for occupants or users of the development itself; with reference to
noise, vibration, odour, light, dust, other pollution or nuisance, privacy /
overlooking, and the relationship between buildings.
3.5.12 The single storey relationship between plot 5 and 19 Lower Barn Street is
acceptable, in achieving the Council’s adopted 13.5 minimum separation
standard between existing habitable room windows and what is, in effect, a
proposed upper floor blank elevation, given that plot 5 is absent of any
habitable room windows. Instead the dormer window proposed serves
circulation space. The secondary ground floor habitable room window
proposed to the front of plot 5 opposes the pre-existing boundary fence to the
rear of no. 19, which guards against any significant loss of privacy to
occupants of no. 19. The relationship is illustrated in the two extracts
below (Neil Pike Architects, 14/2/2022):

Page 19

3.5.13 A similarly acceptable relationship is achieved between plot 4 habitable and
the rear of 17 Lower Barn Street, as shown below (Neil Pike Architects,
14/2/2022):

Page 20

3.5.14 Although upper floor dormer bedroom windows are proposed to plot 3, they
will not directly face no. 17.
3.5.15 Plot 1 sits at an elevated level and to the east of no. 5 Cranberry Chase.
Minor conflict arises between the proposed blank elevation and a side window
to no. 5. The affected window is, however, believed to be a secondary
window serving an open plan kitchen / dining space, with the primary window
in the elevation facing the railway. As a dual aspect space, it is considered
that sufficient daylight and sunlight admission to the room will be maintained.
3.5.16 The proposed rear balcony to plot 1 will be positioned circa 5.6m, as
illustrated below, (Neil Pike Architects, 14/2/2022) from the rear garden of no.
5. The extent of separation and provision of a c. 1.8m high ‘screen wall’
along the opposing side of the balcony, is sufficient to guard against any
significant loss of privacy. Provision of the screen will be secured via
condition.

3.5.17 The elevated level of plot 1 also results in a modest degree of overlooking
from the side garden into the garden at no. 5. Mitigation in the form of an
appropriate boundary fence, to be secured via condition, will guard against
any significant loss of privacy.
3.5.18 A communal refuse collection point is proposed adjacent to the site access,
appropriately serving refuse collection needs of householders.
3.5.19 Sufficient outdoor amenity space will serve each plot.
3.5.20 The Council’s Public Protection consultee has offered no comment.
Comments received in response to the application 10/20/1246 are, however,

Page 21

entirely relevant to this application. The following (summary) conditions are
recommended, to safeguard amenity levels during and post construction:







Submission of a noise / vibration impact assessment arising from the
adjacent railway. Mitigation to be identified and implemented as
necessary.
standard contaminated land;
limited hours of construction;
submission of a noise / vibration monitoring programme (should pile
foundations be necessary;
implementation air quality measures; and
Submission of a Construction an Environmental Management Plan
(CEMP).

3.5.21 Network Rail also offer no comment. Comments received in response to the
application 10/20/1246 are, again, entirely relevant to this application. The
following (summary) conditions are recommended, in order to guard against
impact on the railway:





Submission of a method statement / risk assessment arising from
construction works;
submission of details of a trespass proof fence;
submission of scaffolding details within 10m of railway; and
confirmation that drainage will be directed away from the railway (to be
secured by the overall drainage strategy condition).

3.5.22 Accordingly, it is found that satisfactory levels of amenity and safety would be
secured for existing and future residents. The development is also considered
to contribute positively to the overall physical, social, environmental and
economic character of the area, in accordance with the requirements of Policy
8, The Masterplan and The Framework.
3.5.23 Environment
Policies CS13, 9 and 40 requires that development will not have an
unacceptable impact on environmental assets or interests, including but
limited to climate change (including flood risk), green infrastructure, habitats,
species, water quality and resources, trees and the efficient use of land.
3.5.24 The site lies within Flood Zone 1 (low risk). The council’s Drainage consultee,
as Lead Local Flood Authority, offers no objection to the proposal subject to
submission of a foul and surface water drainage strategy, secured via
condition.
3.5.25 A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal of the site has been submitted and
reviewed by the Council’s ecology consultee.
No objection is offered,
subject to recommendation of the following (summary) conditions:



No site clearance during bird nesting season;
submission of an invasive plant species survey;

Page 22




submission of a biodiversity enhancement scheme; and
submission of a CEMP, to include biodiversity protection measures.

3.5.26 The Council’s Arboriculture Officer offers no objection, following review of an
Arboriculture Impact Assessment, subject to submission of a detailed
landscaping / biodiversity scheme, to include replacement / enhanced
planting. Details to be secured via condition.
3.5.27 Accordingly, the environmental impact of the development is found to be
acceptable, in accordance with the requirements Policies CS13, 9 and 40, and
The Framework.
3.5.28 Highways / Accessibility and Transport
Policies CS22 and 10 requires that road safety and the safe and efficient and
convenient movement of all highway users is not prejudiced and that
appropriate provision is made for off street servicing and parking in
accordance with the Council’s adopted standards.
3.5.29 Access into the site would be taken from the existing point. Visibility splays
appropriately serve the development.
3.5.30 Properties would be served by an internal access road which will remain in
private ownership rather than be adopted by the Council. Its form is,
therefore, accepted, in recognition that refuse vehicles will not be entering the
site, due to the siting of a communal storage area adjacent to the site
access, as previously noted.
3.5.31 Off street parking is provided, within proposed drives and ‘car barns’ in
accordance with the Council’s adopted minimum standards.
3.5.32 Notwithstanding a recommendation for the Council’s highways consultee
renewal of existing footways surrounding the site is considered neither
reasonable or necessary to make the development acceptable, taking onto
account the absence of such request for previous applications; in the interests
of consistency.
3.5.33 The sites sustainability credentials are also recognised in the highways
assessment, being within easy reach of a range of facilities and services, as
well as public transport links into Darwen Town Centre and beyond.
3.5.34 Submission of the aforementioned CEMP would guard against excessive
highway disruption during construction phase
3.5.35 Accordingly, highway impacts arising from the development are found to be
acceptable, in accordance with the requirements of Policies CS22 and 10, and
The Framework.
3.5.36 Design / Character and Appearance
Policies CS16 and 11 require a good standard of design and will be expected
to enhance and reinforce the established character of the locality and

Page 23

demonstrate an understanding of the wider context towards making a positive
contribution to the local area. This includes enhance and reinforcing the
established character of a locality. Key aspects of character which must be
taken into account are the following:
i) Existing topography, buildings and landscape features and their
integration into the development;
ii) Layout and building orientation to make best use of existing
connections, landmarks and views;
iii) Building shapes, plot and block sizes, styles colours and materials that
contribute to the character of streets and use these to complement
character;
iv) Height and building line of the established area;
v) Relationship of the buildings to the street; and
vi) Frontage treatment such as boundary walls.
3.5.37 The site represents a residential infill plot, in an area characterised by a range
of house types, including bungalows to the immediate west. Dwellings are
detached and arranged in a staggered linear form to the north of the internal
road. House types appropriately respond to the topography of the site, in that
they are split level, appearing as outward facing bungalows, to the street and
three storey’s to the rear, facing the railways. Accordingly, the development
will integrate well with the prevailing street character. An existing and
proposed street scene comparison, and house types are illustrated below
(Neil Pike Architects, 14/2/2022):

Page 24

Page 25

3.5.38 Appropriate external walling and roofing materials would be secured via
condition.
3.5.39 Boundary treatments are not submitted. Details will be secured via condition.
3.5.40 Implementation of a landscaping scheme will ensure an appropriately
landscaped and integrated development.
3.5.41 Overall, the proposal constitutes good design, in demonstrating an
understanding of the wider context. It would, therefore, make a positive
contribution to the local area.
3.5.42 Accordingly, the design of the development is found to be in accordance with
the requirements of Policies CS16 and 11, and The Framework.
3.5.43 Other matters
Neighbouring objection has alleged the existence of a covenanted ‘no build
line’ across the site. Whilst this is not a material matter in consideration of the
application, the representation has been passed to the applicant’s agent, who
asserts that no such covenant exists.
3.5.44 Summary
This report assess the full planning application for a residential development
of 5 houses with associated highway infrastructure and landscaping. In
considering the proposal, a wide range of material considerations have been
taken into account. The assessment demonstrates that the planning decision
must be made in the context of assessing the merits of the proposal balanced
against any potential harm that may arise from its implementation. This report
finds that the proposal meets the policy requirements of the Blackburn with

Page 26

Darwen Core Strategy, Local Plan Part 2, Supplementary Planning
Document, Planning Advisory Note and the National Planning Policy
Framework.

4.0

RECOMMENDATION

4.1

Delegated authority is given to the Strategic Director of Growth and
Development, subject to the following conditions:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the
expiration of three years from the date of this planning permission.
REASON: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. Unless explicitly required by condition within this consent, the
development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete
accordance with the application form received 17th July 2021, and as
detailed on drawings numbered: Location Plan received 24/08/2021, PL
K1012/02 Rev B, PL K1012/03 Rev B, PL K1012/04 Rev A, PL K1012/05
Rev A, PL K1012/06 Rev A, PL K1012/07 Rev A, PL K1012/08 Rev B, PL
K1012/09 Rev B, PL K1012/10 Rev B, PL K1012/11 Rev C, PL
K1012/014 Rev C, PL K1012/01 Rev D, PL K1012/016 Rev C, PL
K1012/015 Rev B, PL K1012/13 and PL K1012/017.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify which plans are
relevant to the consent.
3. Prior to commencement of any above ground works hereby approved,
and notwithstanding the submitted details, written and illustrative details,
including colours and textures, of the external walling, roofing and window
materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented in strict
accordance with the approved details.
REASON: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is
satisfactory, in accordance with Policy 11 of the Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Local Plan Part 2 and the adopted Blackburn with Darwen
Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document.
4. Prior to commencement of any above ground works hereby approved,
and notwithstanding the submitted details, scheme of boundary
treatment(s) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme shall provide for the precise location,
height and construction materials of all boundaries. The approved
scheme of boundary treatment(s) shall be implemented prior to first
occupation of the development and retained thereafter.

Page 27

REASON: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is
satisfactory, in accordance with Policy 11 of the adopted Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council Local Plan Part 2.
5. Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a written
assessment that determines likely noise and vibration impacts arising
from the adjacent railway upon the development, shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment
shall identify any necessary mitigation measures to alleviate those
impacts. Mitigation shall be implemented in strict accordance with the
approved detail, prior to occupation of the development.
REASON: In order to safeguard amenity for occupiers of the
development, in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Local Plan Part 2.
6. The construction of the development hereby permitted shall only take
place between the following hours:
Monday to Friday: 08:00 to 18:00
Saturday: 09:00 to 13:00
Sundays or Bank Holidays: No site operations
REASON: To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining premises and the
area generally in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Local Plan Part 2.
7. Should pile driving works be required on site, prior to the
commencements of those works, a programme for the monitoring of
generated noise and vibration shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The programme shall specify the
measurement locations and maximum permissible noise and
vibrationlevels at each location. Noise and vibration levels shall not
exceed the specified levels in the approved programme.
REASON: In order to safeguard neighbouring amenity, in accordance with
Policy 8 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
8. Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, the
developer must submit to the Local Planning Authority for written
approval:
i) A comprehensive desk study report, including a preliminary conceptual
site model (CSM) in text, plan and cross-section form. Where necessary,
detailed proposals for subsequent site investigation should also be
included, clearly based on the CSM.
ii) Findings of the approved site investigation work (where necessary),
including an appropriate assessment of risks to both human health and
the wider environment, from contaminants in, on or under the land
(including ground gas). If unacceptable risks are identified, a remedial
options appraisal and detailed remediation scheme should be presented,

Page 28

along with an updated CSM. No deviation shall be made from this scheme
without the written agreement from the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure that all reasonable steps have been taken to identify
contamination at the site and to prevent unacceptable levels of water
pollution, in accordance with Policy 8 of the adopted Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council Local Plan Part 2.
9. Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, a
comprehensive Validation Report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Validation Report shall
demonstrate effective remediation in accordance with the agreed
remediation scheme and updated CSM. All the installed remediation must
be retained for the duration of the approved use, and where necessary,
the Local Planning Authority should be periodically informed in writing of
any ongoing monitoring and decisions based thereon.
REASON: To ensure that all reasonable steps have been taken to
identify contamination at the site, that the risks it presents have been
appropriately assessed, and that the site can be made 'suitable for use',
as such, does not pose a risk to future users of the site or the wider
environment, in accordance with Policy 8 of the adopted Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council Local Plan Part 2.
10. Should contamination be encountered unexpectedly during
redevelopment, all works should cease, and the LPA should be
immediately informed in writing. If unacceptable risks are identified, a
remedial options appraisal and detailed remediation scheme should be
presented, and agreed in writing by the LPA. No deviation shall be made
from this scheme without the written express agreement of the LPA.
REASON: To protect the health of future occupiers of the site, in
accordance with Policy 8 of the adopted Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council Local Plan Part 2.
11. Gas fired domestic heating boilers shall not emit more than
40mgNOx/kWh.
REASON: In the interests of improving air quality and to protect the
health of residents, in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
12. No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the
disposal of foul and surface water from the site has been submitted to an
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall
provide for:
i) Separate systems for the disposal of foul and surface water;

Page 29

ii) a detailed drainage strategy to demonstrate that the post-development
discharge rate to any soakaway, watercourse or sewer does not exceed
the pre-development rate of 5 litres per second;
iii) the drainage strategy shall include details of the peak surface water
runoff rate from the development for the 1 in 1 year rainfall event and the
1 in 100 year (+40% climate change allowance) rainfall event and shall
demonstrate that the peak post-development runoff rate does not exceed
the peak pre-development greenfield runoff rate for the same event;
iv) details of any necessary flow attenuation measures, including the use
of SuDS where appropriate;
v) confirmation that drainage of foul and surface water is directed away
from the railway; and
v) a timetable for implementation, including details of any phased delivery.
The development shall be implemented in strict accordance with the
approved details.
REASON: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage
and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution, in accordance with
Policies 8 and 9 of the adopted Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council
Local Plan Part 2.
13. No site clearance or construction works on site shall be carried out
during the bird nesting season (March to August), unless the absence of
nesting birds has been confirmed by further survey work or on-site on
inspections.
REASON: To ensure the protection of nesting birds, in accordance with
the requirements of Policy 40 of the Blackburn with Darwen Local
Plan Part 2.
14. Prior to the commencement of any works on site, a detailed Invasive
Plant Species Survey of the site shall be carried out by a remediation /
invasive species specialist.
The results of this survey and any
recommendations or mitigation measures shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any recommended
mitigation measures shall be carried out in strict accordance with the
approved detail.
REASON: In order to protect ecology and biodiversity, in accordance with
the requirements of Policies 9 and 40 of the Blackburn with Darwen Local
Plan Part 2.
15. A scheme for the Biodiversity Enhancement Measures, as set out in
section 7 and appendix 8 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
Extended by Brindle & Green dated December 2020 (ref BG19.271), shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to first occupation of the
development (or in accordance with a phasing plan which shall first be

Page 30

agreed in writing with the local planning authority) and shall be retained
thereafter.
REASON: In order to protect and promote ecology and biodiversity, in
accordance with the requirements of Policies 9 and 40 of the Blackburn
with Darwen Local Plan Part 2.
16. Prior to commencement of any above ground works hereby approved,
and notwithstanding the submitted details, a hard and soft landscaping
scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of materials to be
used for hard surfaces and native tree and shrub planting, to compliment
local priority habitat and to provide for a net gain in biodiversity.
Hard surfaces shall be implemented in accordance with the
agreed
details. Planting of trees and shrubs shall also be implemented in
accordance with the approved details, during the first available planting
season following completion of the development.
Trees
dying
or
becoming diseased, removed or being seriously damaged within five
years of planting shall be replaced by trees and shrubs of similar
size and species to those originally required to be planted during the
first available planting season after the loss of the trees and/or shrubs.
REASON: To ensure an appropriate appearance to the site and in the
interests of amenity and ecology, in accordance with Policy 9 and 11 of
the adopted Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council Local Plan
Part 2.
17. Prior to commencement of any on site works hereby approved, a
Construction and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved Plan shall be adhered to throughout the site clearance and
construction period. The Plan shall provide for:
i) A risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities;
ii) identification of ‘biodiversity protection zones’;
iii) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working
practices) to avoid or reduce biodiversity impacts during construction;
iv) use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs;
v) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
vi) loading and unloading of plant and materials;
vii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the
development;
viii) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including
decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where
appropriate;
ix) wheel washing facilities, including a method statement outlining
how the developer intends to use and manage the facility. The approved
wheel wash shall be put in place at all vehicle access points onto the
public highway when work commences and shall remain in operation
throughout the period of development;

Page 31

x) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during
construction; and
xi) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition
and construction works.
REASON: In order to avoid the possibility of the public highway
being affected by the deposit of mud/or loose materials, in order to protect
the amenity of the occupiers of the adjacent properties, and
in order to protect the visual amenities of the locality, in accordance
with Policies 8 and 10 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Local Plan Part 2.
18. Visibility splays shall not at any time be obstructed by any building,
wall, fence, hedge, tree, shrub or other device exceeding a height not
greater than 1 metre above the crown level of the adjacent highway.
REASON: To ensure the safe, efficient and convenient movement of all
highway users, for the free flow of traffic, in accordance with Policy 10 of
the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
19. Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a
Method Statement & Risk Assessment shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and Network Rail.
The submitted information shall detail ground levels, earthworks /
excavations, construction methodology, associated risks and any
necessary mitigation. Construction of the development shall be in strict
accordance with the approved details.
REASON: To ensure that the construction and subsequent maintenance
of the proposal can be carried out without adversely affecting the safety,
operational needs or integrity of the railway, in accordance with Policy 8 of
the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
20. Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, details of a
trespass proof fence shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority and Network Rail. The fencing shall be installed
in strict accordance with the approved detail, prior to occupation of the
development and shall be so retained.
REASON: To protect the adjacent railway from unauthorised access, in
accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local
Plan Part 2.
21. Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, details
of scaffolding works within 10m of the railway boundary shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and Network
Rail. The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the
approved details.

Page 32

REASON: In the interests of protecting the railway and its boundary from
over-sailing scaffolding, in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
22. Prior to occupation of the dwelling hereby approved at Plot 1, the
1.8m high ‘screen wall’, indicated on drawing numbered: PL K1012/03
Rev B, shall be erected and thereafter retained.
REASON: In order to safeguard householders of 5 Cranberry Chase from
overlooking, in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Local Plan Part 2.
23. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 and Schedule 2 of the
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)(England)
Order 2015 (as amended), no development of the type specified in
Classes A - G of Part 1 of that Schedule or Class A of Part 2 of that
Schedule shall be carried out unless planning permission has been
granted first.
REASON: To ensure enhanced control over future development of the
properties, in the interests of preserving residential amenity and
safeguarding Network Rail assets, in accordance with Policies 8 and 11 of
the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.

5.0

PLANNING HISTORY

5.1

10/07/1045: Erection of 4 dwellings – Approved.

5.2

10/10/0912: Extension of time to implement 10/07/1047 – Approved.

5.3

10/20/1246: Erection of 3. No bungalows and associated works. Approved.

6.0

CONSULTATIONS

6.1

Public Protection
No response offered.

6.2

BwD Drainage – Lead Local Flood Authority
Lead Local Flood Authority Position We have no objections to the proposals but
require the following conditions:
No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the disposal of foul and
surface water from the site has been submitted to an approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme shall provide for:
i) Separate systems for the disposal of foul and surface water;

Page 33

ii) a detailed drainage strategy to demonstrate that the post-development
discharge rate to any soakaway, watercourse or sewer does not exceed the
pre-development rate of 5 litres per second;
iii) the drainage strategy shall include details of the peak surface water
runoff rate from the development for the 1 in 1 year rainfall event and the 1 in
100 year (+40% climate change allowance) rainfall event and shall
demonstrate that the peak post-development runoff rate does not exceed the
peak pre-development greenfield runoff rate for the same event;
iv) details of any necessary flow attenuation measures, including the use of
SuDS where appropriate;
v) confirmation that drainage of foul and surface water is directed away
from the railway; and
v) a timetable for implementation, including details of any phased delivery.
The development shall be implemented in strict accordance with the approved
details.
REASON: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to
manage the risk of flooding and pollution, in accordance with Policies 8 and 9 of
the adopted Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council Local Plan Part 2.
There is major culverted watercourse crossing the entrance to the site. The
applicant is required to contact the Drainage Section 6 weeks prior to
commencement to apply for any consent to discharge to the watercourse and
also apply for consent to carry out any work within 8 metres of the culvert, under
the Land Drainage Act.
6.3

Ecology – GMEU
The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal found the site to have some limited ecological
value.
Nesting birds
The site supports vegetation that could be used by nesting birds, including trees and
scrub. As all wild birds, their nest and eggs are protected under the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) no clearance should take place during the main
bird breeding season. We would therefore recommend that the following condition
be attached to any permission, should it be granted:
No removal of or works to any hedgerows, trees, or other vegetation may be used by
breeding birds shall take place during the main bird breeding season 1st March and
31st August inclusive, unless a competent ecologist has undertaken a careful, detailed
check of vegetation for active birds' nests immediately before the vegetation is cleared
and provided written confirmation that no birds will be harmed and/or that there are
appropriate measures in place to protect nesting bird interest on site. Any such written
confirmation should be submitted to the local planning authority.

Page 34

Alternatively these measures could be included within a Construction Environmental
Management Plan for biodiversity (see below).
Invasive Species
The Appraisal found the site to support the invasive species Japanese knotweed and
Himalayan balsam. We would therefore advise that the following condition be
attached to any permission:
Prior to the commencement of development (including demolition, ground works,
vegetation clearance), an invasive non-native species protocol shall be submitted to
and approved by the local planning authority, detailing the containment, control and
removal of Japanese Knotweed and Himalayan balsam on site. The measures shall be
carried out strictly in accordance with the approved scheme.
Other Species and Habitats
The report also includes some precautionary measures in relation to protection of the
adjacent watercourse, bats and badgers. We would therefore recommend that these
measures be included within a Construction Environmental Management Plan for
biodiversity and the following condition be attached to any permission:
No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation
clearance) until a construction environmental management plan (CEMP: biodiversity)
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following.
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
b) Identification of "biodiversity protection zones".
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to
avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method
statements).
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site
to oversee works.
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or
similarly competent person.
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Biodiversity Enhancement
We would expect any such scheme to include measures to enhance biodiversity at
the site and to provide a net gain for biodiversity, in line with the requirements of the
National Planning Policy Framework. The Appraisal makes some recommendations for
enhancement measures and we would therefore recommend that the following
condition be attached to any permission, if granted:

Page 35

A scheme for the Biodiversity Enhancement Measures, as set out in section 7 and
appendix 8 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Extended by Brindle & Green dated
December 2020 (ref BG19.271), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to first
occupation of the development (or in accordance with a phasing plan which shall first
be agreed in writing with the local planning authority) and shall be retained
thereafter.
Should you have any queries relating to this advice, please do not hesitate to contact
me again
6.4

BwD Highways
Parking
The parking should be in accordance with adopted parking standards, which sets a
requirement as follows:
 3 spaces for a 4+ bed
All car parking spaces on the drives should measure at 5.5m (in accordance with the
adopted Residential Design Guide). I have reviewed the drawings received and they
do not, please request amendment to the provision.
I note and acknowledge that 1 space is to be provided within a car barn 3m x 6m
integrated within the house, this is acceptable.
Please request further details showing adequate provision of three spaces per
property within curtilage, in accordance with the council’s dimensions
ACCESS & LAYOUT
Access to the site will be taken from Lower Barn Street. As the site falls away from
the highway, we would request that a level plateau twice the radii is provided at 1:20
(5%) at the entrance.
The new road serving the new deployment should be designed to an adoptable
standard with footways on both side and turning head to support safe movements.
This should also indicate where street lighting and services will be accommodated.
Details of the gradients of the road should also be provided.
No details of sightlines have been offered, please request further details, together
with boundary treatments.
I would also highlight that this should also involve full renewal of footways fronting
the site, and any highways affected by the development.
OTHER
Standard matters applicable to all housing scheme, please consider:
 No plan accompanying the construction method statement has been received.
This is crucial in order to understand where the operative parking and wheel
wash is to be located and managed.

Page 36







New and renewed footways surrounding the site, all costs to be Bourne entirely
by the developer.
Any structures supporting or retaining the highway would require formal
approval, please condition
street furniture affected by development should be removed and relocated
where necessary at location to be agreed by highways officer - all costs to be
borne by the developer
any old entrances that are no longer required shut be permanently closed off and
reinstated back to full footway
Please note: Prior to the commencement of any works that affect or adjoin the
adopted highway – contact is to be made with the local highway authority officer
Simon Littler on Mob: 07766 5780

In principle, we would offer no objections subject to the above issues being addressed
satisfactorily.
6.5

BwD Cleansing
No response offered.

6.6

Network Rail
No response offered.

6.7

Public consultation
22 letters were posted to the local community on 22 nd September 2021, 4th
November 2021, 4th February 2022 and 16th March 2022. Site notices were
also displayed. In response, 8 comments were received; see Summary of
Representations.

7.0

CONTACT OFFICER: Nick Blackledge – [Principle Planner].

8.0

DATE PREPARED: 5th July 2022.

Page 37

9.0 SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS
Objection – Mr & Mrs W Slater, 19 Lower Barn Street, Darwen. Received: 04/10/2021.
With regard to planning application 10/21/0953
Plot 5 the most eastern development will encroach on the privacy of 19 Lower Barn Street.
If you look at the deeds of the land and previous application you can clearly see a no build
line which plot 5 has gone past.
Please can you confirm when this changed ?
Number 19 has a 70 foot fence running along the boundary of number 19 and plot 5, how
will we access this for maintenance and is this fence being used as the boundary ? if so who
will maintain it ?
Lower Barn street and Cranberry chase are all bungalows, 5 x 3 storey houses are not in
keeping with the surrounding area, the residents of the new houses will be able to see into
conservatory's and gardens of all bungalows on both streets with being so high up.
The previous application was for dormer bungalows which sat lower than a 3 storey house
which was more acceptable and was in keeping with the surrounding bungalows.
On the other side of the railway track a development of 300 plus houses is ongoing, these
are all 3, 4, and 5 bedroom semi and detached houses. Bungalows on this development
would be more in keeping with this area as there is no need for houses that big with the
development which clearly can be seen on the other side of the railway track.

Objection – Christine Slater, 19 Lowser Barn Street, Darwen. Received: 08/11/2021.
With regards to planning application number 10/21/0953 Appendix 9 page 49 still shows the
previous proposed plans of 3 Bungalows which does not impact on the surrounding Bungalows. Can
this appendix be updated to show the current proposed plans ?.
The statement that states Plot 5 is significantly lower than number 19 is not true, the land at the
back of number 19 is almost on a level the building of a three storey house will impact on the privacy
of both number 19 and number 17, both these dwellings have open views which will be lost.
I am in the process of seeking legal advice as there is a no build line which Plot 5 clearly crosses. The
two previous planning applications did not cross the no build line.
I ask that the committee take into consideration that 5 three storey houses that are surrounded by
bungalows will have a huge impact on v With regards to planning application number 10/21/0953
Appendix 9 page 49 still shows the previous proposed plans of 3 Bungalows which does not impact
on the surrounding Bungalows. Can this appendix be updated to show the current proposed plans ?.

The statement that states Plot 5 is significantly lower than number 19 is not true, the land
at the back of number 19 is almost on a level the building of a three storey house will impact
on the privacy of both number 19 and number 17, both these dwellings have open views
which will be lost.

Page 38

I am in the process of seeking legal advice as there is a no build line which Plot 5 clearly
crosses. The two previous planning applications did not cross the no build line.
I ask that the committee take into consideration that 5 three storey houses that are
surrounded by bungalows will have a huge impact on views and privacy by all the
surrounding bungalows, views will be lost and from the top floors they will have direct eye
view into rooms and bedrooms.
iews and privacy by all the surrounding bungalows, views will be lost and from the top floors they
will have direct eye view into rooms and bedrooms.

Further Objection – Christine Slater, 19 Lower Barn Street, Darwen. Received:
08/02/2022.
I have reviewed the amendments for planning application 10/21/0953, with regards to this I
still have concerns. These plans will have an unacceptable impact on the privacy of both No
19 and No 17 Lower Barn Street,
There are no plans showing the height of plot 4 or 5 or dimensions showing the distance
form No 17 and No 19 Lower Barn Street.
The two dormer bedrooms on the new plans of plot 4 and 5 will have a direct view into No
17 and No 19 bedroom windows, there has to be a minimum of 21 meters between the two
this is generally considered adequate, there is not anywhere near 21 meters.
As it stands the plans would cause unacceptable over looking into both conservatories
which are used as living rooms.
There is a no build line on the land behind No 19 again this is being ignored.
The overall impact of all the plots effects the privacy of all neighbouring bungalows
including Cranberry Close. Please take into consideration these issues when considering
your decision.
Further Objection – Christine Slater, 19 Lower Barn Street, Darwen. Received:
04/04/2022.
I would like to use this email as a letter of objection for the planning application
10/21/0953,
Drawing number PLK1012/016 shows existing and proposed site section, if from number 19
LBS to the building across the road is 20 meters how can the proposed plot 5 be 13.5 meters
away when the end of my rear wall to my fence is 4 meters ?
Can you please ensure that there has been 3 measurements of 13,5 metres taken form both
ends of my rear wall and one from the middle to the front of plot 5 to give a true reflection
of how close plot 5 is to number 19 LBS

Page 39

Has the measurements been taken from Plot 5 porch or the front wall as this will be
different.
Once you have two cars at Plot 5 how are they going to turn round and access for delivery
vans etc
As you can see this development is literally squeezing 5 houses into a plan which has been
previously granted for 3 which doe not overlook any houses on LBS.
Plot 5 is an imposing building also using our boundary, the street lights or security lights will
be shinning straight into our bedrooms.
Although 13.5 meters is the minimum standard as a separation distance surly with this
application being so close to the rear of our house this should be pushed back by at least
another meter to allow privacy and noise reduction.
Please can you clarify what is happening with the Japanese Knotweed, this has not been
treated and you can not just build on the land unless this has been eradicated.
This planning application is being driven by making as much money as the developer can,
but why should existing home owners suffer for this, with loss of privacy, noise and our
houses being devalued. Plot 2, 3 and 4 have very little garden space especially when you
compare this to the application that is already in place for 3 bungalows. There are over
1000, new houses being built at this moment in time in Darwen all within a 1 / 2 mile
distance from LBS so why force 5 houses into such a little space.
Further Objection – 19 Lower Barn Street, Darwen. Received: 28/04/2022.

Page 40

Page 41

Page 42

Objection – Mrs P Moyes, 25 Lower Barn Street, Darwen. Received: 14/02/2022.

Page 43

Objection – David Halliwell – Landlord/Owner of 5 Cranberry Chase, Darwen.
Received: 11/04/2022.
From: Landlord / Owner of 5, Cranberry Chase BB3 2HN
After reviewing the amended application I have the following comments:
1. The new "bungalow" style whilst more in keeping with the surrounding area
are still substantial dwellings, especially with 5 plots on the site. - this is more
than any of the previous planning applications made for the site in recent
years.
2. The elevated nature of the site with respect to No. 5 means that the new
design comprising a rear balcony at ground floor level, still overlooks the
garden of No. 5 leading to potential noise and loss of privacy concerns.
3. Changes from the previous "townhouse" style are welcome with the plans
talking about a screen wall. I trust the placement of Plot 1 to the boundary of
No. 5 and the screening solutions suggested by the developer are of an
adequate standard so as to not have a significant impact on the privacy and
enjoyment of the amenity space of No. 5 Cranberry Chase. This is my biggest
concern, as I don't want to see my property devalued.

Page 44

Agenda Item 4.2
REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/21/1425

Proposed development: Retrospective application for new ground floor level,
ladies hall and basement level storage area
Site address: Madina Mosque, Oak Street, Blackburn, BB1 6NT
Applicant: Committee Secretary
Wards: Bastwell & Daisyfield

55

57

52

38
25

47a

T
EE
TR
RS
DA
CE

Councillor Parwaiz Akhtar
Councillor Iftakhar Hussain
Councillor Shaukat Husaain
59

38
37

145.4m

2

47

36

T
EE
TR
DS
OO
GW
LO

54

140

6

58

57

10
1

LB

67

2

73

3

69
71

3

8

2

71

81
70

1

RT
OU
RC
DA
CE

1

AD
RO

RT
OU
DC
OO
HW
EC
BE

LL
WE
ST
BA

26

5

72

7

5

9

6

69

14

151.2m

80

e
rrac
s Te
land
Oak

18

10

63

Play Area

1

91
PW

9

10

20

E
LOS

C
PSE

2

CO

CO
UR
T
NA
AR
IAN

23

24

16

EET
TR
KS
OA

19

17

28

18

15

9

7

2

1

9

RN
HO
CKT
BLA

1

ES
CH
AR
EL
TH

7

11

SE
CLO

1

16

12

2
4

4
2

7
Play ground

2

10

6

G
AR
DE
N
S
CH
ES
TN
U
T

9

2

18

14

139.9m

CE
DA
RS
TR
EE
T

14

ST
R
EE
T

1

Page 45

22

101

3

1

TR
O
Y

SE
CLO

1

DLE
SPIN

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

The proposed development is recommended to be granted planning
permission, subject to the conditions and informative note detailed in Section
5.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1

This application is presented to the Planning and Highways Committee, in
accordance with the Council's scheme of delegation, and given that a
significant number of public objections have been received. The objections
raised principally concern a lack of parking provision within the site and the
potential for adverse highways implications to arise. Concerns regarding
existing development within the site, the potential for adverse impacts on
neighbours to occur, and surface water drainage issues have also been cited
within the comments received. A summary of the public comments made is
detailed below in Section 7.

2.2

The proposed development has been publicised through letters to residents of
the nearest 23 adjacent properties, on 07th January 2022. A site notice was
displayed outside of the site, on 19th January 2022. In addition, neighbours were
renotified by letter given the receipt of amended plans, on 25th April 2022.

2.3

The Council’s development plan supports new community development and
associated works, provided they constitute sustainable development and
accord with the development plan when taken as a whole.

2.4

The proposals would deliver a two-storey extension for the Madina Mosque.
The submitted plans indicate that storage would be provided on the basement
level with a ladies hall above. Construction of the development was well
underway at the time of the initial site visit and the proposals are therefore partly
retrospective.

2.5

On balance, the proposals would be satisfactory from a technical point of view,
with all issues having been addressed during the course of the application
process, or capable of being controlled or mitigated through appropriately
worded planning conditions.

2.6

The key issues to be assessed in determining this application are as follows;







Establishing the principle of development
Ensuring the design, layout and appearance of the proposals are acceptable
Safeguarded the residential amenities of the immediate neighbours
Ensuring adverse impacts on the local highway network are avoided
Finalising the surface water drainage systems to be installed
Assessing the potential for ground instabilities from coal mine workings

2

Page 46

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The application site is a religious building and associated land located within
the settlement of Blackburn. Construction of the mosque was initially approved
in 1997 and the site has been subject to a number of enlargements and
alterations over the years, which are detailed below in Section 6. Vehicle
access is gained from Oak Street, which is a predominantly residential road.
Pedestrian access is be gained from number of points. Dwellings surround to
all sides that interface the mosque at a variation of distances and angles.
Figure One – Satellite image of the site

3.1.2 The site comprises of a large two-storey building, associated car park and soft
landscaped areas lining the east boundary. The building has an ornate
construction with natural stone elevations, a grey composited panelled roof and
grey uPVC doors and windows of varying shapes and styles.
Figure Two – Location Plan showing the general extent of the site

3

Page 47

3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 As detailed above, this application seeks part-retrospective consent to retain
and finish a two-storey extension built to the northeast elevation. The submitted
plans show that the proposed extension would be used for storage on the
basement level with a ladies hall provided above.
Figure Three – Proposed Floorplans (as amended)

3.2.2 The extension provides additional floorspace of around 135 square meters over
both levels and has a flat-roofed design up to 6.8m in height. Natural stone has
been used to construct the elevations with grey composited panels used for the
roof. Any doors and windows to be installed would have grey frames and a
metal external staircase is also proposed to the north elevation.
Figure Four – Proposed Elevation Plans (as amended)

4

Page 48

3.3

Case Officer Site Photos

3.4

Development Plan

3.4.1 Core Strategy Part 1 (2011):


Policy CS11: Services and Facilities

3.4.2 Local Plan Part 2 (2015):







Policy 1: The Urban Boundary
Policy 7: Sustainable and Viable Development
Policy 8: Development and People
Policy 9: Development and the Environment
Policy 10: Accessibility and Transport
Policy 11: Design

3.4.3 Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2012)
3.4.4 Blackburn with Darwen Parking Standards (2014)


1 car space per 10 sqm of floor area. Minimum 1 coach space for sites of
2500 sqm of floor area

4.0

ASSESSMENT

4.1

Principle of Development

4.1.1 As detailed above, the site is located within the defined urban boundary, which
is identified as the preferred location for all new development. Moreover, Policy
CS11 supports the expansion of public facilities (including religious buildings)
as part of existing key buildings. The principle of development is therefore
established, in accordance with Policies CS11 and 1.
5

Page 49

4.1.2 In accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development
detailed in the Framework, and Policy 7, development proposals should
proceed without delay, unless impacts which significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits of the proposal are identified; subject to assessment of
the following matters;
4.2

Design and Visual Amenity

4.2.1 The site is a standalone aspect within the streetscene architecturally and
appears prominent in its immediate setting. Policy 11 requires all development
proposals to represent a good standard of design through demonstrating an
understanding of the site’s wider context and making a positive contribution to
visual amenity. Concerns have been raised in public comments regarding the
scale of the extension.
4.2.2 The bulky appearance of the extension was noted on site, as was the blank and
featureless elevation that runs along the site’s southeast boundary. That said,
when large scale nature of the existing building is considered alongside the use
of natural stone throughout, the scale and overall appearance of the extension
built does not warrant any significant design concerns.
4.2.3 The window styles applied and use of parapet roof details ensures the
extension visually integrates with the existing building to an acceptable extent.
Moreover, the remainder of the external construction materials to be used
would match those of the existing building. A condition is recommended to
ensure the development proceeds in accordance with the external construction
materials details provided. Subject to compliance with that condition, the
proposed development would be acceptable with reference to design and visual
amenity, in accordance with Policy 11.
4.3

Residential Amenity

4.3.1 As detailed above, dwellings surround to all sides and safeguarding the
amenities of those neighbours is an important planning consideration. Policy 8
states that all development proposals should secure a satisfactory level of
amenity for surrounding occupants in relation to noise, light, privacy,
overlooking, nuisances, and the general relationship between buildings.
Concerns have been raised in public comments given the scale of the proposed
extension.
4.3.2 In relation to noise, BwD Public Protection have reviewed the merits of the
proposals and no objections have been raised. A number of conditions are
already in place for the whole site that were imposed when the mosque was
approved in 1997. They include restricting the times in which calls to prayer can
be operated alongside noise emissions more generally when measured from
adjacent residential properties. Those conditions ultimately apply to the entire
site alongside any extensions to the original mosque building. It would
ultimately be unnecessary to duplicate those requirements with further
conditions as the original conditional requirements run in perpetuity with the
site’s operations.
6

Page 50

4.3.3 In relation to privacy, windows have been installed to three elevations. Those
installed to the southwest elevation face towards the original mosque building.
Those installed to the north elevation are marginally under the 21m advised
within the Residential Design Guide SPD in relation to 5 Beechwood Court.
That said, the orientation of those windows in relation to the front windows at
number 5 negate any harmful privacy impacts being caused for those
neighbours. Those installed in the northwest elevation would face a blank gable
at 6 Beechwood Court. Moreover, in excess of 15m of separation has been
maintained between those windows and the boundary of number 6, which is
adequate to safeguard the privacy of those neighbours.
4.3.4 In relation to the massing of the extension, the property most effected is 28
Naarian Court. At its closest point, circa 12.5m of separation has been
maintained between the extension’s southeast elevation and windows in the
rear elevation of number 28. For clarity, there are no windows in the gable of
number 28. Although it is acknowledged that the massing of the extension
causes a certain level overshadowing for the neighbours at number 28, given
that the extension has been built at an indirect angle, on balance, its scale does
not warrant a reason for refusal on the grounds of losses of light.
4.3.5 When those factors are considered collectively, once complete the proposed
development would not be materially harmful to the amenities of the immediate
residential neighbours, in compliance with the relevant requirements of Policy
8.
4.4

Highways and Parking

4.4.1 The site is a well-used religious building and parking on the surrounding
residential streets is relatively constrained. Existing on-street parking issues
around the site are at their most acute at certain times of the week. Policy 10
requires all development proposals to not prejudice road safety or the safe,
efficient and convenient movement of all highways users. Parking should also
be provided in accordance with the BwD Parking Standards, where achievable.
Concerns have been raised in public comments on various highways and
parking grounds.
4.4.2 The plans indicate that the site would have around 27 off-street parking spaces
once the development has been completed. The combined floorspace of the
existing building and proposed extension is approaching 2000 square meters
and it is clear that parking provision within the site falls significantly foul of the
amounts required by the BwD Parking Standards, at 1 space per 10 square
meters of floorspace. Parking shortfalls are arguably the weakest aspect of the
proposals from a planning policy perspective and concerns have been raised
by BwD Highways during the course of the application in that respect.
4.4.3 In support of the application, a Supplementary Highways Report has been
submitted. The report rightly identifies that no further off-street parking provision
can be accommodated within the site. Conclusions are drawn regarding the fact
that the proposed ladies hall would not directly increase capacity within the site
7

Page 51

as the new hall would be used by existing worshipers, many of which are
reported to walk to services. Whist those conclusions are partly questionable,
having reviewed the submitted report BwD Highways have suggested the
implementation of a Green Travel Plan would partly alleviate parking shortfalls.
4.4.4 The plan should identify further measures that can be accommodated within
the site to discourage independent car use. Measures such as cycle storage
and the promotion of a lift share system could all potential be used as part of
that plan. Further measures to marshal traffic during busy events should also
be included within the plan. A condition is therefore recommend to control those
details. In addition, a further condition is recommended in order to ensure the
basement level of the extension is used for storage purposes alone, as per the
submitted floor plans. Such a condition is necessary in order to limit additional
associated parking requirements.
4.4.5 In summary, this application has been recommended for approval in relatively
marginal terms and it should be noted at this stage that any further increases
in the capacity of the site are unlikely to receive the Council’s support. Subject
to compliance with the recommended conditions, and on balance, the proposed
development would be acceptable with reference to highways and parking, in
compliance with Policy 10.
4.5

Flooding and Drainage

4.5.1 The site is positioned on sloping land with a number of dwellings located
downslope. Policy 9 concerns general obligations in relation to limiting the
potential for surface water flooding issues to occur from development.
Development that has the potential to create significant amounts of new surface
water run-off should incorporate measures to manage surface waters.
Concerns have been raised in public comments given ongoing surface water
flooding locally and it has been suggested that the proposals have increased
the amount of surface waters originating from the site.
4.5.2 The proposed extension has resulted in the removal of the existing drainage
networks within areas of the carpark. It is unclear from the information provided
what measures will be put in place in order to prevent surface water flooding
arising from the development. The potential issues associated with those
discrepancies are compounded with this particular site given that development
works have taken place at its lowest point.
4.5.3 A condition is therefore recommended in order to agree the scope of a Surface
Water Drainage Strategy. Subject to compliance with that condition, the
proposed development would be acceptable with reference to surface water
drainage, in compliance with Policy 9.
4.6

Coal Mining

4.6.1 The site is partly located within a High Risk Area for former coal mine workings.
Further requirements within Policy 8 state that in the case of potentially unstable
land, an appropriate land remediation scheme must be secured. The Coal
8

Page 52

Authority have reviewed the merits of the application. No objections have been
raised under the proviso that an informative note is added to any approvals
issues regarding the potential need for remediation measures as part of any
subsequent Building Regulations applications. Subject to those requirements
being met, the proposed development would be acceptable with reference to
coal mining, in accordance with the relevant requirements of Policy 8.
4.7

Summary

4.7.1 This application seeks part-retrospective consent to retain and finish a twostorey extension to a religious building to be used for storage and as a ladies
hall. Subject to appropriate conditions, the proposed development would be
acceptable on all the relevant planning grounds, in accordance with the policies
and guidance notes detailed in Section 3.4.
4.7.2 Section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. Subject to appropriate conditions,
the proposal would be acceptable in principle and with reference to design and
visual amenity, residential amenity, highways and parking, surface water
drainage and coal mining.
4.7.3 The development therefore complies with the development plan. There is a
positive presumption in favour of approving the development and there are no
material reasons to object to the application.
5.0

RECOMMENDATION:
Delegated authority is given to the Strategic Director of Place to approve
planning permission, subject to the following conditions and informative
note;

5.1

Unless explicitly required by condition within this consent, the development
hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the
proposals as detailed on drawings: Location Plan (1:1250), 3550 – 01 –
Revision A, 3550 – 02 – Revision A, 3550 – 03 and 3550 – 04.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify which plans are relevant to
the consent.

5.2

The external materials to be used for the construction of the development
hereby approved shall be as stated on the submitted application form and
approved drawings and those materials shall not be varied without the prior
written consent of the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: Those materials are acceptable for this development and site, in the
interests of visual amenity, and to comply with the requirements of Policy 11 of
the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations
and Development Management Policies (Adopted 2015).

9

Page 53

5.3

No further development shall take place on site unless and until, a Green Travel
Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The plan shall include details of how sustainable modes of transport
will be encouraged together with details regarding the use of a traffic
marshalling system, where relevant. The development hereby approved shall
not be brought into use until the agreed measures have been implemented in
their entirety and any measures agreed shall thereafter be operated in
perpetuity with the development.
REASON: In order to promote modes of transport that do not require vehicle
parking provision, to manage traffic in the interests of highway safety, and to
comply with the requirements of Policy 10 of the Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development
Management Policies (Adopted 2015).

5.4

The basement level of the development hereby approved shall be used solely
for storage purposes alone, in accordance with the approved plan ‘3550 – 02 –
Revision A’.
REASON: In order to limit additional parking requirements associated with the
development, in the interests of highway safety, and to comply with the
requirements of Policy 10 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council Local
Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (Adopted
2015).

5.5

No further development shall take place on site unless and until, a Surface
Water Drainage Strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The development hereby approved shall not be
brought into use until the agreed strategy has been implemented in its entirety
and any measures installed shall thereafter remain in perpetuity with the
development.
REASON: In order to minimise the potential for surface water flooding to occur,
in the interests of securing sustainable development, and to comply with the
requirements of Policy 9 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council Local
Plan Part 2, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (Adopted
2015).
Case Specific Informative Note

5.6

The proposed development lies within an area that has been defined by the
Coal Authority as containing potential hazards arising from former coal mining
activity at the surface or shallow depth. These hazards can include: mine
entries (shafts and adits); shallow coal workings; geological features (fissures
and break lines); mine gas and former surface mining sites. Although such
hazards are seldom readily visible, they can often be present and problems can
occur in the future, particularly as a result of new development taking place.
It is recommended that information outlining how former mining activities may
affect the proposed development, along with any mitigation measures required
10

Page 54

(for example the need for gas protection measures within the foundations), is
submitted alongside any subsequent application for Building Regulations
approval (if relevant).
Any intrusive activities which disturb or enter any coal seams, coal mine
workings or coal mine entries (shafts and adits) requires a Coal Authority
Permit. Such activities could include site investigation boreholes, excavations
for foundations, piling activities, other ground works and any subsequent
treatment of coal mine workings and coal mine entries for ground stability
purposes. Failure to obtain a Coal Authority Permit for such activities is
trespass, with the potential for court action. If any coal mining features are
unexpectedly encountered during development, this should be reported
immediately to the Coal Authority.

6.0

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

6.1

10/18/0251 – Proposed single storey ladies hall extension building – Approved,
with conditions – May 2018.

6.2

10/17/0982 – Proposed two storey main front entrance extension – Approved,
with conditions – December 2017.

6.3

10/10/0312 – Proposed double storey extension to existing mosque, car
parking and replacing of external blockwork skin to natural stone outer leaf –
Approved, with conditions – June 2010.

6.4

10/07/0759 – Proposed extension to existing mosque with additional parking –
Approved, with conditions – September 2007.

6.5

10.97/0762 – Proposed Mosque – Approved, with conditions – January 1998.

7.0

CONSULTATIONS

7.1

BwD Highways – In summary, we would not support the application as no
additional off-street vehicle parking is proposed in support of the development.
(Parking) No parking in support of the proposal has been received. The existing
car park does not serve the needs of the Mosque. No additional car parking
spaces are offered, for the additional 13 car parking spaces that the 133sqm of
D1 Public Halls of Worship would be needed to comply with the Council’s
Policy. On street parking along Oak Street and the surrounding roads cannot
accommodate the existing needs of the Mosque.
(Access/Layout) The existing access to the car park is not affected by the
development. An increase in on street parking along Oak Street would however,
be detrimental to other highway users.
(Update in relation to submitted Highways Report) (Site History) In relation to
application 10/18/0251, the Applicant states that in the previous planning
11

Page 55

application for a similar scheme which was approved with no conditions
attached to the provision of car parking, notwithstanding the concerns regarding
the provision of parking.
Whilst the previous application approved the provision of dedicated and
separate ladies facilities to enable ladies to attend the building in order to
undertake funeral rituals, the provision of an under stairs area to provide a
storage area for coffins did not form part of that application – hence the
submission of this retrospective planning application 10/21/1425 which includes
for the basement storage area.
The difference between the two planning applications is that the provision of
the basement storage area results in an increase in floor area of approximately
133 sqm. In accordance with the Council’s Parking Standards for the
Classification D1 Public Halls of Worship to provide 1 car parking space per 10
sqm provision should be made for 13 additional car parking spaces. Highways
have not sought to rectify the lack of parking provision in planning consent
10/18/0251 but merely highlighted the lack of parking provision for this current
application.
(Parking Survey) The report highlights that a parking survey was undertaken
on Friday 29th April 2022, acknowledging that at certain times of the week when
the Mosque is used this does result in significant intermittent on street parking,
notwithstanding that many of the worshippers drawn from the surrounding area
actually walk to the Mosque. It stressed that predominantly large groups of
women were observed walking to the Mosque, causing no parking issues.
It should be noted that whilst this is true, many of the cars are parked along
Oak Street are actually parked are obstructing the footways given that the road
is narrow. Many of the local residents rely on on-street parking along Oak Street
and that where possible proposals should not exasperate the situation.
(Road Safety) The report also seeks to allay concerns regarding the detrimental
impact of on-street parking on road safety, highlighting the road safety record
in the vicinity of the Mosque, particularly for pedestrians.
The report includes Crashmap road traffic accident records of accidents that
have been recorded along Oak St., the majority of recent accidents occurred to
the North of the Mosque, causing slight injury to pedestrians crossing the road.
The report also stresses that the traffic calming measures on Oak Street which
take the form of build outs in the carriageway, regulate traffic flows and speeds
along Oak Street. These build outs also provide informal crossing points to
safely cross the road.
The fact that there have been no road traffic accidents in the vicinity of the
Mosque does not reduce the likelihood of an accident, particularly one involving
pedestrians would not occur in the future. The report does not identify any
mitigation measures that could be considered in order to improve road safety
for pedestrians and road users alike. It would be reasonable to expect the
applicant to assess and mitigate these risks and hazards.
12

Page 56

(Conclusions and Recommendations) The report acknowledges that no
additional car parking can be provided within the site and respectfully requests
that the Council to reconsider its objections to the development on the grounds
of highway safety.
The report concludes that the provision of the Ladies Hall does not result in a
significant increase in ladies attending the site noting that large groups of ladies
predominantly walk together to the Mosque and that those who travel in by car
would be expected to car share, thereby alleviating demand for on-street
parking.
The concerns for highway safety which resulted in the planning application not
being supported remain. These should be addressed by the Applicant through
the provision of a Green Travel Plan, similar to those prepared and operated by
schools and other public venues in similar circumstances.
The Plan should identify measures to encourage walking by the men as well
the women to the Mosque to minimise the impact on on-street parking, to
maximise usage of the off-street parking used by the disabled, elderly or infirm.
This would include identifying improvements that would make it safer for walker
as well as the provision of a secure bicycle storage area for cyclists. The
management and marshalling of large events such as funerals should also be
included in the Green Travel Plan.
7.2

BwD Public Protection – There is uncertainty regarding the room uses and the
potential for changes to occur in the future, which may not require formal
planning consent. I also note that we have received complaints about amplified
call to prayer broadcasts from the mosque – most recently during 2020. So, I
would recommend that the no amplified call to prayer condition is applied to any
approvals issued. Informative notes should also be added regarding sound
insulation and the need to safeguard residential amenity.

7.3

BwD Drainage – No objections.

7.4

BwD Cleansing – No objections.

7.5

The Coal Authority – The proposed development lies within an area that has
been defined by the Coal Authority as containing potential hazards arising from
former coal mining activity at the surface or shallow depth. These hazards can
include: mine entries (shafts and adits); shallow coal workings; geological
features (fissures and break lines); mine gas and former surface mining sites.
Although such hazards are seldom readily visible, they can often be present
and problems can occur in the future, particularly as a result of new
development taking place.

7.6

It is recommended that information outlining how former mining activities may
affect the proposed development, along with any mitigation measures required
(for example the need for gas protection measures within the foundations), is
13

Page 57

submitted alongside any subsequent application for Building Regulations
approval, where relevant.
7.7

Ward Cllrs

7.8

Summary of Public Responses










Numerous extensions have already been applied to the building
The proposed extension is already in use
Residential properties surround to all sides
The building appears overbearing to neighbours
Vehicle parking is at a premium locally
No additional parking is proposed to support the development
The development may further constrain vehicle parking locally
No transport surveys have been submitted in support of the application
Surface water flooding is caused by the development

8.0

CONTACT OFFICER: Christian Barton – Planning Officer

9.0

DATE PREPARED: 07th July 2022

14

Page 58

10.0

SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS

Objection – Mr Patel, Resident of Copse Close, Blackburn. Received: 17/01/2022.
I write in connection with Planning Application - 10/21/1425 for the property known as Madina
Mosque, Oak Street, Blackburn, BB1 6NT.
As a resident of Copse Close, firstly I would like to express my disappointment at not being notified
as part of the formal
consultation process. Whilst I and my fellow neighbours may not directly be affected by the
retrospective application from as visual impact, we bear the brunt of the intensified day to day
operations at Madina Mosque. To this end, we think you should reconsider the catchment area that
you have consulted with to date.
As you are aware, the mosque has been extended several times over the past 10 years. During this
time the area has become more akin to a high street than a quite suburban residential area. Living
directly opposite Madina Mosque, we are now almost daily experiencing disruption with unbearable
traffic and inconsiderate parking. There are many times throughout the day that driving to and from
my property is disrupted due to increased traffic congestion, and on several occasions my drive
either being blocked, my lawn being damaged or visitors of the mosque parking on my drive!
The new proposals do not include any additional parking or traffic impact consideration. I would
strongly request the application includes a detailed traffic impact assessment and a Travel Plan
which includes detailed mitigation measures that are enforced upon the applicant during all
operational hours that avoid ongoing and increasing disruption facing the neighbouring residents.

Further Objection – Mr Patel, Copse Close, Blackburn. Received: 20/04/2022.
I would appreciate an update. The building is now in full operation and is causing server disruption
to residents by car and on foot on almost a daily basis. This afternoon between 1pm and 3pm Oak St
was not passable without significant delay and the foot paths fine if walking single file. This is not
safe when walking with children from school or trying to use a pram.

15

Page 59

Objection – Resident, 69 Oak Street, Blackburn. Received: 06/05/2022.

16

Page 60

Agenda Item 4.3
REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/22/0034

Proposed development: Full Planning Application (Regulation 4): Demolition
of existing bowling green hut and dilapidated children’s playground; and
erection of 2no industrial buildings (Use Class B8 or Eg) with associated
landscaping and access from Didsbury Street.
Site address:
Burnley Road Bowling Pavilion
Burnley Road
Blackburn
BB1 3HN
Applicant: Mr Roker
Ward: Audley & Queens Park
Councillor Salim Sidat
Councillor Ehsan Raja
Councillor Altaf Patel
SE
U
O
H

FO
GA
RT
Y

LE
O
H
3
15

CA
RL

ET
RE
ST

4
14

18

W
AY

136.6m

SM

9
13

4
13

Sh e lte r

f
De
5
13

132.6m
5
12

4
12
3
11

1
10

E
RS
GO

rd
Wa

y
Bd

50

132.6m

D
OA
YR
LE
RN
BU

43

ET
RE
ST

91

82

Bowling G reen

Gas Gov

11

Durbar Mill

45
47

ST
RE
ET

El

ST
RE
ET

73
75

1

DI
DS
BU
RY

DI
DS
BU
RY

Su b Sta

135.3m

19
25

21

17
23

27

St
Te
re
Ch sa's
urc
h

3
1

43

Britannia Mill

Page 61

BE
NT
LE
Y

ST
RE
ET

13
15

29
31
Vic a r a g e

Presbytery

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – Subject to a Section 106 Agreement for a commuted sum
payment of £45,000, relating to A6119 / Carl Fogarty Way Roundabout
improvement works; and conditions.
Full details are set out at
paragraph 4.1.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1

The proposal is in the form of a major (in excess of 1000sqm floor space) full
planning application. It is reported to Committee on account of the application
site (the site) being Council owned, in accordance with the requirements of
Regulation 4 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992,
and the Council’s adopted Scheme of Delegation. Support of the application
would progress the sale of the site to the applicant.

2.2

Detailed assessment of the application finds that the proposed development
corresponds with the Council’s overarching employment growth strategy, as
set out in the Core Strategy and Local Plan Part 2. Delivery of a high quality
employment led development will be secured, focussed on disused land to the
south east of Burnley Road, Blackburn. Moreover, from a technical point of
view, all issues have been addressed through the application or are capable
of being controlled or mitigated through planning conditions and a Section 106
Agreement.

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The site measures 5620 square metres in area. It is Council owned and
consists of a redundant recreational space featuring a Multi-Use Games
Area (MUGA), an equipped playground, a skate ramp and a bowling
green with an associated pavilion / hut. Accordingly, it is considered to be
previously developed land (brownfield).
3.1.2 The site is bounded by Burnley Road to the north west, Hereford Road to the
north east, Didsbury Street to the south east and the place of worship known
as Masjid e Saliheen to the south west.
3.1.3 The area is generally characterised as residential. Alternatives uses do,
however, sit immediately adjacent to the site, in the form of the
aforementioned place of worship to the south west and an industrial mill site
to the south east.
3.1.4 More generally, the site is located to the east of Blackburn’s inner urban area
and within 1.5km of the M65 corridor, to the west.

Page 62

3.1.5 The site is defined by the red edged Location Plan (Campbell Driver
Partnership, 2/12/2021) and the wider context is illustrated by the aerial image
(DTPC TS, June 2022), as follows:

Page 63

3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 Full planning permission is sought for the demolition of a bowling green hut,
removal of playground equipment and erection of 2no. single storey industrial
buildings for uses B8 (storage and distribution) and / or E(g) (Uses which can
be carried out in a residential area without detriment to its amenity), with
associated (hard & soft) landscaping and creation of an access from Didsbury
Street.
3.2.2 Proposed industrial units would host storage and distribution (Use Class B8)
or uses which can be carried out in a residential area without detriment to its
amenity (Use Class Eg), with ancillary office space. Unit 1 would be circa
8.5m high and Unit 2 circa 6m high. Total floor space proposed is 1886
square metres, broken down as follows:




Units 1a, 1b, 1c – each 222sqm, including 22.5sqm of office space in
each;
Units 1d – 400sqm, including 60.2sqm of office space; and
Unit 2 – 820sqm, including 39.9sqm of office space.

3.2.3 Widening of Didsbury Street and creation of an access into the site therefrom
is also proposed. These works will be captured under Section 278 powers of
the Highways Act 1980.
3.2.4 The following proposed site layout illustrates the proposal (Campbell Driver,
8/07/2021).

Page 64

3.2.5 Full details of the application are set out in the submitted drawings and
supported Planning and Design & Access Statements.
3.3

Development Plan

3.3.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
that applications be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
3.3.2 The Development Plan comprises the Core Strategy and adopted Local Plan
Part 2 – Site Allocations and Development Management Policies. In
determining the current proposal, the following are considered to be the most
relevant policies:
3.3.3 Core Strategy







Policy CS1 – A Targeted Growth Strategy
Policy CS13 – Environmental Strategy
Policy CS15 – Ecological Assets
Policy CS16 – Form and Design of New Development
Policy CS22 – Accessibility Strategy
Policy CS23 – Tackling Worklessness

3.3.4 Local Plan Part 2 (LLP2)







3.4

Policy 2 – The Inner Urban Boundary
Policy 7 – Sustainable and Viable Development
Policy 8 – Development and People
Policy 9 – Development and the Environment
Policy 10 – Accessibility and Transport
Policy 11 – Design
Policy 36 – Climate Change

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 BwD Air Quality Planning Advisory Note
3.4.2 National Planning Policy Framework (The Framework) (2019)
The Framework sets out Government planning policies for England and how
these are expected to be applied. Paragraph 11 states that the purpose of
the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable
development and that a presumption in favour of sustainable
development is at the heart of The Framework. For decision taking this
means:
 Approving development proposals that accord with the development
plan without delay; and

Page 65

 Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are
out of date, grant planning permission unless:
o Any adverse impacts of doing so would significant and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in the framework as a whole; or
o Specific policies in the framework indicate development should
be restricted.
A key objective of The Framework is to raise economic performance to help
build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that
sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places and at the right
time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; and by
identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure.
Areas of The Framework especially relevant to the proposal are as follows:
 Section 2: Achieving sustainable development
 Section 6: Building a strong, competitive economy
 Section 9: Promoting sustainable transport
 Section 11: Making effective use of land
 Section 12: Achieving well-designed places
3.4.3 National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG).
3.4.4 Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan 2018 – 2037 (Consultation Draft) (January
2021).
3.5

Assessment
In assessing this full application there are a number of important material
considerations that need to be taken into account, as follows:







Principle of the development
Amenity impact
Environmental impact
Accessibility and transport
Design and layout
Planning Gain / Section 106 contributions: Highway improvement
works.

3.5.1 Principle
3.5.2 The absence of any heritage constraints on the bowling hut ensures
acceptability of its demolition.
3.5.3 Core Strategy Policy CS1 explains that the overall planning strategy for the
Borough is one of ‘Targeted Growth’, with the aim of raising economic
performance, average wage levels and Gross Value Added generation,
including through new development on land supplied for business and higher
value sectors. Policy 1 of the Local Plan Part 2 confirms the preferred option
for new development to be the urban area.

Page 66

3.5.4 Policy 7 on Sustainable and Viable Development echoes the presumption in
favour of sustainable development set out in The Framework. Thus,
applications that accord with policies in the Local Plan will be approved
without delay unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
3.5.5 Policy CS3 confirms that provision will be made for up to 105.5 hectares of
employment land between 2011 and 2026, emphasising the importance of
employment growth across the borough. Although the site is not allocated for
any specific purpose, its re-use for employment would clearly align with the
Council’s strategic economic growth objectives. Although not defined in the
application, as end users have not yet been established, a significant number
of jobs would likely be created by the development.
3.5.6 Although the site is unallocated, in both the current and emerging Local Plan,
it does form an identifiable area of open space which would be lost as a
consequence of the development.
In this context, Policy 9 (Green
Infrastructure) explains the Council’s approach:
Development involving the partial or complete loss of land identified as
Green Infrastructure on the Adopted Policies Map, or any unidentified areas
of open space including playing fields; and any development which
otherwise has the potential to result in the severance of green infrastructure
connections, will not be permitted unless:
i)

The development can be accommodated without the loss of the
function of the open space;

ii)

The impact can be mitigated or compensated for through the
direct provision of new or improved green infrastructure
elsewhere, or through the provision of a financial contribution to
enable this to occur; or

iii)

The need for or benefits arising from the development
demonstrably outweigh the harm caused, and the harm has
been mitigated or compensated for so far as is reasonable.

3.5.7 The site has been identified as a non-strategic site in the Council’s ‘Equipped
Play Assets Strategy 2017 – 2022’. It is, therefore, one of only a few sites
with the potential to be decommissioned. The MUGA, playground and skate
ramp have been subject to regular vandalism and anti-social behaviour,
which presented an ongoing nuisance for residents and local businesses for
some 5 – 6 years. In addition, the bowling green was closed and fenced off
around 15 years ago with no community interest in using it during that
time. The Council has, therefore, acted to resolve the issue, closing the
playground and removing the MUGA, around 3 years ago, notably with no
complaints. Although the Council recognises the importance of protecting its
green and recreational spaces, this should not be at any cost, especially
where such spaces are evidently causing nuisance and adverse
environmental impacts and where the site could be brought forward for a
viable, alternative use.

Page 67

3.5.8 Following the decision to decommission the site, the Council considered
various options, which culminated in an invitation for commercial development
proposals (via the Growth Framework) and selection of the applicant as the
preferred developer.
3.5.9 An analysis of the Council’s employment land, in consultation with local
agents, has revealed a local demand for the type of units that are proposed; a
position re-enforced by submission of this application.
3.5.10 It should be recognised that feasibility of an alternative affordable housing
scheme was explored for the site, but this proved to be unviable, due to site
constraints and evident good supply of affordable homes in the east of
Blackburn.
3.5.11 Accordingly, the proposal is considered consistent with the requirements of iii)
of Policy 9, insofar that it is demonstrated that environmental and economic
benefits would arise, through re-sue of a site that is currently detrimental to
the area, in its redundant and unmanaged state, and through job creation.
Moreover, any harm that would arise, can be appropriately and reasonably
mitigated. These matters are addressed later in this assessment.
3.5.12 The principle of the development is, therefore, found to be acceptable, in
accordance with the provisions of the Development Plan and The Framework.
3.5.13 Amenity
Policy 8 requires development to contribute positively to the overall physical,
social, environmental and economic character of the area. It is also required
to secure a satisfactory level of amenity and safety is secured for surrounding
uses and for occupants or users of the development itself; with reference to
noise, vibration, odour, light, dust, other pollution or nuisance, privacy /
overlooking, and the relationship between buildings.
3.5.14 Noise / Nuisance: A Noise Impact Assessment has been submitted with the
application which considers likely noise impacts arising for residential
uses in proximity to the site; the nearest dwelling being circa 11m to the east,
on Burnley Road. Following review of the assessment, the Council’s Public
Protection consultee offers no objection to the proposal, in recognition that no
significant adverse noise impacts will arise, subject to securing the following
limitations via condition:


Hours of operational use restriction of between 07:00 – 18:00 hours,
Monday to Friday; 08:00 – 18:00hours, Saturday; and 08:00 – 16:00
hours, Sundays and Bank Holidays;



Roller Shutters to be electronically operated; and



Noise not in exceedance of 52dB(A) at the boundary of any residential
premises.

Page 68

3.5.15 Limited demolition / construction hours will be secured via condition, to guard
against excessive nuisance arising for adjacent uses, during this phase of the
development.
3.5.16 Submission of a monitoring programme for noise and vibration arising from
pile driving during construction phase will also be secured via condition,
should pile driven foundations be required.
3.5.17 Air Quality: A high level assessment of anticipated air quality impacts, in
accordance with the Council’s Air Quality PAN, has been undertaken, which
confirms that submission of a detailed Air Quality Impact Assessment (AQIA)
prior to determination of the application, is not necessary. Instead, Public
Protection recommend securing an assessment via condition. This approach
is, however, considered unnecessary, as mitigation of air quality impacts
resulting from assessment of an AQIA post decision would be by means of
providing electric vehicle (EV) charging points, for operational use of the
development, and a Demolition / Construction & Environmental Management
Plan (DCEMP), for demolition / construction phase. Five EV charging points
are proposed, as indicated on the site layout, implementation of which will be
secured via condition; as will submission of a DCEMP.
3.5.18 Contaminated Land: Phase 1 and Phase 2 Geo-Environmental Assessments
have been submitted with the application, to establish the need or otherwise
for a remediation strategy to guard against ground contaminants. To date, the
assessments await review by the Council’s Public Protection consultee.
Application of the Council’s standard contaminated land conditions are,
therefore, recommended.
3.5.19 Relationship Between Buildings: An acceptable interface between proposed
buildings and all neighbouring dwellings is achieved, in accordance with the
Council’s adopted standards. An acceptable relationship between proposed
buildings and all neighbouring commercial and community uses is also
achieved. In this context, it should be noted that no adopted separation
standard exists in respect of a place of worship and any proposed use.
3.5.20 Accordingly, the development is found to appropriately safeguard public
amenity, in accordance with the requirements of Policy 8 and The Framework.
3.5.21 Environment
Policies CS13, 9 and 40 requires that development will not have an
unacceptable impact on environmental assets or interests, including but
limited to climate change (including flood risk), green infrastructure, habitats,
species, water quality and resources, trees and the efficient use of land.
3.5.22 Flood Risk / Drainage: The site is located within Flood Zone 1 (low risk). As
the site area does not exceed 1 hectare, a site specific Flood Risk
Assessment is not required.
3.5.23 No objection is offered from the Council’s Drainage consultee, as Lead Local
Flood Authority, or from United Utilities, subject to submission of a Surface
Water Drainage Scheme and a SuDS Management and Maintenance

Page 69

Scheme, for the lifetime of the development, notwithstanding the submitted
information, as recommended by United Utilities.
3.5.24 Ecology: An Ecological Appraisal has been submitted with the application and
reviewed to the Council’s Ecology consultee. No significant ecological issues
are identified. It is recommended that issues relating to bats, nesting birds,
invasive species, hedgehog and biodiversity enhancement measures are
resolved via condition and or informative, as follows:


Bats - Demolition of the bowling hut to be in accordance with the details
set out in the Ecological Appraisal;



Nesting birds - No tree or shrub removal during bird nesting season
(March – August inc.), unless a bird nesting survey prior to clearance
establishes that no active bird nests are present;



Invasive species - Removal of Cotoneaster to be in accordance with
the details set out in the Ecological Appraisal;



Habitat loss / Biodiversity Net Gain - Landscaping Scheme to provide
replacement trees and shrubs and a bird nesting / bat roosting
opportunities scheme; and



Hedgehog (Informative) – That hedgehog are protected under the Wild
Mammal (Protection) Act 1996.

3.5.25 Trees: a Tree Inspection Report has been submitted with the application and
reviewed by the Council’s Arboricultural consultee. It is proposed that seven
category U trees (low value) are to be removed and a single category B tree
(moderate value). Removal of these trees is considered acceptable, given the
benefits otherwise arising the development and their predominant low value.
Six higher value trees along the Burnley Road frontage of the site would be
retained, affording some screening benefit and assisting integration of the
development within the street scape. No objection is offered towards the
proposed layout and removal of the trees, subject to on site replacement, tree
planting and protection of trees to be retained, during demolition / construction
phase of the development.
3.5.26 Accordingly, the environmental impact of the development is found to be
acceptable, in accordance with the requirements Policies CS13, 9 and 40, and
The Framework.
3.5.27 Highways / Accessibility and Transport
Policies CS22 and 10 requires that road safety and the safe and efficient and
convenient movement of all highway users is not prejudiced and that
appropriate provision is made for off street servicing and parking in
accordance with the Council’s adopted standards.
3.5.28 A Transport Statement (TS) has been submitted with the application and
reviewed by the Council’s Highways consultee. Matters raised in the initial

Page 70

review of the TS have been satisfactorily addressed by the applicant, by way
of clarifications, including confirmation of the proposed uses and floor space,
as set out earlier in this report, and amendments to the layout to include
enhanced pedestrian links through the site.
3.5.29 Review of the TS concludes no significant impacts will arise on the
surrounding highway network.
3.5.30 Assessment of required car parking provision against the Council’s adopted
standards establishes an allowance of 47 parking bays. 49 spaces are
provided which are broadly in accordance with adopted dimensions. Two
Powered Two Wheel (PTW) spaces are also provided.
3.5.31 The general arrangement of the units and car parking and servicing area is
considered acceptable, insofar as delivery / despatch and parking can
efficiently co-exist without detriment to highways users, as confirmed by
review of a swept-path analysis.
3.5.32 An important feature of the proposal is the widening of Didsbury Street and
provision of a new access into the site therefrom, as indicated on the
proposed layout. This will allow adoption of the street. Notwithstanding the
submitted information, a Grampian condition (off-site works) will require
submission of full technical details of the road widening and access, including
footway connections and adequate sight lines. Delivery of these highway
improvements which will be via a Section 278 Agreement and they will be
implemented prior to operational use of the development.
3.5.33 Submission of the aforementioned CEMP will guard against any excessive
highway impacts arising during construction phase, including a need to
ensure that the surrounding highway is kept free of dirt and debris.
3.5.34 Accordingly, highway impacts arising from the development are found to be
acceptable, in accordance with the requirements of Policies CS22 and 10, and
The Framework.
3.5.35 Design / Character and Appearance
Policies CS16 and 11 require a good standard of design and will be expected
to enhance and reinforce the established character of the locality and
demonstrate an understanding of the wider context towards making a positive
contribution to the local area. This includes enhance and reinforcing the
established character of a locality. Key aspects of character which must be
taken into account are the following:
i) Existing topography, buildings and landscape features and their
integration into the development;
ii) Layout and building orientation to make best use of existing
connections, landmarks and views;
iii) Building shapes, plot and block sizes, styles colours and materials that
contribute to the character of streets and use these to complement
character;
iv) Height and building line of the established area;

Page 71

v) Relationship of the buildings to the street; and
vi) Frontage treatment such as boundary walls.
3.5.36 A Design and Access Statement has been submitted with the application
which sets out the design approach to the proposal.
3.5.37 The scale of the proposed buildings is proportionate to the site and the wider
street scape. Units 1a – 1b are arranged in linear fashion with a total floor
area of 1066sqm, featuring a gable roof profile, up to a ridge height of 8.5m.
Unit 2 is a single unit with a floor are of 820sqm, again with a gable roof, up to
a ridge height of 6.5.
3.5.38 The front elevations feature a combination of Goosewing Grey vertical profiled
cladding and dark grey horizontal composite cladding. This is tied together
with anthracite-coloured trims around all door openings, window openings and
between all material transitions. The side elevations of Unit 1 continue the
scheme of vertical profiled cladding which wraps around and encapsulates the
rear of the building. Unit 2 changes this by wrapping Goosewing Grey
horizontal composite cladding around the corner before transitioning back to
vertical profiled cladding. Submission of external materials will be secured via
condition. Units are illustrated below (Campbell Driver, 8/07/2021):

Page 72

3.5.39 Submission of boundary treatments will be secured via condition.
3.5.40 Retention of trees to the Burnley Road frontage and implementation of
additional landscaping, as aforementioned, will assist in softening the
appearance of the development.
3.5.41 Accordingly, the design of the development is found to be in accordance with
the requirements of Policies CS16 and 11, and The Framework.
3.5.42 Planning Gain / Section 106 Financial Contributions
A financial contribution from the applicant of £45,450, towards traffic
enhancements and improvements to walking and cycling routes in the vicinity
of Carl Fogarty Way and Burnley Road, will be secured via a Section 106
Agreement. The figure includes a monitoring fee of £450.
3.5.43 Summary
This report assess the full planning application for the demolition of existing
bowling green hut and dilapidated children’s playground; and erection of 2no

Page 73

industrial buildings (Use Class B8 and Eg) with associated landscaping and
access from Didsbury Street. In considering the proposal, a wide range of
material considerations have been taken into account. The assessment
demonstrates that the planning decision must be made in the context of
assessing the merits of the proposal balanced against any potential harm that
may arise from its implementation. This report finds that the proposal meets
the policy requirements of the Blackburn with Darwen Core Strategy, Local
Plan Part 2, Supplementary Planning Document, Planning Advisory Note and
the National Planning Policy Framework.

4

RECOMMENDATION

4.1

Approve subject to:

(i) Delegated authority is given to the Strategic Director of Growth and
Development to approve planning permission, subject to an agreement
under Section 106 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990, relating to
the payment of £45.450, including a monitoring fee of £450 (as set out at
para 3.5.42).
Should the Section 106 agreement not be completed within 6 months of
the date of the planning application being received, the Strategic
Director of Growth and Development Department will have delegated
powers to refuse the application.
(ii) The following conditions:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration
of three years from the date of this planning permission.
REASON: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. Unless explicitly required by condition within this consent, the
development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete
accordance with the application received 22nd December 2021 and with
the following drawings / plans / information: (to be added).
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify which plans are
relevant to the consent.
3. Prior to commencement of any above ground works hereby approved,
and notwithstanding the submitted details, written and illustrative
details, including colours and textures, of the external walling, roofing and
window materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented in
strict accordance with the approved details.

Page 74

REASON: To ensure that the external appearance of the
development is satisfactory, in accordance with Policy 11 of the
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
4. Prior to commencement of any above ground work hereby approved,
and notwithstanding the submitted details, a scheme of boundary
treatment(s) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme shall provide for the precise location,
height and construction materials of all boundaries. The approved
scheme of boundary treatment(s) shall be implemented prior to first
occupation of the development and retained thereafter.
REASON: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is
satisfactory, in accordance with Policy 11 of the adopted Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council Local Plan Part 2.
5. Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved, the
developer must submit to the Local Planning Authority for written
approval:
i) A preliminary risk assessment including:






A comprehensive desk study report, which identifies all previous
land uses;
potential contaminants associated with those uses;
a Preliminary Conceptual Site Model (CSM) in text, plan and crosssection form, indicating potential contaminants and their sources,
pathways and receptors associated with those uses;
potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the
site; and
Where necessary, detailed proposals for subsequent site
investigation, clearly based on the CSM.

ii) Findings of the approved site investigation work (where necessary),
including an appropriate assessment of risks to both human health and
the wider environment, from contaminants in, on or under the land
(including ground gas). If unacceptable risks are identified, a remedial
options appraisal and detailed remediation scheme should be
presented, along with an updated CSM. No deviation shall be made
from this scheme without the written agreement from the Local
Planning Authority or the Environment Agency.
REASON: To ensure that all reasonable steps have been taken to identify
contamination at the site, in accordance with Policy 8 of the adopted
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council Local Plan Part 2.
6. Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved, a
comprehensive Validation Report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Validation Report shall
demonstrate effective remediation in accordance with the agreed

Page 75

remediation scheme and updated CSM. All the installed remediation must
be retained for the duration of the approved use, and where necessary,
the Local Planning Authority should be periodically informed in writing of
any ongoing monitoring and decisions based thereon.
REASON: To ensure that all reasonable steps have been taken to
identify contamination at the site, that the risks it presents have been
appropriately assessed, and that the site can be made 'suitable for use',
as such, does not pose a risk to future users of the site or the wider
environment, in accordance with Policy 8 of the adopted Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council Local Plan Part 2.
7. Should contamination be encountered unexpectedly during
redevelopment, all works should cease, and the LPA should be
immediately informed in writing. If unacceptable risks are identified, a
remedial options appraisal and detailed remediation scheme should be
presented, and agreed in writing by the LPA. No deviation shall be made
from this scheme without the written express agreement of the LPA.
REASON: To protect the health of future occupiers of the site, in
accordance with Policy 8 of the adopted Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council Local Plan Part 2.
8. Should pile driving works be required on site, prior to the
commencements of those works, a programme for the monitoring of
generated noise and vibration shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The programme shall specify the
measurement locations and maximum permissible noise and vibration
levels at each location. Noise and vibration levels shall not exceed the
specified levels in the approved programme.
REASON: In order to safeguard neighbouring amenity, in accordance with
Policy 8 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
9. The approved use shall be restricted to the following times:
Monday to Friday: 07:00 – 18:00 hours
Saturday: 08:00 – 18:00hours
Sundays/Bank Holidays: 08:00 – 16:00 hours.
REASON: To prevent noise disturbance / loss of amenity at nearby
residential properties, in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
10. The construction of the development hereby permitted shall only take
place between the following hours:
Monday to Friday: 08:00 to 18:00
Saturday: 09:00 to 13:00
Sundays or Bank Holidays: No site operations

Page 76

REASON: To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining premises and the
area generally, in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Local Plan Part 2.
11. Roller shutters fitted to units hereby approved shall be electrically
operated.
REASON: To prevent noise disturbance / loss of amenity at nearby
residential properties, in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
12. The noise rating level arising from the commercial/industrial premises
shall not exceed 52dB(A) at the boundary of any residential premises for
the duration of the approved use. Assessment shall be made in
accordance with BS4142 ‘Methods for rating and assessing industrial and
commercial sound’
REASON: To prevent noise disturbance / loss of amenity at nearby
residential properties, in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
13. The demolition of the Bowling Pavilion and the removal of the willows
at TN2 shall be carried out in accordance with the details contained in the
Ecological Appraisal, Bowland Ecology job number: BOW17.995 , Section
5.7 and 5.8 as already submitted with the planning application and
agreed in principle with the LPA prior to determination.
REASON: In order to protect ecology and biodiversity, in accordance with
the requirements of Policies 9 and 40 of the Blackburn with Darwen Local
Plan Part 2.
14. No site clearance shall be carried out between the 1st March and 31st
August in any year unless and until a detailed bird nest survey,
undertaken by a suitably experienced ecologist, has been submitted to the
Local Planning Authority in writing, confirming that no active bird nests are
present.
REASON: To ensure the protection of nesting birds, in accordance with
the requirements of Policies 9 and 40 of the Blackburn with Darwen Local
Plan Part 2.
15. The removal of Cotoneaster shall be carried out in accordance with
the details contained in the Ecological Appraisal, Bowland Ecology job
number: BOW17.995, Section 5.4 as already submitted with the planning
application and agreed in principle with the LPA prior to determination.
REASON: In order to appropriately remediate the site of an invasive
species, in the interests of safeguarding ecology and biodiversity, in
accordance with the requirements of Policies 9 and 40 of the Blackburn
with Darwen Local Plan Part 2.

Page 77

16. Trees within the site shall be retained in strict accordance with the
proposed site layout drawing, numbered 21.149 001 Rev I. These
retained tree shall be protected through the duration of site clearance,
demolition and construction works, in accordance with the tree protection
measures set out in the submitted report titled ‘Tree Inspection for Design,
Demolition and Construction (to BS: 5837 2021), dated 6/2/2019.
REASON: Trees represent a public benefit by way of visual amenity and
should therefore be protected at all times, in accordance with Policies 9
and 40 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
17. Prior to commencement of above ground works hereby approved, and
notwithstanding the submitted details, a landscaping scheme shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall include details of native tree and shrub planting, including
species and densities, to compliment local priority habitat. Planting of
trees and shrubs shall also be implemented in accordance with the
approved details, during the first available planting season following
completion of the development. Trees dying or becoming diseased,
removed or being seriously damaged within five years of planting shall be
replaced by trees and shrubs of similar size and species to those
originally required to be planted during the first available planting season
after the loss of the trees and/or shrubs.
REASON: To ensure an appropriate appearance to the site and in the
interests of amenity and ecology, in accordance with Policy 9 and 11 of
the adopted Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council Local Plan Part 2.
18. Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, and
notwithstanding the submitted detail, a Landscape and Environmental
Management and Maintenance Strategy shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The strategy shall
cover all landscaping subject to details approved under condition 16, and
it shall detail a programme of works including scheduled frequencies of
weeding and watering as well as monitoring of habitats for a period of 30
years. The strategy shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved detail upon completion of the development.
REASON: To ensure that there is a well maintained scheme of healthy
trees and shrubs in the interests of amenity in accordance with Policies 9,
11 and 40 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
19. Prior to commencement of any above ground works hereby approved,
and notwithstanding the submitted details, a Biodiversity Enhancement
Scheme to provide for bird nesting and bat roosting opportunities within
the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
The development shall be completed in strict accordance with the
approved scheme which shall be so retained.

Page 78

REASON: In order to protect ecology and biodiversity; in accordance with
the requirements of Policies 9 and 40 of the Blackburn with Darwen
Local Plan Part 2.
20. Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a
Demolition / Construction and Environmental Management Plan (DCEMP)
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The DCEMP shall provide for the following:
- A plan showing the areas of storage for all plant and materials
associated with construction;
- the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
- loading and unloading of plant and materials;
- the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including
decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where
appropriate;
- wheel washing facilities, including a method statement outlining
how the developer intends to use and manage the facility. The
approved wheel wash shall be put in place at all vehicle access
points onto the public highway when work commences and shall
remain in operation throughout the period of development;
- measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during
construction; and
- a scheme for recycling / disposing of waste resulting from
demolition and construction works.
Construction shall proceed in strict accordance with the approved detail
for the duration of those works.
REASON: In order to safeguard protected habitat; to avoid the deposit of
debris into watercourse and onto the highway, in order to protect the
amenity of the occupiers of the adjacent properties and in order to protect
the visual amenities of the locality, in accordance with Policies 8, 9 and 10
of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
21. Prior to commencement of any above ground works hereby approved,
and notwithstanding the submitted details, full design specification of the
proposed widening to Disdbury Street and access therefrom into the site,
including drainage, street lighting and cross sections confirming gradients,
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The works shall be implemented in full in strict accordance with
the approved detail, prior to operational use of the development hereby
approved.
REASON: To ensure the safe, efficient and convenient ingress and
egress at the site for all highway users, in accordance with Policy 10 of
the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
22. Visibility splays at the site entrances shall not at any time be
obstructed by any building, wall, fence, hedge, tree, shrub or other device

Page 79

exceeding a height greater than 1 metre above the crown level of the
adjacent highway.
REASON: To ensure the safe, efficient and convenient movement of all
highway users, for the free flow of traffic, in accordance with Policy 10 of
the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.

5.0

PLANNING HISTORY

5.1

10/01/0527: Ballcourt, Playground and Skateboard facility, Bowling Pavilion.
Approved 25/10/2001.

6.0

CONSULTATIONS

6.1

BwD Public Protection
With reference to the above application, I recommend that the following condition(s),
informative(s) and/or comment(s) be included if planning permission is granted:
Condition – Hours of Use Restriction
The approved use shall be restricted to the following times:
Monday to Friday: 07:00 – 18:00 hours
Saturday: 08:00 – 18:00hours
Sundays/Bank Holidays: 08:00 – 16:00 hours
Any variation of the above hours restriction must be approved in writing by the
Planning Authority.
Reason
To ensure appropriate hours of use to minimise noise disturbance at residential
premises.
Condition: Roller Shutters
Roller shutter(s) fitted to the units must be electrically operated.
Reason
To prevent loss of noise amenity at residential premises during opening/closing
operation of the shutter(s).
Condition - Industrial/Commercial Noise Control
The noise rating level arising from the commercial/industrial premises shall not
exceed 52dB(A) at the boundary of any residential premises for the duration of the
approved use. Assessment shall be made in accordance with BS4142 ‘Methods for
rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound’
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of residential amenity.
Condition - Air Quality (Large Commercial Development)

Page 80

Prior to the commencement of the development an air quality impact assessment
shall be submitted, in writing, to the Local Planning Authority (LPA). The scope of the
assessment must be agreed with the LPA in writing. The assessment shall recommend
appropriate mitigation if an adverse impact is identified in accordance with the LPA
planning advisory note: ‘Air Quality’ and agreed in writing with the LPA.
REASON: In accordance with Policy 36 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local
Plan Part 2 and Paragraph 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019, which
states that developments should be designed to enable charging plug-in and other
ultra-low emission vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient locations. This
implements the requirements of Council's Air Quality PAN and the Principles of Good
Practice in the EPUK & IAQM guidance Planning for Air Quality.
CONTAMINATED LAND CONDITIONS
Condition 1
Prior to the commencement of construction works on site, the developer must
submit to the Local Planning Authority (LPA) for written approval:
i. A comprehensive desk study report, including a preliminary conceptual site model
(CSM) in text, plan and cross-section form. Detailed proposals for subsequent site
investigation based on the CSM shall be included as appropriate; the developer will be
advised whether any further site assessment is required.
ii. If required by the LPA, the findings of the approved site investigation work,
including an appropriate assessment of risks to both human health and the wider
environment, arising from contaminants in, on or under the land (including ground
gas) will be submitted. Where unacceptable risks are identified an updated CSM,
remedial options appraisal and detailed remediation scheme shall be presented for
approval. No deviation shall be made from this scheme without the written express
agreement of the LPA.
Condition 2
Prior to the commencement of the permitted use, the developer must submit a
comprehensive validation report to the LPA for written approval. The report shall
demonstrate effective remediation in accordance with the agreed remediation
scheme. All the installed remediation must be retained for the duration of the
approved use and the LPA periodically informed in writing of any ongoing monitoring
and decisions based thereon as appropriate.
REASON: To ensure that the site has been made ‘suitable for use’, and as such, does
not pose a risk to future users of the site or the wider environment.
Condition 3
Should contamination be encountered unexpectedly during redevelopment, all works
should cease, and the LPA should be immediately informed in writing. If unacceptable
risks are identified, a remedial options appraisal and detailed remediation scheme

Page 81

should be presented, and agreed in writing by the LPA. No deviation shall be made
from this scheme without the written express agreement of the LPA.
REASON: To protect the health of future occupiers of the site in accordance with
Policy ENV3 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan.
Floodlighting
Should the proposed development include outdoor lighting I would recommend the
following condition:
Condition – Floodlighting
An outdoor floodlighting scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority before the development commences. The floodlights shall be
installed in accordance with the agreed scheme and retained for the duration of the
approved use.
Reason
To minimise potential loss of amenity due to intrusive light pollution affecting
residents living in the vicinity.
Construction Phase Control Conditions
Condition – Hours of Site Works
There shall be no site operations on any Sunday or Bank Holiday nor on any other day
except between the following times:
Monday to Friday
08:00 – 18:00 hours
Saturday
09:00 - 13:00 hours
Any variation of the above hours restriction must be approved in writing by the
Planning Authority.
Reason
To ensure appropriate hours of site work to minimise noise during the construction
phase.
Condition – Dust Control
The commencement of the development shall not take place until there has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority a scheme employing
the best practicable means for the suppression of dust during the period of
demolition/construction. The approved measures in the scheme shall be employed
throughout this period of development unless any variation has been approved in
writing by the Planning Authority.
Reason
To ensure that satisfactory measures are in place to alleviate any dust & dirt impact at
adjacent residential premises.

Page 82

Noise & Vibration Control
Condition
Should pile driving be required on site, the commencement of the development shall
not take place until there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Planning Authority a programme for the monitoring of noise & vibration generated
during demolition & construction works. The programme shall specify the
measurement locations and maximum permissible noise & vibration levels at each
location. At each location, noise & vibration levels shall not exceed the specified levels
in the approved programme unless otherwise approved in writing by the Planning
Authority or in an emergency.
Reason
To minimise noise/vibration disturbance at adjacent residential premises.
Floodlighting Control (Construction Phase)
Condition
Should floodlighting be required on site a scheme shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the development commences.
Floodlights shall be installed in accordance with the agreed scheme and retained for
the duration of the works.
Reason
To minimise potential loss of amenity due to intrusive light pollution affecting
residents living in the vicinity.
6.2

BwD Drainage (Lead Local Flood Authority)
No objection subject to the following condition:
No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the disposal of foul and
surface water from the site has been submitted to an approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme shall provide for:
i) Separate systems for the disposal of foul and surface water;
ii) a detailed drainage strategy to demonstrate that the post-development discharge
rate to any soakaway, watercourse or sewer does not exceed the pre-development
rate of 5 litres per second;
iii) the drainage strategy shall include details of the peak surface water runoff rate
from the development for the 1 in 1 year rainfall event and the 1 in 100 year (+40%
climate change allowance) rainfall event and shall demonstrate that the peak postdevelopment runoff rate does not exceed the peak pre-development greenfield
runoff rate for the same event;
iv) details of any necessary flow attenuation measures, including the use of SuDS
where appropriate;
v) confirmation that drainage of foul and surface water is directed away from the
railway; and

Page 83

v) a timetable for implementation, including details of any phased delivery.
The development shall be implemented in strict accordance with the approved
details.
6.3

BwD Highways
Parking
We have reviewed the adopted parking standards against the floorarea offered,
which differs depending on what document you refer to. I have taken the
measurement from the proposed site plan for assessment, this present the combined
floorarea to be 1892sqm. As the site is speculative, we have taken an assessment for
the greatest car parking generator which is B1– Business Park (the new Class E) (1 car
space per 40sqm) this suggests an allowance of 47 car parking spaces. The details
received provide 33 spaces (this includes 5 disabled parking spaces).
The parking number are in our opinion insufficient to support the new development.
Whilst a lower number is encouraging, in favour of sustainable transport modes, we
also need to be conscious that parking does not spill onto the highway, which is
nearing saturation.
The requirement for parking for cycle/ptw should be provided within the site. No
details are forthcoming. The provision should be located close to the entrance of the
building, covered and secure. Please request this information or condition
accordingly.
The arrangement and layout of the car parking spaces is spread around the site.
Spaces are normally sited close to the entrance of the properties. Certainly the
larger units, you would normally associate these to be placed adjacent/immediately in
front of the building. We would request this is reconsidered.
All parking bays should conform to the Councils standard parking bay sizes of 2.4m x
4.8m with 6m manoeuvrability into and out of the spaces.
There is no mention of cycle routes into the site, please provide details.
Servicing
The detail surrounding the needs for servicing associated with the site are sparse. A
partial swept path tracking is offered on the proposed site plan, this is insufficient. A
full swept path analysis should be provided, this should include turning into and out
from the entrance (from both directions) and also full turning using the turning area
provided at the edge of Unit 2.
Furthermore, details on frequency of movements to unit’s 1a-1d are required, in
addition to this turning movement associated with each unit should be presented for
assessment.

Page 84

Access & Layout
A new access point is proposed into the site from Didsbury Street. The new access
would appear considerably wide at the bellmouth and should be reduced to support
pedestrian priority and safe access across the entrance where necessary
Didsbury Street was officially closed by order as highway in March 1980, albeit not
physically closed, even today, it remains open to all traffic. As this will now provide
access to the new development, the highway status needs reinstating. The council
has undertaken some investigative work to ascertain the extent of the highway
boundary and what is required for it to be readopted, this was shared with the
developer, showing the extent and width of the c/way and footways either side. The
details received do not correctly reflect the area of works that are required to
be
undertaken. We would request a cleaner plan is provided showing the area (as set
out in the details forward to them) required for widening works.
All design and construction works (incl associated lighting and drainage) is to be
undertaken by the highway authority at the developer’s expense. Please attach this
as a Grampian condition.
Pedestrian connective routes from the highway into the site, and leading up to the
entrance points to each building have been adequately provided. We would
encourage a connected footway/cycleway path from Burnley Road frontage to
support better connectivity for all users into and out of the site, and promoting
alternative transport measures. Please request further details.
Transport Statement
Proposed Development
The type and scale of the proposed development is not clear and conflicting
information is provided across the various documents. E.g. The planning application is
for 2,223 sqm of E1. The site layout plan shows 2 units, Unit 1 with a combined GFA of
1066sqm and Unit 2 of 820sqm with a combined total of 1,886 sqm. The TRICS trip
generation assessments presented in the Transport Statement are based on a
development of 7,600 sqm comprising B8, office space and showrooms.
The various documents should be reviewed and amended to ensure the type and
scale of development proposals are accurate and consistent throughout the planning
application and supporting documents.
Site Access
Page 21 of the Transport Statement states that “The 43m sight lines can easily be
delivered for the posted 20mph limit with a shared path width of 4m.”
The stopping sight distance adjusted for bonnet length where speeds are 20 mph is
25m not 43m. Nevertheless, no drawing has been provided to demonstrate that the
required visibility splay is achievable. Furthermore, the reference to a shared path
width of 4m appears to be an error. There are no other references to a 4m shared
path within the TS and there is nothing on the site layout drawings which identifies
one.

Page 85

The planning information pack includes numerous drawings relating to works along
Didsbury Street to enable (re)adoption of this part of the local highway network.
There is no mention of these proposals within the Transport Statement so it is not
clear if these works form part of the application or if there is an alternative
arrangement in place to deliver the works.
Within the Existing Highway Setting there is no description of Accrington Road nor its
junction with Didsbury Street. I would consider this as a preferred route to/from the
site, particularly for HGVs. Similarly, no accident data is presented for this part of the
local highway network. Carl Fogarty Way was introduced to reduce the impact of
traffic on Burnley Road which is fronted by residential properties for much of its l
ength. Promoting access for HGVs from Burnley Road is counter intuitive to these
aims. Access to the proposed development site should be promoted from Accrington
Road via Didsbury Street.
The swept path analysis for a HGV only shows a manoeuvre within the site and does
not demonstrate how a HGV is to access the site from the local road network. The
swept path should show the full route from either Burnley Road or Accrington Road. It
is noted from the Didsbury Street drawings that the works proposed would provide a
5.5m carriageway width with 1.8m taken by marked parking bays. An available
carriageway width of 3.7m is unlikely to be sufficient for 2 vehicles to pass and is also
likely to make it difficult for HGVs to turn in and out of the site. As such, these
manoeuvres should be included within the swept path analysis and where
appropriate taken into account within the progression of design works relating to
Didsbury Street widening.
A pedestrian access from Burnley Road would be a welcome addition to the sites
access arrangements. This could be further supported by providing an internal
footpath to the rear of the parking spaces opposite units 1a and 1b with a pedestrian
crossing across the internal vehicle route to Unit 2.
Parking
The type and scale of the development proposals should be confirmed.
Notwithstanding this a ‘worst case’ review based on the planning application form
data which suggests 2,223 sqm of E type development returns a benchmark parking
requirement of 56 spaces.
Again there appears to be some inconsistency within the planning documents with
the planning application indicating 25 car parking spaces and 10 disability spaces are
to be provided. The Transport Statement and the (revised) Site Layout Plan indicate
28 car parking spaces and 5 disabled spaces are to be provided. The (revised)
proposed site layout does not indicate any disabled parking provision in relation to
Unit 2. I would also note that the parking for Unit 2 would be better positioned
adjacent to the building so that pedestrians are able to access the Unit without having
to cross the internal roads.
No provision for cycle parking or EV charging is evident on the (revised) Site Layout
Plan, confirmation of any such provision should be provided.

Page 86

The car park accumulation exercise presented on Page 22 of the Transport Statement
indicates a peak requirement for 38 (40 Max) parking spaces and not 28 as stated in
the text below the table. The max is 7 spaces above the provision and indicates that
overspill parking is likely to occur. As an aside it would be useful if the time of day
could be included within the car park accumulation table.
Road Safety
The collision plans on page 11 show Lower Eccleshill Road and not Carl Fogarty Way. I
have undertaken checks on Crashmap and there have been 4 incidents close to the
junction of Didsbury Street / Accrington Road in the most recently available 5 year
period. Two of these accidents were serious but there is no discernible pattern to
suggest an inherent safety problem with the road layout.
Trip Generation
The trip generation presented appears to be for a scale of development well above
that being proposed. As such, there are unlikely to be any significant traffic impact
concerns although it would be appreciated if the Traffic Impact Assessment could be
updated to reflect the type and scale of the proposed development.
Sustainable Access
The site is Plot 6 of the Furthergate sites previously considered for contributions
towards the Red Lion Roundabout Scheme with a proportionate contribution
calculated at £45,000. Contributions towards canal access improvements and a
pedestrian crossing of Gorse Street would also have merit. This would tie in well with
the earlier mentioned pedestrian access to the site from Burnley Road.
Off-site highway works
These should be in line with that set out under access above, a Grampian condition is
required to be attached.
In addition to this 278 works and In line with Councils emerging local plan policies, a
series of infrastructure interventions to support development proposals in the
Borough have been identified. This document makes reference to the roundabout at
Carl Fogarty Way/Burnley Road requiring enhancements for traffic and also further
improvements to aid walking and cycling, together with wider connections to
improving canal side access. We are therefore requesting a contribution through a
S106 of £45,000, to assist in delivering these measures. The cost is apportioned
against the size of development and trips generated.
Other
Construction Method Statement is required, please condition
Matters also to be considered are:

All existing street furniture including street lighting should be
removed/disconnected at the applicants expense and relocated at locations to be
agreed with by the relevant highways officer, (should they be required to do so)

Any old entrances no longer required will require closing and formally
reinstating back to full footway.

Page 87


Contact to be made with our Structures Division prior to commencement of
any works affecting retaining walls/ structure adjacent to/abutting or within the
adopted highway

Prior to any work commencing that affects the existing adopted highway
contact to be made with the Local Highway Authorities office on Tel: 01254 273838 to
undertake a condition survey.
To conclude, in principle would have no objections, subject to the above matters
being satisfactorily addressed
Please note: Prior to the commencement of any works that affect or adjoin the
adopted highway – contact is to be made with the local highway authority officer
Simon Littler on Mob: 07766 578007
Please attach standards conditions/Informatives: Highways, 1, 2, 3, 4, 8, 10, 11, 14, 15
and 17
Saf –21st April 2022
Further details received 10th June 2022
The additional detail have been reviewed against our initial comments.
Parking: This has been increased from 33 spaces to 49 (this includes EV charging
points). Although the layout would suggest that disabled bays are being provided, the
bays do not conform to a disabled space provision. We also note that PTW and Cycles
have been provided. These modes of transport should be secured and covered
(details of this to be submitted for approval)
Please could you attach a condition for car parking layout to be received for approved
and implemented prior to occupational use of site
Servicing: I would re-enforce Walter’s concern (on his latest comments) the swept
path that has been provided is all shown on one drawing. We would request that
these are separated onto individual drawings showing the swept path.
We would also request further consideration is given to the static movement as
reported in Walter’s comments
Access & layout: the plans indicated a joint footway/cycleway from Burnley road into
the site. The path should be 3m wide to support the joint use. This should also
extend to the entrance of unit 2 with safe delineated crossover. This can be
conditioned.
Off-site highway works (GRAMPIAN CONDITION): we would request that the Grampian
condition as requested in our initial comments is attached for offsite highway works.
The scheme is to be submitted for approval and works to be undertaken prior to
operational use. Could we also attach the works would be designed and built by the
council at the developer’s expense. (Informative)
This is in addition to the S106 requested, that also needs to be secured.

Page 88

Transport Assessment: the issues have largely been addressed, come minor issues
remain, please see attached report
To conclude we support the application and welcome the changes made.
Please attached all conditions as requested previously and above, together with
standard condition and Informatives (to also include all matters as set out under
other)
Saf – 4th July 2022
6.4

BwD Cleansing
No objection

6.5

BwD Arboriculture Officer
No Objection - This a much improved layout from a tree and screening point of view.
Ideally they show us a plan of Tree Protective Fencing which shouldn’t be too much
of a problem. Heras fencing is fine in this case.

6.6

BwD Property
No objection

6.7

United Utilities
Drainage
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a separate system
with foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most
sustainable way.
We request the following drainage conditions are attached to any subsequent
approval to reflect the above approach:
Condition 1 – Surface water
No development shall commence until a surface water drainage scheme has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The drainage
scheme must include:
(i) An investigation of the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning
Practice Guidance (or any subsequent amendment thereof). This investigation shall
include evidence of an assessment of ground conditions and the potential for
infiltration of surface water;
(ii) A restricted rate of discharge of surface water agreed with the local planning
authority (if it is agreed that infiltration is discounted by the investigations); and
(iii) A timetable for its implementation.

Page 89

The approved scheme shall also be in accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical
Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any subsequent
replacement national standards.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in accordance with the
approved drainage scheme.
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage
the risk of flooding and pollution.
Management and Maintenance of Sustainable Drainage Systems
Without effective management and maintenance, sustainable drainage systems can
fail or become ineffective. As a provider of wastewater services, we believe we have a
duty to advise the Local Planning Authority of this potential risk to ensure the
longevity of the surface water drainage system and the service it provides to people.
We also wish to minimise the risk of a sustainable drainage system having a
detrimental impact on the public sewer network should the two systems interact. We
therefore recommend the Local Planning Authority include a condition in their
Decision Notice regarding a management and maintenance regime for any
sustainable drainage system that is included as part of the proposed development.
For schemes of 10 or more units and other major development, we recommend the
Local Planning Authority consults with the Lead Local Flood Authority regarding the
exact wording of any condition. You may find the below a useful example:
Prior to occupation of the development a sustainable drainage management and
maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted to the local
planning authority and agreed in writing. The sustainable drainage management and
maintenance plan shall include as a minimum:
a. Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory undertaker,
or, management and maintenance by a resident’s management company; and
b. Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements of the
sustainable drainage system to secure the operation of the surface water drainage
scheme throughout its lifetime.
The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and managed in
accordance with the approved plan.
Reason: To ensure that management arrangements are in place for the sustainable
drainage system in order to manage the risk of flooding and pollution during the
lifetime of the development.
Please note United Utilities cannot provide comment on the management and
maintenance of an asset that is owned by a third party management and
maintenance company. We would not be involved in the discharge of the
management and maintenance condition in these circumstances.

Page 90

6.8

Ecology
Thank you for consulting the GMEU

Summary
The developer’s ecological consultant identified no significant ecological issues.
Issues relating to bats, nesting birds, invasive species, hedgehog and biodiversity
enhancement measures can be resolved via condition and or informative.
Bats
An updated bat assessment found the bowling hut to have very low bat roosting
potential and two trees t have low bat roosting potential. Reasonable avoidance
measures have been recoomend for th Pavillion and trees. I recommend these are
condtioned along the following lines.
The demolition of the Bowling Pavilion and the removal of the willows at TN2 shall be
carried out in accordance with the details contained in the Ecological Appraisal,
Bowland Ecology job number: BOW17.995 Section 5.7 and 5.8 as already submitted
with the planning application and agreed in principle with the LPA prior to
determination.
Other Protected Species
All other protected species were reasonably discounted owing to the sites isolation
from suitable habitat and lack of suitable habitat on the site. I have no reason to
doubt these findings. No further information or measures are required.
Nesting Birds
The updated assessment confirmed that the site was high risk for nesting birds. My
previous recommendation of the 7th February 2022 still applies.
Cotoneasters
Certain species of Cotoneaster are included within schedule 9 part 2 of the Wildlife &
Countryside Act 1981, as amended. It is an offence to introduce or cause to grow wild
any plant listed under this schedule. Cotoneaster were found on the site but the exact
species was not identified. The propsed safeguards in the ecological report are
however more than adequate, as the only risk would be transport of soil
constaminated with seed off-site and deposition in a semi-naturl location, which is
unlikely. I recommend a condition along the following lines is applied to any
permission.
The removal of Cotoneaster shall be carried out in accordance with the details contained
in the Ecological Appraisal, Bowland Ecology job number: BOW17.995 Section 5.4 as
already submitted with the planning application and agreed in principle with the LPA
prior to determination.

Page 91

Hedgehog
Habitats on the site were deemed suitable for hedgehog a UK Biodiversity Priority
species to hibernate and nest. Given the location howeve,r I regard this risk as very
low. I therefore recommend an informative along the following lines is applied to any
permission.
The applicant is reminded that, under the Wild Mammal (Protection) Act 1996 it is an
offence to inflict unnecessary suffering to wild mammals such as hedgehog. Planning
consent does not provide a defence against prosecution under this act.
Contributing to and Enhancing the Natural Environment
Section 174 of the NPPF 2021 states that the planning policies and decisions should
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment. I previously expressed
concerns that it appeared unlikely that mitigation could be achieved on site for the
loss of the existing low value habitats and recommended further information on how
the developer would provide mitigation for loss of trees and shrubs. The ecological
report has made recommendations relating to replacement trees (section 5.2), bird
nesting opportunities (section 5.11) and bats (section 5.15), I am unclear however
whether these will be adopted. If they are to be adopted then the detail can be provided
via condition.
6.9

Lancs Police
No objection / standard advice.

6.10

Public consultation
39 letters were posted to the local community on 21st April 2022 and 15th June
2022. Site notices were also displayed. A press notice was published 14 th
February 2022. In response, 12 comments were received; see Summary of
Representations.

7.0

CONTACT OFFICER: Nick Blackledge – [Principle Planner].

8.0

DATE PREPARED: 7th July 2022.

Page 92

9.0 SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS
Objection – Mr Ali, Burnley Road Resident. Received: 01/02/2022.

Regarding the above opening application, following receipt of your letter - we are seeing the
removal of 2 leisure facilities (bowling green & children's park), which whilst dormant for
some time, were nonetheless amenities of the area.
These are now being replaced with more concrete, industrial buildings, likely bringing
increased traffic, emissions and deterring families and the public in general to avoid walking
around the area - thus rendering the whole matter, not so environmentally friendly.
What are the council approving here exactly?
What is the long term goal of the council in respect of improving our neighbourhood,
increasing greenery etc?
What can one do to oppose the idea of this proposal for industrial sites?
Please kindly advise as soon as possible.
Thank you in advance.

Objection – Jeff Green, 32 St Oswalds Close, Blackburn & Maureen Green, 124 Burnley Road,
Blackburn. Received: 07/06/2022 & 21/06/2022.

I am writing to you with regards to the above Planning Application, which I feel I must object
to in it's current form. My name is Jeff Green, the Son of Maureen Green who owns No. 124
Burnley Road Blackburn. BB1 3HN, which is directly opposite the proposed development. I
have Power of Attorney for my Mum's property & financial affairs and I am acting in this
capacity.
The reasons for my Objection are as follows.
1. Looking at the plans, there is no Landscaping proposed to the area on Hereford Rd,
which is the only elevation not to & is directly opposite our property. Unit 2 looks to
be really close to the pavement of Hereford Rd. If the Unit was moved back &
Lanscaping put between the pavement & the unit, this would be acceptable.
2. The plans state that the site will accommodate access for HGVs. As the Access is via
Didsbury Street, I must disagree with this statement as Didsbury Street isn't wide
enough for HGVs to manoeuvre & access the proposed site. This is especially so with
all the vehicles parked on Didsbury Street, adjacent to Wardle Storey & further up on
the opposite side at certain times of the day by people attending the Mosque. I drive
down there quite often and 2 cars can't pass side by side. I suggest that someone
from the Planning Office takes a physical look at this. I am happy to meet someone
there.

Page 93

3. The building of Carl Fogarty Way has taken a considerable amount of traffic away
from our Residential area (One of the reasons for Carl Fogarty way being built was to
reduce traffic). The building of these 2 units will undoubtedly bring more traffic back
to the area, especially if access is via Hereford Rd, onto Didsbury Street. Drivers will
also use Burnley Road as a "Cut Through" from Whitebirk, instead of using Carl
Fogarty Way.
4. Hereford Road is already heavily congested at times with HGVs going to Wardle
Storey. You only need to look at the road surface between the junction of Burnley
Road & Leicester Road to see the damage that HGVs have done. Allowing more HGV
access along this stretch of road will make this even worse. With points 2, 3 & 4 in
mind, if this goes ahead, don't you think that access via Burnley Road would be
better?
5. The Application states that the use of the Units is unknown. Firstly, how can you
allow for Planning permission for unknown usage? Are the 2 units sub-sectioned off
into Multiple units? & are 35 car parking spaces enough or too much for units of this
size, when you don't know how many Employees will be working there.
6. There are still quite a number of empty units within Blackburn and even within a 1
mile radius of this site. I still don't see the requirement for more units, especially if
you don't have any clients

Further to my letter from yesterday regarding the planning application no. 10/22/0034.
Please find attached a photograph of Didsbury St today. This shows the road completely
closed due to a machine being delivered to Wardle Storage. Another reason why access to
the new development shouldn't be from Didsbury St.

Page 94

Objection – Mr W Ali, Burnley Road Resident. Received: 28/03/2022.

Page 95

Page 96

Objection – Mr W Ali, Burnley Road. Received: 08/04/2022.

I trust you are well.
Whilst I haven't heard back from at all since my last email, I thought I'd offer some updates
on my part.
There seems to be a growing moment, inadvertently triggered moreso by possible
amendments to the planning recently, of a small community of folk raising voice against the
whole matter.
*Video sent with objection.

Page 97

Objection – Aamir, Burnley Road Resident. Received: 29/03/2022.

Hello regarding the units on Hereford road and burnley road junction. Is the council crazy?
Have you ever been to Hereford road when trucks arrive for the existing commercial units.
They block the road, traffic builds up, driveways gets blocked, and you want to allow two
units! This is madness. You are going to kill the residential area.
I oppose the application.

Objection – Klaudia Koscielnicka, 129 Burnley Road, Blackburn. Received: 29/03/2022.

This relates to Burnley Road bowling pavilion planning permission.
I strongly oppose to the planning permission for two industrial units to be built.
My reasons for this are as follows
I have 2 young children and another child due in June and there is already to much traffic on
Burnley Road and this will only add to the volume of traffic.
I dont understand why industrial units would be built here because blackburn Council have
already confirmed that industrial units are to be built behind my house so to add more at the
front is just ridiculous in a suburban area.
The council should be replacing the playground with a new playground, not replacing it with
industrial units and more traffic and emissions.
The noise is already very loud from the road so adding more traffic is something I'm strongly
against.
There are alot of kids in the area with nowhere to play and socialise.
We've just had building work of some sort behind our house where blackburn council have
said that industrial units will be built and the land has been prepared ready for these units.
The noise we had for weeks with heavy machinery operating all day and increased traffic due
to the machinery coming and going each day I think it's totally unacceptable to then start to
build infront of our houses aswell as the back is just to much.
The long term affects this will have on the area will be unbearable to everyone who lives
here. We need more social space on this side of blackburn, not more industrial units.
The industrial units will attract more rats.
The planning applications for the rear of our houses is bad enough but to build units at the
front is a step to far for alot of residents.

Objection – Syed Shah, 50 Leicester Road, Blackburn. Received: 29/03/2022.
I have concern with this planning permission Park bowling green on Burnley road in to 2 large
commercial units Because there is no safety for community and childrens We have feeling very
difficulty for parking So i don’t think so this is commercial area So I’m not happy with this planning
Permetion So please reconsider Thanks

Page 98

Objection – Laura Pickering, 48 Leicester Road, Blackburn. Received: 30/03/2022.

I write in relation to Burnley Road Bowling Pavilion and would like to oppose the application
to build commercial units on it.
I have lived in the area for 11 years and plan shortly to buy my property so have no plans to
move anytime soon.
When we first moved in it was a quiet area and although the factory is directly across from
me it was quiet initially. Around 4 years ago it expanded and our daily lives have become a
nightmare. Constant traffic parking outside our property and unable to park and having a
disabled child I am now having to pay to have a disabled bay put it. The wagons are never
ending and block the roads on a daily basis. The noise from the workers and the vehicles is
out of control and numerous times it has set on fire causing danger to the surrounding areas
and on many occasions the wagons have drove into fences, sign posts etc. Building more
units so close is outrageous. It will cause endless congestion, unwanted emissions and even
more noise. In summer we are unable to keep our windows open as it is. As a mother of a 5
year old I do not want more pollution in the area especially as my son is an asthmatic. I want
my child to be able to play safe. There are many areas not built up that these units can be
built and putting them in this area is truly outrageous
Objection – H A Harri. Received: 31/03/2022.

No no no.
Completely disapprove of the plans.
Hereford road is already a nightmare for traffic. Has anyone from the council visited when
trucks arrive for the existing commercial unit? I am aware of at least 4 different household
residents who have already complained about this in the past. Adding an additional unit...
wow.
This is aside from the islamic centre and children etc, the local residents, and elderly folk
already at risk.
Burnley road has been promised to be made quite with traffic, do you to many using it as a
short cut, and now you wish to add 2 large units ( of which plans show 8 separate units)
The location is NOT fit for commercial property. Opposed entirely.
In the event that this still goes ahead, access should not be from burnley road, hereford road,
or didsbury street. An option is to connect it to the top end of burnley road and give entrance
from there ( the old burnley road which is now a dead end). I do however hope that the
application is denied entirely.
I wish not to disclose my details publicly. That said, if it becomes necessary, I am happy to
do so

Page 99

Objection – Hajrah Manzoor. Received: 31/03/2022.

I have grown up with this park and every day i go past it, I remember all he memories that I
created. It's already been knocked down which disappointed me, and I do not think that this is
the right place to be building units, due to the fact that it is right in the center of a big junction
with heavy ongoing traffic.

Objection – Paul Green, 124 Burnley Road, Blackburn. Received: 21/06/2022.
Dear Sir / Madam,

I am writing to you again with regards to the revised above Planning Application, which I feel I must
still object to in it's current form. My name is Paul Green & I am resident at the above address.

The reasons for my Objection are as follows.

1. Looking at the plans, there is no Landscaping proposed to the area on Hereford Rd, which is
the only elevation not to & is directly opposite our property. Unit 2 looks to be really close to
the pavement of Hereford Rd. If the Unit was moved back & Lanscaping put between the
pavement & the unit, this would be acceptable.
2. The plans state that the site will accommodate access for HGVs. As the Access is via Didsbury
Street, I must disagree with this statement as Didsbury Street isn't wide enough for HGVs to
manoeuvre & access the proposed site. This is especially so with all the vehicles parked on
Didsbury Street, adjacent to Wardle Storey & further up on the opposite side at certain
times of the day by people attending the Mosque. I drive down there quite often and 2 cars
can't pass side by side. I suggest that someone from the Planning Office takes a physical look
at this. I am happy to meet someone there.
3. The building of Carl Fogarty Way has taken a considerable amount of traffic away from our
Residential area (One of the reasons for Carl Fogarty way being built was to reduce traffic).
The building of these 2 units will undoubtedly bring more traffic back to the area, especially
if access is via Hereford Rd, onto Didsbury Street. Drivers will also use Burnley Road as a "Cut
Through" from Whitebirk, instead of using Carl Fogarty Way.
4. Hereford Road is already heavily congested at times with HGVs going to Wardle Storey. You
only need to look at the road surface between the junction of Burnley Road & Leicester Road
to see the damage that HGVs have done. Allowing more HGV access along this stretch of
road will make this even worse. With points 2, 3 & 4 in mind, if this goes ahead, don't you
think that access via Burnley Road would be better?
5. The Application states that the use of the Units is unknown. Firstly, how can you allow for
Planning permission for unknown usage? Are the 2 units sub-sectioned off into Multiple
units? & are 35 car parking spaces enough or too much for units of this size, when you don't
know how many Employees will be working there.

Page 100

The details on the Noise Assessment report from "Red Acoustics" (RO97-REP01) is incorrect. It shows
Didsbury St being where Hereford Rd is & Vice-verse. The report also states that location NSP3
borders Hereford Rd, but on the diagram NSP3 is where the flats are on Disbury St. Again, the
diagram shows NSP2 right on our house, not near the main arterial route as stated. How can anyone
say at this moment in time what the noise levels will be, when you don't know w Dear Sir /

Madam,
I am writing to you again with regards to the revised above Planning Application, which I
feel I must still object to in it's current form. My name is Paul Green & I am resident at the
above address.
The reasons for my Objection are as follows.

1. Looking at the plans, there is no Landscaping proposed to the area on Hereford Rd,
which is the only elevation not to & is directly opposite our property. Unit 2 looks to
be really close to the pavement of Hereford Rd. If the Unit was moved back &
Lanscaping put between the pavement & the unit, this would be acceptable.
2. The plans state that the site will accommodate access for HGVs. As the Access is via
Didsbury Street, I must disagree with this statement as Didsbury Street isn't wide
enough for HGVs to manoeuvre & access the proposed site. This is especially so with
all the vehicles parked on Didsbury Street, adjacent to Wardle Storey & further up on
the opposite side at certain times of the day by people attending the Mosque. I drive
down there quite often and 2 cars can't pass side by side. I suggest that someone
from the Planning Office takes a physical look at this. I am happy to meet someone
there.
3. The building of Carl Fogarty Way has taken a considerable amount of traffic away
from our Residential area (One of the reasons for Carl Fogarty way being built was to
reduce traffic). The building of these 2 units will undoubtedly bring more traffic back
to the area, especially if access is via Hereford Rd, onto Didsbury Street. Drivers will
also use Burnley Road as a "Cut Through" from Whitebirk, instead of using Carl
Fogarty Way.
4. Hereford Road is already heavily congested at times with HGVs going to Wardle
Storey. You only need to look at the road surface between the junction of Burnley
Road & Leicester Road to see the damage that HGVs have done. Allowing more HGV
access along this stretch of road will make this even worse. With points 2, 3 & 4 in
mind, if this goes ahead, don't you think that access via Burnley Road would be
better?
5. The Application states that the use of the Units is unknown. Firstly, how can you
allow for Planning permission for unknown usage? Are the 2 units sub-sectioned off
into Multiple units? & are 35 car parking spaces enough or too much for units of this
size, when you don't know how many Employees will be working there.
6. The details on the Noise Assessment report from "Red Acoustics" (RO97-REP01) is
incorrect. It shows Didsbury St being where Hereford Rd is & Vice-verse. The report

Page 101

also states that location NSP3 borders Hereford Rd, but on the diagram NSP3 is
where the flats are on Disbury St. Again, the diagram shows NSP2 right on our house,
not near the main arterial route as stated. How can anyone say at this moment in
time what the noise levels will be, when you don't know what the Units are to be
used for?
7. There are still quite a number of empty units within Blackburn and even within a 1
mile radius of this site. I still don't see the requirement for more units, especially if
you don't have any clientshat the Units are to be used for?
There are still quite a number of empty units within Blackburn and even within a 1 mile radius of this
site. I still don't see the requirement for more units, especially if you don't have any clients

Page 102

Agenda Item 4.4
REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/22/0371

Proposed development: Variation/Removal of Condition/Minor Material
Amendment for Variation of Condition No.1 pursuant to planning application
10/21/0597 -"Approval of reserved matters for the appearance, layout, scale
and landscaping of the employment units 1, 2 and 3, pursuant to permission
10/18/1149" - revisions to the scale and design relating to Plot 3
Site address:
Land at Greenbank Terrace
Lower Darwen
Blackburn
Applicant: Barnfield Blackburn Ltd
Ward: Blackburn South & Lower Darwen
Councillor John Slater
Councillor Jacqueline Slater
Councillor Denise Gee
9
FT
RO
RC
IA
BR

26

11

22

10

95

23
24

120.1m

1

2

13

Lower Darwen

15
11

14

Primary School

53

7
10

MOORCROFT
55

12
K
AN
B
N
EE
R
G

58
9
11

E
C
RA
R
TE

61

1

Greenbank Barn
Issues
60

2

m)
h (u
Pat

M
IL
KIN
G

LA
NE
3

63

en
rw
Da
er
Riv

66

64

G
KIN
MIL
NE
LA

120.7m

67

ath)
(P

Warehouse

73

h
Pat

)
m
(u

FB

El Sub Sta
120.3m

12

1

VIS
CO
UN
T

AV
EN
UE

90

Brook

E
TERRAC

Field
Davy

ANK
GREENB

MILLBA
NK ROA
D

2

88

Weir

FB

20

15

121.3m

LA
DY

CL
OS
E

9

Weir
Brook

Davy Field

16

Weir

9

FB

ROAD

LOWER

L
ECCLESHIL

M65
Ward

Bdy

ET
L

Ward Bdy
CR

Drain

127.3m

SM

SM

SM

Balancing Pond

Page 103

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – Subject to conditions; as set out in paragraph 4.1.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1

This application is presented to Committee on account of the application
being a significant major planning application, and the Council’s interest in the
land, in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation in the Council’s
Constitution.

2.2

Reserved Matters (RM) were approved by the Committee in October 2021 for
3 industrial units (Plots 1-3), pursuant to a hybrid planning permission
10/18/1149 granted by the Committee in February 2020.

2.3

The proposed scale of unit 3 has now been reduced, so the approved
drawings for the plot site plan, floor plan and elevations for Plot 3 require
changing to suit the current designs.

2.4

This is a S73 application, seeking the variation of condition 1 (approved plans)
of RM approval 10/21/0597. All the other conditions pursuant to 10/21/0597
will be re-attached to this decision notice.

2.5

Members are advised that matters pertaining to the assessment of this RM
application are limited to appearance; landscaping; layout and scale of Unit 3.
The acceptability of all other aspects of the proposal has already been
established under 10/21/0597.

2.6

Approval of the revised scheme for Unit 3 will allow positive progress to be
made towards the re-development of the whole site. Assessment of the
application finds that the proposed scheme is acceptable, and will assist in
meeting the Council’s strategic aims and objectives, including economic
growth, and the regeneration benefits from bringing this visually prominent site
in to viable use.

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 Unit 3 lies within the red edge of the wider development site, comprising 9.45
hectares, which was approved by hybrid application 10/18/1149.

Page 104

MILKING

LANE
21

5

27

2

14

4

1

WAY

1
14

ONS
BAR

23

28

2
6

2

2

6
33
LEA
CRO
FT

40

Farfield
Farm

10

Def

19

12

38

15

37

ELD
FARFI

FT
CRO
DOW
MEA

18

11a

1

11

15

DRIVE

11
2

M P 22. 0

32

43

20
45

83

9
OFT
RCR
BRIA

26

11

22

10
23

95

24

1
27

2

Lower Darwen

15
11

Primary School

53

107

MOORCROFT
55

12
ANK
a
119

E
RAC
TER

58

ENB
GRE

119

61

1

G r eenbank Bar n

14

I ssues
Path

(um)
60

LAN

2

MIL
KIN
G

E

10

Ri

3

63

Boro Const

en
rw
r Da
ve

66
1

El Sub St a

Bdy

64

NE
LA

CRESCENT

G
IN
LK
MI

120.7m

67

KNI
GHT

)
ath
(P
73
2

FB

Pat h ( um)

75

Path

85

80

El Sub St a

120.3m
El Sub St a

88

Weir

2

89

12

1

VISC
OUN
T

AVE
NUE

90

Field Brook

NK TERRACE
GREENBA

Davy

(um)
Path

98
101

FB

2

20

15
1

121.3m
9
D'S
LOR

LADY

CLOS
E

2

CRESCENT

Weir

Brook

8

Davy Field

1

16

Weir
7

9

FB

Play Ar ea

Boro C onst Bdy

M65
Ward

Bdy

Ward Bdy

CR
Drain

127.3m

SP

SM

SM

SM

Balancing Pond
River Darwen

Tank

Tanks

3.1.2 Davyfield Brook runs to the North and East of lot 3, and substantial tree cover
screens the site from the East.
3.1.3 The whole wider site lies on a former paper mill and landfill site, to the
immediate south west of Milking Lane and to the north east of Greenbank
Terrace, Lower Darwen. A stream runs east-west through the site, leading to
the River Darwen via a culvert which runs under Greenbank Terrace to the
west of the site. To the immediate north of the site is Lower Darwen Primary
School and to the north and east are modern residential developments.
3.1.4 The site is linked to junction 4 of the M65 motorway via the Eccleshill Link
Road to the west via Greenbank Terrace.
3.1.5 Plot 3 is located along the south western edge of the site, as shown below:

Page 105

3.1.6 The 10/18/1149 Outline planning permission established the principle for a
mixed use development, and RM approval was granted under 10/21/0597.
Plot 3, like the other employment plots, is separated from the residential
parcels above to the north / east by the steep topography of the site.
3.1.7 A phasing plan was submitted which shows when the plots are expected to be
brought forward (Unit 3 in purple in the image below).

3.2

Proposed Development

Page 106

3.2.1 This is a S73 application to vary condition 1 (approved plans) of the Reserved
Matters (namely appearance; landscaping; layout and scale) approval
10/21/0597. Therefore all the other conditions pursuant to 10/21/0597 will be
re-attached to this decision notice.
3.2.2 Members are advised that matters pertaining to the assessment of this RM
application are limited to appearance; landscaping; layout and scale of Unit 3
only. The acceptability of all other aspects/units have already been
established under the outline and RM approvals. The use for plot 3 is
restricted to Class B2/B8.
3.2.3 The only material amendment to the previously approved scheme is that the
scale (floorspace, and depth) of unit 3 has been reduced. Further detail is
provided below.
3.2.4 The proposed site / floor plans, elevations, and site photos for Unit 3, are
shown below. These are shown alongside the plans previously approved,
which assists in highlighting the amendments now proposed.
Plot 3 (Class B2/B8 use) – general industrial/storage and distribution:
3.2.5 Unit 3 previously comprised 13,725sqft (1,275sqm) floorspace, with access
from Lower Ecclesfield Road at the southernmost part of the development
site. Access will remain the same, but with a revised floorspace of circa 930.9
sqm (a reduction of circa 345sqm).
Plot 3 Site plan

Proposed site plan (Unit 3)

Previously approved plan

Plot 3 floor plan

Page 107

Proposed floor plan, Unit 3

Previously approved plan

3.2.6 Unit 3 previously measured circa 30m x 43m. The revised dimensions would
measure circa 22m x 43m, a reduction (in depth) of circa 8m.
Plot 3 photos

Looking south towards Plot 3 (taken from the new access road)

Page 108

Looking into Plot 3 from the existing access on Lower Eccleshill Road

Looking into Plot 3 from Lower Eccleshill Road

Page 109

Existing access into Plot 3, Lower Eccleshill Road
Plot 3 elevations
3.2.8 The previously approved plans had a similar modern appearance to Units 1
and 2, with an eaves height of 7m, rising to just over 8m at the ridge. The
revised elevations would be the same height to the eaves and ridge, and the
same modern appearance and materials would also be retained.

Proposed elevations, Unit 3

Previously approved elevations

3.3
Development Plan
3.3.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
that applications be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
3.3.2 The Development Plan comprises the Blackburn With Darwen Core Strategy
and adopted Local Plan Part 2 – Site Allocations and Development

Page 110

Management Policies. In determining the current proposal the following are
considered to be the most relevant policies:
3.3.3 Core Strategy
Policy CS1: A Targeted Growth Strategy
Policy CS2: Typology of Employment Lane
Policy CS3: Land for Employment Development
Policy CS4: Protection and reuse of employment sites
Policy CS13: Environmental Strategy
Policy CS15: Protection and Enhancement of Ecological Assets
Policy CS16: Form and Design of New Development
Policy CS18: The Borough’s Landscapes
3.3.4 Local Plan Part 2 (LPP2) (December 2015):








3.4

Policy 1: The Urban Boundary
Policy 7: Sustainable and Viable Development
Policy 8: Development and People
Policy 9: Development and the Environment
Policy 10: Accessibility and Transport
Policy 11: Design
Policy 28: Development Opportunities
Policy 41: Landscape

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (The Framework) (2021)
3.4.2 The Framework sets out the government’s aims and objectives against which
planning policy and decision making should be considered.
3.5

Assessment

3.5.1 This S73 application is a minor material amendment to Unit 3 only, and is
assessed in the context of it being a Reserved Matters approval, limited to the
following matters:
• Appearance: Aspects of a building or place which affect the way it looks,
including the exterior of the development.
• Layout: Includes buildings, routes and open spaces within the development
and the way they are laid out in relation to buildings, routes and open space
outside the development.
• Scale: Includes information on the size of the development, including the
height, width and length of each proposed building.
• Landscaping: The improvement or protection of the amenities of the site
and the surrounding area; this could include planting trees or hedges as a
screen.

Page 111

3.5.2 The hybrid / outline approval for this site allows for 9,000sqm of employment
use and careers hub (B1/B2/B8/D1). The proposed amendment to Unit 3
would slightly reduce the previously approved floor space of Unit 3, and is not
in conflict with the hybrid/outline approval.
3.5.3 The units were initially designed as speculative with indicative sub division
indicated for marketing purposes. The proposed amendment better reflects
the bespoke market demand for this unit.
Appearance
3.5.4 Appearance is considered against Policy 11 of LPP2, which requires a good
standard of design and will be expected to enhance and reinforce the
established character of the locality and demonstrate an understanding of the
wider context towards making a positive contribution to the local area. This
includes enhance and reinforcing the established character of a locality. Key
aspects of character which must be taken into account are the following:
i) Existing topography, buildings and landscape features and their integration
into the development;
ii) Layout and building orientation to make best use of existing connections,
landmarks and views;
iii) Building shapes, plot and block sizes, styles colours and materials that
contribute to the character of streets and use these to complement character;
iv) Height and building line of the established area;
v) Relationship of the buildings to the street; and
vi) Frontage treatment such as boundary walls.
3.5.5 The appearance of Unit 3 would be very similar to the previously approved
scheme, and would be in keeping with the other units. The unit has been
designed using high quality contemporary metal faced cladding materials in
varying arrangements which are robust and reflect the industrial nature of the
units. The use of different profile cladding materials breaks up the massing of
the buildings.
3.5.6 The proposal also uses the topography of the site to good effect and respects
the character and history of the site and wider area. The 1.8m high paladin
fence, whilst being slightly realigned, is considered appropriate boundary
treatment, and would integrate appropriately into the street scene.
Accordingly, the proposed appearance of the development is found to be
acceptable.
Layout
3.5.7 Layout is assessed against Policy 11, as well as Policies 8 and 10.

Page 112

3.5.8 Policy 8 requires a satisfactory level of amenity and safety is secured for
surrounding uses and for occupants or users of the development itself; with
reference to privacy / overlooking, and the relationship between buildings,
including adequate daylight and sunlight admission.
3.5.9 As noted above, the proposed unit would be appropriately sited, on the same
footprint as the previous RM approval, and would not be detrimental to the
street character.
3.5.10 The layout of Unit 3 has been designed around the approved / existing access
point from Lower Ecclesfield Road.
3.5.11 The unit would be self-contained development with its own service yard and
car parking surrounded by landscaping. The position of the unit and boundary
treatment achieves an acceptable relationship with the other units and the
nearby residential properties, thereby ensuring acceptable levels of amenity.
Access
3.5.12 Access does not form part of this RM application. The link road and access
points were approved under the outline approval 10/18/1149. However, the
internal movements, servicing and parking provision etc. within each plot still
needs to be considered when assessing the layout at this stage.
3.5.13 Assessment of access arrangements and other highway matters are
considered against Policy 10 of LPP2, which requires that road safety and the
safe, efficient and convenient movement of all highway users is not
prejudiced, and that appropriate provision is made for off street servicing and
parking in accordance with the Council’s adopted standards.
3.5.14 The proposal is considered acceptable from a highway safety and efficiency
perspective, following review of the submitted layout by the Council’s
Highways consultee.
3.5.15 Unit 3 (Class B2/B8 use) would have the following parking provision: 19
spaces, including 2 mobility spaces. The parking provision meets the
requirements set out in the adopted BwD parking standards.
3.5.16 The access, parking and movements associated with Unit 3 is therefore
considered acceptable, and complies with Policy 10 of the Local Plan; the
adopted parking standards; and the NPPF.
Scale
3.5.17 The scale of the proposed unit, at slightly less than what was previously
approved, is appropriate for this location and topography. The scale of the
building and plot would be relative to its use, and reflect current market
demands.
3.5.18 The internal layout would comprise a large open warehouse/ production
space. It would have an eaves height of circa 7m, the ridge rising to circa 8m.

Page 113

This is the same height as previously approved. The relatively small eaves
and ridge heights reflect the plan size of the unit and ensures the building sits
neatly within the topography of the site and the local area.
3.5.19 Accordingly, the proposed scale of the development is found to be
acceptable.
Landscaping
3.5.20 No changes are proposed to the approved landscaping detail.
3.5.21 The proposed hard and soft landscaping treatments within the plot have been
designed to form a shared concrete service yard, car parking and footpaths,
with boundary treatment comprising a 1.8m high paladin fence.
3.5.22 Accordingly, the proposed landscaping is considered acceptable, and the
proposal complies with Policy 11 of the Local Plan.
Summary
3.5.23 In considering this proposal for a minor material amendment to the previously
approved plans under 10/21/0597, the relevant range of material
considerations have been taken into account to inform a balanced
recommendation that is considered to demonstrate compliance with the aims
and objectives of the Local Development Plan and The Framework.
3.5.24 As this is a S73 application, all the conditions pursuant to application
10/21/0597 will be imposed on this decision notice. This approval relates to a
material amendment to planning application 10/21/0597, and there is no
obligation for the applicant to formally apply for any conditions that have been
previously discharged in writing by the local planning authority.
4.0

RECOMMENDATION
Approve.

4.1

Delegated authority is given to the Strategic Director of Place to approve
planning permission, subject to the following conditions:
1. Unless explicitly required by condition within this consent, the development
hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the
proposals as detailed on drawings:
Job no. 18.107, Dwg no. 001 B: Location Plan, @1.
Job no. 18.107, Dwg no. 022 C: Plot 1 Site Layout, @ A1.
Job no. 18.107, Dwg no. 023 D: Plot 2 Site Layout, @ A1.
Job no. 18.107.05, Dwg no. 004 G: Plot 3 Proposed Site Plan, @ A1.
Dwg no. GAV029-001: Landscape General Arrangement, @ A0.
Dwg no. GAV027-002L: Plot 1 Landscape Layout, @ A0.
Dwg no. GAV027-003: Plot 2 Landscape Layout, @ A0.

Page 114

Dwg no. GAV027-004: Plot 3 Landscape Layout, @ A0.
Job no. 18.107, Dwg no. 019 A: Site 1 Floor Plans, @ A1.
Job no. 18.107, Dwg no. 020 A: Site 2 Floor Plans, @ A0.
Job no. 18.107.03, Dwg no. 001 D: Unit 3 Proposed Floor Plans, @ A1.
Job no. 18.107, Dwg no. 017 B: Site 1 Elevations, @ A1.
Job no. 18.107, Dwg no. 018 B: Site 2 Elevations, @ A0.
Job no. 18.107.03, Dwg no. 002 F: Unit 3 Proposed Elevations, @A1.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify which plans are relevant
to the consent.
2. Unit 1 shall only be used for the purposes included within Class E (g) of The
Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), and for
no other purpose, including any other purpose in Class E of the Town and
Country Planning Use Classes (Amendment) Order 2005.
REASON: To ensure appropriate parking levels in in accordance with the
Council's adopted standards, and to safeguard the amenities of occupiers of
residential properties in the area, in accordance with Policies 8 and 10 of the
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
3. Prior to occupation of Units 1, 2 and 3, full details of the access gates for each
plot, including how and when the gates will be operational, shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the
gates shall be installed and retained in accordance with the approved details.
REASON: To provide for the safety and convenience of users of the highway,
for the free flow of traffic, in accordance with Policy 10 of the Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
4. Cycle storage detailed on plans Job no. 18.107, Dwg nos. 022 C; 023 D; and
015M shall be implemented prior to occupation of the plots, and retained in
accordance with the approved details.
REASON: To provide for safe sustainable travel options, in accordance with
Policy 10 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
5. No construction shall commence on Plot 3 (including any earthworks) until
details of the means of ensuring the water main/s laid within the site boundary
are protected from damage as a result of the development have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
details shall include:
•
a survey that identifies the exact location of the water main;
•
the potential impacts on the water main/s from construction activities
(including any construction compound);
•
the impacts post completion of the development on the water main
infrastructure that crosses the site and identify necessary mitigation
measures;

Page 115

•
a timetable for implementation to protect and prevent any damage to
the water main infrastructure both during construction and post completion of
the development; and
•
a pre construction condition survey.
A post construction survey shall be provided within 3 months of completion of
the development.
Any mitigation measures shall be implemented in full prior to commencement
of development on Plot 3 in accordance with the approved details and
timetable and shall be retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development.
In the event that the survey of the water main/s identify the buildings/plots as
within a 5m standoff either side of the main (10m in total), the developer shall
submit evidence to the Local Planning Authority that a diversion has been
agreed with the relevant statutory undertaker and that the approved works
have been undertaken prior to the commencement of development of the
affected plot.
REASON: In the interest of public health and to ensure protection of the public
water supply, in accordance with Policy 9 of the Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Local Plan Part 2.
6. The noise rating level arising from the commercial/industrial premises shall
not exceed 50dB(A) at residential premises. Assessment shall be made in
accordance with BS4142:2014 'Methods for rating and assessing industrial
and commercial sound'.
REASON: To protect neighbouring residents from any adverse amenity due to
noise from the site in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Local Plan Part 2.
7. The approved uses shall be restricted to the following times:
Monday to Sunday: 07:00 - 23:00 hours.
Any variation of the above hours restriction must be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To protect neighbouring residents from any adverse amenity due to
noise from the site in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Local Plan Part 2.
8. The external walling and roofing materials to be used in the construction of
the development hereby permitted shall be as specified in the approved
details referred to in Condition No.1.
REASON: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is
satisfactory in accordance with Policy 11 of the Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Local Plan Part 2.

Page 116

9. Prior to occupation of each of the units hereby approved, final layouts of car
parking and servicing areas for each plot shall be submitted for approval, laid
out in accordance with the approved details and thereafter permanently
retained.
REASON: To ensure the servicing and parking arrangements for each plot
are fully available for use at the time of occupation of the buildings, in
accordance with Policy 10 of the Blackburn With Darwen Borough Local Plan
Part 2, and the adopted Blackburn With Darwen parking standards.
5.0

PLANNING HISTORY

5.1

10/22/0097 - Discharge Condition No 3 "revised flood risk assessment"
pursuant to planning application 10/21/0597. (Condition Discharged).

5.2

10/22/0096 - Discharge Condition Nos 22 "Construction Method Statement",
23 "ecological surveys and mitigation", 24 "Biodiversity and Habitat
Management Plan", 27 "foul and surface water drainage scheme", 28
"surface water construction phase management plan", 29 management and
maintenance plan for sustainable drainage system", 33 "design and
construction details of highway improvements to M65 Junction 4 circulatory
and signals", 38 "scheme for de-culverting of Davyfield Drain", 39 "hydraulic
model and flood risk report", 40 "existing and proposed ground levels", 41
"flood resilient scheme", 42 "remediation strategy", and 45 "arboricultural
method statement" pursuant to planning application 10/18/1149. (Under
consideration).

5.3

10/21/1432 - Discharge Condition Nos 2 "written agreement relating to the offsite highway works", 5 "Construction & Environmental Management Plan", 6
"scheme for the management and maintenance of the proposed streets", 7
"full engineering, drainage, street lighting and constructional details of the
streets", 9 "landscaping scheme", 10 "lighting scheme", 11 "scheme for the
site entrance" pursuant to reserved matters planning application 10/21/1001.
(Under consideration).

5.4

10/21/1424 - Discharge of Condition Nos 19(part) "S106 Agreement", 20(part)
"swept path analysis", 21(part) "movement strategy", 22(part) "Construction
Method Statement", 23(part) "Ecological surveys and mitigation plans",
24(part) "Landscape and Habitat Creation and Management Plan", 25(part)
"Landscaping Scheme", 26 (part) "Noise impact assessment of both
employment uses and existing ambient traffic noise", 27 (part) "Foul and
surface water drainage scheme", 28(part) "Surface Waters construction phase
management plan", 29(part) "Management and maintenance plan for the
sustainable drainage system", 37 (part) "Travel Plan", 38 "Scheme for the deculverting of Davyfield Drain", 39 "Hydraulic model and flood risk report", 40
(part) "existing and proposed ground levels", 41 "Flood resilient scheme",
42(part) "Remediation strategy", 44(part) "Future management and
maintenance of the proposed streets", 45(part) "Tree survey" and 46(part)

Page 117

"Future management and maintenance of the proposed streets" pursuant to
hybrid planning application 10/18/1149. (Under consideration).
5.5

10/21/1112 - Formation of additional car parking and landscaping to plot 1
pursuant to reserved matters application 10/21/0597. (Approved).

5.6

10/21/1001 – Application for Approval of reserved matters for the appearance,
layout, scale and landscaping of 76 dwellings, pursuant to permission
10/18/1149. (Approved).

5.7

10/21/0597 - Approval of reserved matters for the appearance, layout, scale
and landscaping of the employment units 1, 2 and 3, pursuant to permission
10/18/1149. (Approved).

5.8

10/20/0627 - DOC application for conditions 1-15 of the full application part
(access road) of the hybrid approval 10/18/1149. (All complied with /
discharged).

5.9

10/18/1149 - Hybrid Planning Application - Full planning permission - new link
road and access points; Outline planning permission with all matters reserved
(with all matters reserved except for access) for a mixed use development
comprising a maximum of the following: 100 dwellings (C3), 9,000m2 of
employment use and careers hub (B1/B2/B8/D1), and associated ancillary
works. (Approved 20/02/20, subject to various conditions).

5.10 10/18/0911 – Demolition of 2 vacant office buildings. (Prior Approval not
required - 02/10/2018).
5.11 10/15/1119 - The erection of up to 180 dwellings, open space and associated
works including the construction of a link road together with the demolition of
the existing redundant office buildings. (Refused 17/11/2016 – S106
Agreement not completed).
5.9

10/10/0551 - Residential development and link road at land between Milking
Lane and Greenbank Terrace. (Approved with conditions 19/11/2012).

5.10 10/05/0317 - Redevelopment of the former Lower Darwen Paper Mill site to
create high quality Business Park. (Approved with conditions 28/06/2006).
6.0

CONSULTATIONS

6.1

Drainage / LLFA
No issues.

6.2

Highways
No objections.
The change resulting from altering the location of the building, provides a larger
turning space for servicing vehicles, this is welcomed.

Page 118

6.3

United Utilities
No comments offered.

6.4

Environment Agency
No objections (initial holding objection removed).
We objected to the variation of this condition in our response, reference
NO/2022/114447/01-L01, dated 20 May 2022, as it was unclear from the submitted
drawings, how close the proposed fencing would be to Davy Field Brook and the
impact it may have on fluvial flood flows adjacent to the site.
We have reviewed the revised drawing submitted with this application, reference,
Plot 3 Site Plan, job no. 18.107.05, drawing number 004G. We note the building
layout and positioning has changed slightly, as have some the external works and
parking spaces. Importantly for flood risk, the new 1.8m high paladin fence to the site
perimeter has been moved closer to the building and higher up the bank on the
western and northern sides. This is a positive amendment and reduces the chance of
detrimental impacts on flood risk.
We therefore remove our objection to the proposal to vary condition no.1.

6.5

Publicity
Given this is a S73 application for a material minor amendment, no
neighbours were consulted by letter.

6.6

However, a site notice was displayed on 04/05/22. A press notice was also
advertised in the local newspaper (Press notice 13/05/22).

6.7

No representations were received.

7.0

CONTACT OFFICER: Tom Wiggans – Planner, Development
Management.

8.0

DATE PREPARED: 08th July 2022

Page 119

Agenda Item 4.5
REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/22/0381

Proposed development: Full Planning Application (Retrospective) for Double
storey rear extension, single storey side extension and rear dormer retrospective - Amendment to planning application 10/21/0519
Site address:
104 Livingstone Road
Blackburn
BB2 6NE
Applicant: Fit4home Ltd
Ward: Wensley Fold
Councillor David Harling
Councillor Sabahat Imtiaz
Councillor Quesir Mahmood
22

19

28

21b

W ensley F old (VC)
C of E Primary School
23

38

25

G orse Mount

42

1 to 4
46

25a

96

27

124

110
114

118

122

53

51

63

1
6

5
10

67

75
79

W ain Court

16

1

4

E
FRENCH CLOS

12

OAD
CH R
FREN

2

24

11

11

20

El
Su b
Sta

2

101

Page 120

81

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – Subject to conditions, as set out in paragraph 4.1

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1.1 This application is reported to the Committee in accordance with the Chair
Referral Scheme of the Scheme of Delegation due to the number of
objections received from local residents, and because unauthorised works not
in accordance with the previously approved plans have already taken place,
which resulted in the Council serving a Stop Notice.
2.1.2 The scheme now submitted for assessment is the same as that previously
approved under 10/21/0519, but with the addition of a new flat roof dormer to
the rear roof plane; an additional small Velux type window to the front roof
plane; and a new window in the side elevation at second floor level (serving
the room in the roof space).
2.1.3 The applicant asserts that the unauthorised works will be rectified, and that all
future construction work will be entirely in accordance with the approved
plans.
2.1.4 5 objections were received to the proposal (2 of which were from the same
address). The issues raised in the letters of objection are addressed later in
this report.
2.1.5 Assessment of the application finds that, on balance, taking into consideration
all material considerations, the proposal is considered acceptable and
complies with the relevant policies. It is acknowledged that there would be
some impact as a result of the proposal, but there is an extant planning
permission for a similar scheme (i.e. without the rear dormer) and all that can
reasonably assessed as part of this present application are any additional
impacts arising from the dormer in the new/altered roof of the house.
2.1.6 In this context, when taking into consideration the impact the extant
permission already has, and the lack of any directly adjoining habitable room
windows in the rear elevations of the neighbouring dwellings, the proposed
new dormer is considered acceptable due its relatively small size and scale,
and its positioning (set well back from the eaves of the extended/altered roof
previously approved, and below the ridge line).
2.1.7 Therefore, in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable
development as set out in the NPPF, the proposal is considered acceptable.
3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

Page 121

3.1.1 The application property is a link detached house situated within a row of
similar properties in the inner urban area of Blackburn, on the north side of
Livingstone Road.
3.1.2 To the rear of the houses in this row of properties are small flat patio areas,
then long gardens that rise steeply upwards towards Wensley Fold C of E
School (which is screened by dense tree cover) to the north. The site lies
within in a coal low risk area.
3.1.3 Aerial view

3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 The proposal involves the construction of a new roof to the house, resulting in
a higher ridge line (set back further away from the highway) and a double
storey rear extension, together with a single storey side extension (in front and
behind the existing garage). The current proposal also includes a new dormer
within the new/altered rear facing roof plane of the house.
3.2.2 The only material difference to the previously approved scheme under
10/21/0519, is the introduction of the new flat roof rear dormer, with a
horizontal measurement of 4.4m, and a maximum vertical measurement of
1.8m, set within the plane of the new/altered roof, and below the height of the
new/altered roof of the house. The proposal also includes an additional small
Velux type window to the front roof plane; and a new window in the side
elevation of the house at second floor level (to serve the room in the roof
space).
3.2.3 The works that have so far taken place on site are not in accordance with the
previously approved plans, and are therefore unauthorised. The applicant also
served a Certificate A on the original approval, but given they have tied the
extension on to, and encroached beyond, the corner of the adjoining property
(102 Livingstone Road) at the front, this encroachment will be removed to
ensure compliance with the previous planning permission.
3.2.4 The applicant has asserted that all unauthorised works will be rectified, and
for this reason (in view of the works required on adjoining land), a Certificate
B has been served for this current application.

Page 122

3.2.5 Shown below are the existing plans (i.e the house as was, before the
unauthorised works commenced); the previously approved scheme (the
extant planning permission under 10/21/0519); and the plans now proposed in
this current application:
3.2.6 Existing plans and elevations (i.e. the house as existed, prior to the
unauthorised works commencing on site):

3.2.7 Previously approved plans and elevations (i.e. the extant planning permission,
as approved under 10/21/0519):

Page 123

3.2.8 Proposed plans and elevations (i.e. as now proposed in this present
application):

Page 124

3.2.9 Site photos, from front (note the unauthorised encroachment on to the corner
of 102 Livingstone Road, on the right of the photos, which will be removed) photos taken 10/06/22:

3.2.10 Site photos, from rear (note that the partly constructed rear “dormer”, which is
essentially a second floor extension, is unauthorised, and will be removed) photos taken 10/06/22:

Application site on the left, and 106 Livingstone Rd on the right.

Page 125

Application site on the left, and 106 Livingstone Rd on the right.

Application site on the right, and 102 Livingstone Rd on the left.
3.3

Development Plan

3.3.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
that applications be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
3.3.2 The Development Plan comprises of the Core Strategy (2011) and Local Plan
Part 2 – Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (2015). In
determining the current proposal the following are considered to be the most
relevant policies.
Core Strategy (2011)
Policy CS16: Form and Design of New Development
BwD Local Plan Part 2 (2015)
Policy 1: The Urban Boundary
Policy 8: Development & People
Policy 10: Accessibility & Transport
Policy 11: Design
Other material considerations
Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
BwD Parking Standards
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

3.4

Assessment

3.4.1 In assessing this full application
considerations are taken into account:

the

Page 126

following

important

material







3.5

Principle of proposal / material considerations
Visual Amenity / Design
Residential Amenity
Highways / Parking
Protected species
Other matters raised in neighbour objections

Principle of proposal / material considerations

3.5.1 The proposed development is very much the same as the previous planning
approval under 10/21/0519, but with the addition of the following:
i)
A flat roof dormer to the new/amended rear roof plane of the house;
ii)
An additional small Velux type window to the front roof plane; and
iii)
A new window in the side elevation at second floor level (serving the
room in the roof space).
3.5.2 The context of this application is that works were commenced following the
previous approval but the development was not constructed in accordance
with the approved plans. Once alerted to this, the Council served a Stop
Notice requiring works to cease.
3.5.3 In their supporting statement for this application, the agent acting on behalf of
the applicant explains that;
“The applicant commenced the development of the approved works but at the
same time had also commenced the erection of a rear dormer under the
mistaken belief.. that the “dormer” amounted to permitted development. It is
clear that for various reasons, the dormer that was being erected would not
have comprised permitted development. The applicant was accordingly
served with a temporary stop notice and was invited to re-submit an
application to regularise the matter.
Rather than re-submitting an application to seek approval for the scale &
nature of the partially erected dormer, the applicant wishes to remove the
unlawful dormer timber frame work and instead erect a much smaller dormer
as illustrated on the submitted drawings. It is of relevance to note that the
scale and nature of the currently proposed 50 cubic metre dormer would
accord with all relevant provisions and criteria of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class B
of the General Permitted Development (England) Order 2015. In this respect,
if the applicant lawfully completed the development for which planning
permission was granted under 10/21/0519, he could then erect the dormer
under permitted development rights. This would however be a most
unnecessary and costly process and as such it would be much more
sustainable to erect the dormer as part of an approved application. I trust that
this ‘fall position’ would amount to a significant material consideration to be
taken into account for the determination of this application.
As the proposed development (other than for the proposed dormer) is the
same as that for which planning permission has already been granted,
matters relating to visual amenity / design considerations, highways / parking

Page 127

and protected species (all as referred to in the delegated decision officer
report) should again be acceptable and in accordance with relevant
development plan policies and material planning considerations.”
3.5.4 The above comments, whilst not wholly accurate in relation to permitted
development rights (the maximum volume would be exceeded), are a material
consideration in the determination of this application. These issues, and
others, are addressed below.
3.6

Visual Amenity / Design considerations

3.6.1 CS Policy 16 and LP Policy 11 require a good standard of design and an
understanding of the site’s wider context. The Design SPD, in relation to
siting, scale and appearance, reinforces this.
3.6.2 In particular, RES E13 of the SPD states that dormers should be lower than
the ridge of the existing roof and set in from the front and sides of the existing
roof.
3.6.3 This proposal would result in little visual change to the previously approved
scheme, particularly when seen from the front. Works that benefit from the
extant permission under 10/21/0519, which again form part of this application,
include the following:
i)

Single storey extension, sited to the front and rear of the existing
garage (i.e. forming a continuation of its existing flat roof so as to bring
the extended building line level with the front elevation of the house);

ii)

Raising the ridge height of the existing house (taking it higher, and
taking the central ridge line further back, away from the highway), with
the increased footprint at the rear essentially creating a two storey rear
extension to the house.

3.6.4 The above mentioned works have all previously been approved under
10/21/0519 and therefore it is not considered reasonable to re-visit these
aspects of the scheme now, although it is acknowledged that these works will
have some detrimental impact on the character and appearance of both the
application property, and the wider street scene.
3.6.5 In this context therefore, the only material aspect of the proposal that can
reasonably be assessed in this current application is the impact of the new
rear dormer, which wasn’t included in the original approval, and would sit
within the new/altered roof plane of the house.
3.6.6 RES E13 of the SPD states that dormers should be lower than the ridge of the
existing roof and set in from the front and sides of the existing roof. The
proposed dormer would be set in significantly (circa 2m) from the eaves of the
roof, with its flat roof also being below the ridge of the house. There would
also be slight gaps at either side, thereby meeting the requirements of the
SPD.

Page 128

3.6.7 A condition can be can attached to ensure the extension and dormer are
constructed from materials to match the existing house, including the dormer
face and cheeks to be clad in a grey colour to match the existing roof tiles.
3.6.8 In the aforementioned context of the extant permission, the visual impact of
the dormer in isolation is considered acceptable, thereby complying with RES
E13 of the Design SPD, and CS Policy 16 and LP Policy 11.
3.6.9 Furthermore, the proposed addition of a second velux window to the roof at
the front, and the introduction of an additional window on the side gable,
would not have any unacceptable visual detrimental impacts on the host
dwelling or the wider street scene.
3.7

Residential amenity

3.7.1 LP Policy 8 and the Residential Design SPD require a satisfactory level of
amenity for surrounding occupants in terms of light, privacy and overlooking.
3.7.2 A number of objections have been received from neighbours, citing the impact
on neighbour amenity, including loss of light, outlook etc.
3.7.3 It is acknowledged that the size, scale and massing of the previously
approved scheme will have some detrimental overbearing impact on the
residential amenity of occupiers of the adjacent properties, predominantly due
to its size, scale and massing, which would affect outlook and light to the patio
areas of neighbouring properties in particular.
3.7.4 However, the additional impact of the proposed dormer, in isolation, would
only be minimal. There are no ground floor habitable room windows in either
of the immediately adjoining properties that are sited directly adjacent the two
storey element of the proposal.
3.7.5 It is acknowledged that the orientation of this row of properties on the north
side of Livingstone Road is not favourable in terms of loss of light to the
outside patio areas, including properties further down the row. However, given
the context of the extant permission, which is a significant material
consideration, and noting that the dormer would be set back well within the
new roof plane and below the ridge line, it is considered that the dormer would
not materially exacerbate the impact on neighbour amenity to an extent that is
considered unacceptable.
3.7.6 A number of objections have been received which raised amenity impacts as
a concern, including loss of outlook, light, and direct sunlight (particularly to
the patio areas). The impact on the two properties most affected (i.e the
directly adjoining neighbours to either side), is assessed in more detail below.
Impact on 102 Livingstone Rd
3.7.7 To the rear of 102 Livingstone Rd, the openings nearest to the boundary on the
rear elevation of the house are kitchen/dining room patio doors at ground floor,

Page 129

and a bedroom window at first floor level. There are no habitable room windows
in the side gable elevation of 102 Livingstone Rd.
3.7.8 However, the two storey element of the extension (including the new dormer) is
positioned further away from the boundary, due to the link garage / proposed
single storey extension sitting in-between the main houses. As a result, it is not
considered that the impact of the new dormer would be overbearing. Any
additional impact that may arise in terms of loss of light, outlook or privacy, on the
occupiers of no. 102 as a result of the new dormer, is considered acceptable.
3.7.9 To the front, the applicant has stated that any unauthorised encroachment on to /
in front of no. 102 Livingstone Road will be removed. This encroachment can be
seen in the images below.

Impact on 106 Livingstone Rd
3.7.10 To the rear of 106 Livingstone Rd, the openings nearest to the boundary on the
rear elevation is the link garage window, which belongs to no. 106, but is sited in-

Page 130

between the two houses. In the main house, there is only a side door belonging
to the kitchen which faces the proposed extension, and there are no habitable
room windows in the side gable elevation.
3.7.11 Beyond the link garage, the nearest window at ground floor level in the rear
elevation of the main house is one of two windows that serve an open plan
kitchen/diner, whilst at first floor level there is a bedroom window.
3.7.12 The two storey extension directly abuts the patio area of 106 Livingstone Rd, and
the main impact on the occupiers of this property is the scale and massing of the
two storey extension.
3.7.13 However, the extant permission has already approved the footprint; the two
storey bulk; and the height of the extension. The new dormer now included in the
current proposal would be set back a considerable amount from the eaves, and
would not give rise to any materially greater impacts over and above the
previously approved scheme to be considered unacceptable.

3.7.14 Other than the introduction of the new dormer, the only other alterations to the
previously approved scheme are the addition of an extra velux window to the
front roof, which would not have any detrimental impact on amenity, and the
introduction of a new window on the side elevation of the loft room (in addition
to the windows on the side elevation previously approved).
3.7.15 Given there are no habitable room windows on the adjacent gable ends of the
adjacent properties, the introduction of new windows would not give rise to
any significant privacy concerns. However, a condition can be attached for all
windows on the side elevations to be obscurely glazed, to ensure no
unacceptable overlooking occurs.
3.7.16 Access to the rear garden would remain unaltered; there is no external access
presently. The properties have long gardens, and the proposal is not considered
over development.

3.7.17 To summarise, the application must be determined in accordance with the
development plan, taking any other material considerations into account. This
includes the fall back position of what could be built under an extant planning
permission (as is the case in this application) as well as what could potentially
be constructed under permitted development rights, for example.
3.7.18 On balance, giving due consideration to the context of this application, any
additional impact of the proposal on amenity (i.e. impacts arising from the
addition of the new flat roof dormer), would only be minimal, and the proposal
is therefore considered acceptable on this basis.
3.7.19 It is therefore considered that the proposal complies with the requirements of
LP Policy 8 and the Residential Design SPD.
3.8

Highways / parking

Page 131

3.8.1 Policy 10 requires highway safety is not compromised, and that there is an
adequate level of parking. The BwD Parking Standards require 2 parking
spaces for 3 bedroom dwellings.
3.8.2 The BwD Parking Standards require 3 parking spaces for 4 bedroom dwellings,
and the proposal would result in additional loft space which could be used as a
bedroom. However, for 4+bedroom properties, the on-site requirement would
remain at 3 parking spaces.
3.8.3 The principle of this development has already been established, and the parking
provision was previously considered acceptable. Nothing will change as a result
of this application. The proposed scheme does not increase the number of
bedrooms previously approved, or reduce the proposed parking provision.
3.8.4 Assessment of the previous application explained that whilst the existing garage
would be converted into living accommodation (resulting in a net loss of one
space), even with the extension there is ample parking space at the front of the
house for at least 3 cars; the whole area in front of the house is already paved
and is currently used for parking. Furthermore, there are no parking restrictions
along Livingstone Road, and on street parking outside the house is possible.
3.8.5 Highway safety would not be compromised, and compliance with Policy 10 and
the BwD Parking Standards is therefore achieved.
3.9

Protected species

3.9.1 The impact on protected species was again assessed under the previous
approval and is unchanged for this current application.
3.9.2 A full ecological survey / bat survey was undertaken, and there are no
requirements for any further surveys or mitigation. An appropriate informative can
be attached.

3.10

Other matters raised in neighbour objections

3.10.1 The proposal prompted a number of objections from neighbours, which have
mostly been referred to in the assessment of this application (above).
However, a summary of the matters raised, and officer comments to each
issue raised, is set out below:
Residential amenity: Overbearing impact on amenity
3.10.2 This is covered in the assessment of neighbour amenity, above.
Loss of privacy and light to neighbours (particularly garden / patio) to the
side(s), and Wensley Fold School to the rear.
3.10.3 This is covered in assessment of neighbour amenity. Wensley Fold School is
a considerable distance away, on higher land, and screened by dense tree
cover. The proposal would have no detrimental impact on Wensley Fold
School.

Page 132

The rear elevations of these properties are facing north, and reduction in light
to the small patio areas (before the gardens rise steeply upwards) is majorly
affected. This applies to other properties in the row – not just the immediate
neighbours.
3.10.4 This is covered in the assessment of neighbour amenity.
Visual amenity / Street scene: not compatible with the surrounding houses –
including the raising of the roof which makes the property stand out from the
rest of the houses that are in the row of link detached properties.
3.10.5 This is covered in the assessment of visual amenity. Aside from the addition
of an extra velux window in the front roof plane, any works that affect the
street scene already benefit from an extant planning permission which is a
material consideration in the assessment of this application.
The front of the property adjoining to 102 has been brought forward and looks
completely out of place.
3.10.6 This is acknowledged, and the applicant states he will address the
unauthorised encroachment. However, the extant planning permission is a
material consideration in the determination of this application.
The design is not acceptable in terms of its size, scale and bulk.
3.10.7 This is covered in assessment of visual amenity. It is only considered
reasonable to assess the additional impact of the new dormer now proposed,
not to re-visit the whole development, which has already previously been
approved.
The roof of the house will be extended and a dormer is intended on the new
roof.
3.10.8 This is covered in the assessment of visual amenity.
The dormer does not constitute permitted development.
3.10.9 The dormer would not be classed as permitted development in this case as it
would be within a newly created roofspace (i.e. not the existing or original
roofspace) and, when combined with the cubic volume of the new dormer,
would exceed the volume allowance of 50 cubic metres under Part 1, Class B
(d) (ii) of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended).
The new application for a ‘dormer’ is not a dormer but a 3rd storey extension
at the rear of the property, including a higher ridge height on the existing
house.
3.10.10 The “dormer” being referred to above is unauthorised and was stopped part
way through construction on site. Planning permission is not sought for this
unauthorised structure.

Page 133

Engineering works are taking place in the garden which require planning
permission in their own right.
3.10.11 The works to the garden at the rear do not form part of this application. It
would appear they are structural /safety works and are not creating new land
levels or raised platforms that would necessarily require planning permission.
Notwithstanding this, any further investigation into these works would not
affect the outcome of this application.
Matching materials are not being used.
3.10.12 The applicant was asked about this, and the materials used, whilst not
identical to the existing house, are the best match he has been able to source.
These are considered acceptable.
Ongoing construction works are harming local amenity, and flora and fauna.
3.10.13 Any amenity issues arising from construction works, or damage to flora and
fauna, would be covered under separate legislation, and are not a material
consideration in the assessment of this planning application.
Consultation on the planning application (including the previous approval) was
not extensive enough.
3.10.14 Consultation was carried out in accordance with the requirements as
prescribed in article 15 of the Development Management Procedure Order (as
amended), and is considered reasonable and appropriate for a domestic
extension such as this. Refer to paragraph 6 of this report for full details of the
publicity undertaken for this application.
4.0

RECOMMENDATION

4.1

APPROVE subject to the conditions below:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this planning permission.
REASON: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. Unless explicitly required by condition within this consent, the development
hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the
proposals as detailed on drawings:
HAD3308-01: Location and site plan
PRJ011: Proposed Elevations REVISION 01
PRJ011: Proposed Floor Plans REVISION 01
PRJ011-PR-30-001: Existing and proposed front elevations, REVISION 00
PRJ011-PR-10-001: Existing and proposed site plans, REVISION 00
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify which plans are
relevant to the consent.

Page 134

3. Notwithstanding the submitted details, the external walling and roofing
materials to be used in the construction of the development hereby
permitted shall match those used in the existing building, including the
dormer cheeks and facings which shall match the colour of the roof tiles of
the house.
REASON: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is
satisfactory in accordance with Policy 11 of the Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Local Plan Part 2 and the adopted Blackburn with Darwen Design
Guide Supplementary Planning Document.
4. All new windows above ground floor level in the side elevations of the
house (at first floor level and in the loft space) shall be fitted with obscure
glazing (which shall have an obscurity rating of not less than 4 on the
Pilkington glass obscurity rating or equivalent scale). The windows shall
remain in that manner in perpetuity at all times unless otherwise agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure an adequate level of privacy is retained for
neighbouring residents, in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn With
Darwen Borough Local Plan.

5.0

PLANNING HISTORY

5.1

10/21/0519 - Double Storey Rear and Ground Floor Front Extension –
Approved

6.0

CONSULTATIONS

6.1.1 The planning application was received by the Local Planning Authority (LPA)
on 29/04/2022.
6.1.2 6 neighbours were notified about the proposed development by letter on 5th
May 2022, and 5 letters of objection were received (including 2 from the same
address).
6.13

The objections included representations from the occupiers of nos. 61, 100,
106, and 110 Livingstone Rd.

6.14

A summary of the comments received, with officer comments for each issue
raised, can be found at para 3.10 of this report.

7.0

CONTACT OFFICER: Tom Wiggans, Planner

8.0

DATE PREPARED: 08th July 2022

Page 135

9.0

SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS

Objection – Mr & Mrs Mercer, 61 Livingstone Road, Blackburn. Received: 18/05/2022.

Objection – Sadaquat & Shigufta Khan, 106 Livingstone Road, Blackburn. Received: 20/05/2022.

Objection to Planning Application 10/22/0381
(retrospective amendment to 10/21/0519)
We would like to object to the recently submitted planning application 10/22/0381, we had
previously submitted an objection to the application that was submitted for an extension
10/21/0519.
The grounds for our objection are based on the council’s guidance on acceptability:


is the development compatible with the surrounding area?



is the design acceptable in terms of bulk and size?



what is the effect of the development on daylight or sunlight on adjoining properties?



will the development result in a loss of privacy or amenity to the adjoining
properties? For example by overlooking residential properties.

Page 136

1. The development is not compatible with the surrounding houses - in the original
plans which we were surprised to find out had been approved included the raising of
the roof which would have made the property stand out from the rest of the houses
that are in the row of link detached properties. The front of the property adjoining to
102 has been brought forward and looks completely out of place. And not
compatible with the rest of the properties in the row. Please see attached Photo

2. The design is not acceptable in terms of its size and bulk the attached photograph
below highlights how far its extending in comparison to the other properties in the
same row. The initial planned double storey extension was completely blocking the
light from the small patio that we have. The new application for a ‘dormer’ which is
not a dormer but a 3rd storey extension at the rear of the property has further
increased the size of the already oversized development and will block even more
daylight.

Page 137

3. The development has had a huge impact on the daylight we get in our property and
our sitting space outside. When the work eventually finishes if we use our patio, we
will be sitting facing a brick wall. A further 3rd storey development ‘dormer’ will
further reduce light even more and make the view we have even more institutional.
Aside from the objections that have been made above - the owners blatant disregard for
his neighbours as well as his disregard for planning laws needs to be taken into account.
If the original approved plans did not have a huge 3rd storey extension in them how can
that construction have been made in a misguided understanding that it constituted a
‘dormer’ the original plans had a raised roof with a vertical window in the roof not what
is being constructed. If we neighbours had not alerted the local authority to this, the
owner of 104 would have gotten away with his illegal development.
Since last summer we have put up with noise of the development and 12 months of
looking at the property in the state it is in as in the photo above as well as the
scaffolding in place on our property for over 2 months. In an ideal world we would like
the whole construction to be removed failing that the overlap to the front needs to be
taken back as well as the removal of the 3rd storey construction and for the raising of the
roof to be reviewed.

Page 138

All the neighbours are in unity over their disapproval of the construction that is taking place
and I am hopeful that a number of them will be writing to you with their views.

Objection – Robin Field, 100 Livingstone Road, Blackburn. Received: 23/05/2022.

Objection to Retrospective Planning Application 10/22/0381
(104 Livingstone Road, Blackburn)
Background information
1. 104 Livingstone Road is just one of 12 almost identical houses, Nos. 88 – 110, built in the
1970’s and linked by what were originally carports, later converted to garages. They are
marketed as “detached but linked” but in practice have many of the characteristics of a
terrace, with no rear access to the rear except through the house or garage. On paper, the
back gardens might look quite spacious, but only to people who are ignorant of the terrain,
which is a steep, now terraced, hillside leading up to Wensley Fold School. Each house has
only a very small back yard or patio in which to relax or entertain. Until now, the only
developments that have taken place have been the construction of rear conservatories or
single story extensions, none of which cause problems for any neighbours, either during
their construction or afterwards.
2. The disruption and disturbance caused to near neighbours by began in 2020 when the
previous owner of No 104 tried to refashion these front and back garden areas. First the
front garden and hedges were ripped out and replaced by a fence and crude, impermeable
asphalt (illegal without planning permission since 2008). Then the rear patio was
extended, the hillside carved out aggressively and a new retaining wall built, causing quite a
lot of disturbance and blocking all our drains and shared rear culvert. But then the house
was sold to the current owners when the real nightmare began, in 2021.
3. In 2021 the new owners submitted plans (10/21/0519) for substantially extending the
house in all directions. In contrast to other work done for other houses, it was far more

Page 139

than a simple, single storey extension at the rear, more a substantial rebuild of the entire
house. Unlike all others, it was a 2-storey extension backwards, protruding a long way
beyond the line of other houses, dominating their rear patios and, for the immediate
neighbours in 102 and 104, the view from the rear bedrooms too. The plans also included
a higher, much larger roof, its apex shifted back by 2 metres; sideways extension by
conversion of the garage to rooms, these also extended backward as well as an extra 3
metres at the front, sticking out beyond the front house wall of No 102, to which it is joined.
4. Unfortunately, the plans submitted – and surprisingly approved – made little of this
clear. There was no attempt in the drawings to show how this development would fit in
with the two neighbouring properties, Nos. 102 and 106, nor those beyond, which it also
affects (myself at 100, and Nos. 108 and 110). Nor were the latter 3 even consulted, which
does happen with some local authorities. Although the Khans at 106 did object, No 102 did
not, primarily because I know they simply hadn’t realised how obtrusive the new house
would be, not until it was too late when they saw the new walls arising in front of their eyes.
5. The council’s own website gives certain tests for acceptability:


is the development compatible with the surrounding area?



is the design acceptable in terms of bulk and size?



what is the effect of the development on daylight or sunlight on adjoining properties?



will the development result in a loss of privacy or amenity to the adjoining
properties? For example by overlooking residential properties.

Given all these criteria have been seriously breached, it is difficult to understand quite why
these original plans were ever passed.
6. The criticism of neighbours, however, is not limited to the excessive bulk of the new
building alone, but also blocked pavements and almost endless noise and disturbance. For
months, we had to put up with the pavement obstructed by building materials, now
fortunately removed. Although reported to the council, no action was taken. But worse for
neighbours has been the incessant mechanical noise for much of the past year from diggers
being used to excavate and expand the terraces on the hillside at the back, still going on to
this day. It can start as early as 7.30 am and continue to past 8pm, including Saturdays and
Sundays. It is impossible to relax or entertain in my own back garden, and even when
indoors I have to wear headphones. Another neighbour opposite has to keep going out for
long walks. This is intolerable, yet should be completely unnecessary. Having lived here
since 1985 and known some of the original owners of these properties, I know all the other
terraces were built by muscle power only with no heavy machinery involved. Shouldn’t such
a major rebuilding of the hillside also be subject to planning control? It is, after all, nothing
to do with gardening but a prolonged building project.
7.

Page 140

Adding insult to injury, once the Planning Department had approved plans 10/21/0519, the
builders were then issued with a very different set of plans to those! Instead of the sloping
roof at the back with skylight window submitted to planners, we started to see yet another
floor being erected, - a third, that is - of dormer construction stretching right across the
whole width of the building, clearly intended to provide yet more rooms.
Fortunately, once reported, Planning Enforcement promptly put a stop on this
unprofessional and probably illegal behaviour. This episode does illustrate just how little
concern the new owner and their architects must have for their neighbours to be and for
playing by the rules.

The New Proposals 10/22/0381
8. Instead of simply apologising and removing the extra floor, the owner and architect are
now attempting to legalize the extra floor, the only concession being to reduce its size just a
bit. But this would still add to the over-imposing nature of the extension, still have a major
effect on the views and sunlight available from the patios and rear bedrooms of 102 and
106. It should be completely rejected.
9. The word ‘dormer’ sounds harmless, commonly associated with a single vertical window
rising out of an existing sloping roof. Indeed, we can see one just along the line at 114
Livingstone Road. There are two huge differences though:

Page 141

(a) builders now use the same term to justify complete new rooms stretching the width of
the roof.

(b) dormers like 114 are built on top of an existing roof, in line with its neighbours’ roofs
and invisible from their upper windows. In contrast, the proposed dormer room would be
built out of a substantially heightened roof above an extension that is a long way out of
alignment with its neighbours’ roofs. It would be a highly visible and objectionable addition
for those next door in 102 and 106 and would still be obtrusive for houses further down the
line at 108 and 110, and to a degree for me too at No 100. (There are differences because
our houses are not aligned parallel to the road, but each one set back from its neighbour to
the west, keeping the line parallel to the hillside instead).
10. In my opinion - and that of most neighbours, I am sure - this ‘retrospective’
application for additional room(s) above the already obtrusive 2-storey rear extension
must be refused. Enough is enough.
11. As to the proposed Velux-style windows at the front, I have no objection but would
suggest these would be more appropriate on the north side of the roof instead of the
dormer room. On the south side, wouldn’t solar panels be much more appropriate?

Objection – Mrs S.P MacBenn, 110 Livingstone Road, Blackburn. Received: 24/05/2022.

Page 142

RE: Objection to planning permission request 10/22/0381 at 104 Livingstone Road,
Blackburn. BB2 6NE.
Date: 23rd May, 2022

Dear Tom Wiggans / Martin Kelly / To Whom it May Concern,

I am a retired teacher of 16 years’ service to the schools in the local community. I am a
homeowner and live at 110 Livingstone Road, and this has been our family home for nearly
40 years. I am writing to voice both my concern and objection to the current extension at
104 Livingstone Road which is still being built, and the retrospective planning permission
application with reference 10/22/0381.

Page 143

My good neighbours Mr and Mrs Kahn live at 106 Livingstone Road. Mrs Kahn also serves
the community through BBC Radio Lancashire as a radio presenter. I first had misgivings
and was made aware of this development when the established hedgerow on 106
Livingstone roads’ land plot (at the boundary) was demolished, as I understand without
permission, by the builders at 104 Livingstone Road with a bulldozer. This resulted in the
destruction of part of their property and the erection of concrete posts on their land, again
as I understand, without permission. Although I am informed that afterwards apologies
were given and the posts have been moved back to the actual boundary of the properties,
this demonstrated a blatant disregard for the neighbour’s property and establishes that this
building works have not been considerate of the neighbours. Further to this I am also aware
that at least the front garden of 102 Livingstone Road was heavily damaged by the building
works and that the building materials often overflowed onto the public pavement, blocking
it on numerous occasions.

Unfortunately, I was unaware of the two-storey rear extension planning permission request,
which was granted by the Council without my knowledge, and so I could not object to it
(which I would have done). It’s subsequent building has negatively impacted the local
community and upset many neighbours. Adding not one but two stories made a significant
change to the neighbourhood.
More recently, I have become very concerned regarding the illegal full-height third storey
(see the photo’s above) which started being built some months ago and rise above the
current house roofline. As I understand it, neither the neighbours nor the Council were
made aware of this intent and this has resulted in many members of the local community
becoming very upset. Despite some members of the community voicing disapproval
directly, it seems such fell on deaf ears and the building work continued without planning
permission. It was only when the Council were informed further by the community that
action was taken by the Council to halt the building works. Since then, the wooden framework of the illegal third-storey (see the photo’s above) has remained and the scaffolding
which is imposing on the property of the neighbours, has also remained.
I only becoming aware of the retrospective planning permission application (ref
10/22/0381) through the adjacent neighbours whom were again very concerned / upset.
Looking at the planning permission, I myself am not happy with the proposal and wish to
object.
Livingstone Road is a straight road running directly East / West. All the houses face due
South (front), and all the rear of the properties face North. This makes for full sun exposure
on the South facing front of the house, but poor light opportunities in rear patios and small
extensions attached to the North wall. Current neighbour rear extensions tend to be only
one story and are often glazed to take advantage of the available daylight, whilst not
disrupting the neighbours light or imposing on their properties. Because of the street
layout, the new two-storey extension has disrupted light at various parts of the day for all

Page 144

neighbours along the street and created an eye-sore that is not in keeping with the current
housing.
The proposed additional roof extension in retrospective planning application ref
10/22/0381, appears to protrude and overhang beyond the rear outer face of the wall of
the original house. In effect this appears to be a work-around for a third storey. As I have
explained above, the current two-storey extension, which is still being built, is creating a lot
of issues. Allowing this third storey extension to be built as proposed would be devastating
for all the neighbours, showing complete disregard for the good and friendly community
living here for many years. Whilst the overshadowing of adjacent properties is inevitable
along the whole of our twelve link-detached properties, increasing this by extending OUT
and Extending UP so much will seriously block light to the modest extension/patio area at
the rear of properties.
I have lived happily in this neighbourhood for nearly 40 years and cherish the friendly
neighbourhood community spirit. Livingstone Road is a delightful place to live and I think I
speak for everyone when I say we would all like to keep it that way, including with new
neighbours. However, on this occasion I have to object to the retrospective planning
application ref 10/22/0381.
I sincerely hope you will consider the above seriously when making your decision as to
whether or not to grant this application.

Objection – Mr Jonathan B. MacBenn, 110 Livingstone Road, Blackburn. Received: 26/05/2022.
Re: Objection to retrospective planning application 10/22/0381 (and 10/21/0519)
Dear Tom Wiggans / To Whom it May Concern,
I am a HCPC registered clinical scientist serving patients and communities across three NHS Trusts.
In addition to this I have served the community for roughly half a decade as a secondary science
teacher. Prior to this I served the community through self-defence and leadership training of
families and people of all ages and backgrounds. The local community matters to me and as you can
see, I have given much of my career and personal time to assist and support our community.
Presently I reside at 110 Livingstone Road, where my family has been resident for nearly 40 years.
I am writing to express my deep concern and objection to the development works presently going on
at 104 Livingstone Road, Blackburn BB2 6NE, and the current planning proposal under ‘retrospective’

Page 145

planning application 10/22/0381. I am under the impression that this is a resubmission with
amendment, linking to a former approved planning application 10/21/0519.
With relation to the application 10/21/0519, had I been informed / made aware of this application
then I would have been able to, as a neighbour impacted by this work, voice my objections in order
to help reach an acceptable plan. However, I neither saw nor received any notice relating to this
application. I only became aware after the individual who was granted this application started
building works which created considerable noise (including during anti-social hours on occasion),
dust and damage to the local drainage; I believe they blocked the drains by pouring concrete waste /
rubble down them. I further believe the water board had to get involved to repair the matter
leading to further street disruptions. In addition, building materials (e.g. dangerously stacked bricks)
were overflowing onto the public walk-way and public highway. At one point the public walkway
was completely blocked by this for weeks, and the road partially obstructed. This was further
worsened with constant deliveries blocking the public road.
Distraught, my neighbours informed me of the building works intent and I became quite concerned.
The community on Livingstone Road is a very pleasant one with neighbours looking out for each
other, as well as for the local flora and fauna. This is a delicate thing to protect and the building
work at 104 Livingstone Road (and the intent under applications 10/22/0381 and 10/21/0519) is
directly threatening that whilst deeply upsetting the local community.
As I am sure you are aware from the plans, Livingstone Road runs roughly East-West. As such the
front of the houses face south and the backs of the houses face north. Consequently, the north face
of the houses struggle to get sunlight in their back yard areas. To help with this, the houses seem to
have been originally developed slightly staggered. Where neighbours have sought to extend their
properties in the past, only single storey extensions or conservatories have been erected in
consideration of the other neighbours. In the case of the development works at 104 Livingstone
Road, the two / three storey extension that is still being built, has already very negatively impacted
neighbours, as it blocks the early morning light on one side, and the evening light on the other. This
looming and invasive overshadowing is even more pronounced in the winter months.
As already mentioned lightly and briefly in the current planning application 10/22/0381 supporting
documents, the building works have also shown blatant disregard for the law and the Blackburn with
Darwin Council’s authority by trying to sneak in an additional third storey extension, out of view of
the public road (See photo below). As the photo highlights, the third storey rises above the current
roof limit, and the bricks used in the whole development do not match the original dwellinghouse.

Page 146

As I understand it, reference has been made to Schedule 2, Part 1, Class B of the General Permitted
Development (England) Order 2015. Under this section
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/schedule/2/made), under B.2 (a) it states that: the
materials used in any exterior work must be of a similar appearance to those used in the construction
of the exterior of the existing dwellinghouse. As you can see, this is clearly not the case already and
so the current built extension is in breach.
Further, looking at the proposed building plans, the roof will be extended and a dormer is intended
on the new roof. In effect, this is bypassing the authority to have a third storey. From the technical
drawings in the application, the dormer will be going up the edge of the extension. However, under
section B2 (b)(ii): the enlargement must be constructed so that—other than in the case of an
enlargement which joins the original roof to the roof of a rear or side extension, no part of the
enlargement extends beyond the outside face of any external wall of the original dwellinghouse. As I
understand this, the ‘original dwellinghouse’ relates to the original house and not the extension.
Therefore, I believe the plans do not accord with ‘all relevant provisions and criteria of Schedule 2,
Part 1, Class B of the General Permitted Development (England) Order 2015.
Although this is not my area of legal expertise, as I understand it, this therefore demands that you
need to grant planning permission before the proposed work in application ref 10/22/0381 can be
carried out.
In more simple terms, the development has been invasive and disruptive to the local community, as
well as the local flora and fauna. The planned development under application 10/22/0381 and
10/21/0519 has already bricked off once tranquil garden views for immediate neighbours, devaluing
their property whilst creating an eye-saw for the further away neighbours. This has also drastically
reduced the light exposure at the rear of the row of link-detached properties. In addition, the
development is out of keeping with the look of the established properties, and has even almost
converted one neighbours house from a link-detached house to a semi-detached property!

Page 147

The result is a community that is bewildered at the lack of support from the Council on this matter
and how they can allow ‘retrospective’ permission in light of blatant disregard for their authority.
I wish to emphasise that when I stated local community, this includes and welcomes 104 Livingstone
Roads owners. I have to admire their spirit to develop the property but had there been consult /
more awareness, then we could have all reached an acceptable solution. Unfortunately, that didn’t
happen and so we are now forced to object to the planned developments.
I hope you will truly take to heart my comments and the plea of the community by denying the
planning application 10/22/0381. Thank you.

Page 148

Agenda Item 4.6
REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/22/0430

Proposed development: Full Planning Application for Extension to rear single
storey and erection of a front porch. Alteration to rear garden levels and
replacement party and side/rear boundary wall (retrospective)
Site address: 5 Chestnut Gardens, Blackburn, BB1 6PS
Applicant: Mr Majid Anwar
Ward: Bastwell & Daisyfield
Councillor: Parwaiz Akhtar
Councillor: Iftakhar Hussain
Councillor: Shaukat Hussain
5

9

6

69

151.2m

80

10

84

90

Play Area
63

Bastw ell
House

1

156.4m

1

91
PW

9
97

20

E
LOS

C
PSE
CO

2

17

28

23

24

16

EET
TR
KS
OA

38

18

15

9

7
1

9
11

40 to 54

SE
CLO

1

RN
HO
CKT
BLA

16

30

ES
CH
AR
EL
TH

12
4

4
2

7
Play ground

2

33
SE
LO

147.8m

C
DLE
SPIN

14

6

139.9m

2

18

CH
ES
TN
U
T

G
AR
DE
N
S

ST
R
EE
T

9

21

TR
O
Y

101

1

10

28

11
ET
RE
ST
2

45

1

14

2

BA
N
G
O
R

ST
RE
ET

ST
RE
ET

51

N
O
RW
IC
H

PW

237

Youth Centre

336

126.5m

322

334

Page 149

4

D
OO
YW
BA

12

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – Subject to conditions detailed in Section 5.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1

This planning application is presented to Committee in accordance with the
Scheme of Delegation of the Council’s Constitution, in which the application has
received a high number of objections from local residents and the works are
retrospective.

2.2

After a site visit on the 17th May, it was acknowledged that the applicant had
commenced with works by way of land level changes and erecting boundary
treatment retrospective works. The applicant was advised by our Enforcement
Officer to stop any on-going works and that any further works, which proceeded,
would be done at their risk.

2.3

The key issues in the assessment of the application are the impact of the
development on residential amenity as well as design/visual amenity upon
landscape character. In arriving at the recommendation, all material matters
have been considered, in the context of relevant Development Plan policies and
The Framework, as set out in the Assessment section of the report.

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The application site relates to a semi-detached property located to the north of
the residential cul-de-sac Chestnut Gardens, within the Blackburn Inner Urban
Area. The gable elevation of the property faces the road. The host dwelling
benefits from a generous sized rear garden area and has an off-street parking
area to the side which can accommodate up to two vehicles.
3.1.2 Chestnut Gardens is reached off Troy Street near its junction with Whalley
Range. The cul-de-sac is characterised by varying red brick house types
differing in sizes and styles.

Page 150

Figure 1: Google aerial view of the application site

3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 The proposal is for a householder planning permission for the erection of a rear
single storey extension and erection of a front porch. Planning permission is
further sought for alterations to the rear garden levels and replacement of
party/side and rear boundary walls.
3.2.2 As previously noted, the works have commenced for the alterations to the rear
garden levels and the replacement of party/side and rear boundary walls. The
application is therefore part-retrospective. The proposed single storey
extension will measure a further 0.5m off of the existing single storey extension
to take the full projection to 6m and will measure 2.9m wide. The proposed front
porch will project 1.65m off of the front elevation and measure 2.5m in width.
Height to the ridge will be 3.5m. The boundary wall which faces onto the
highway of Chestnut Gardens measures 2.4m in height. The wall which acts as
a boundary wall between No.5 and No.7 Chestnut Gardens measures 2.3m in
height.
3.2.3 The proposed first and second floor plan, as well as the proposed elevations
are shown below:

Page 151

Figure 2: Proposed Plan

Page 152

Figure 2: Proposed Elevations

3.3

Case Officer Photos

3.4

Development Plan

3.4.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Act 2004 requires that
applications be determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.
3.4.2 Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2 (2015):
 Policy 8: Development and People

Page 153

 Policy 11: Design
3.4.3 Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document Revised Edition
(September 2012)

3.5



RES E1: Materials



RES E2: 45 Degree Rule



RES E6: Boundary Treatments



RES E7: Rear Extensions



RES E16: Porches

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
4.0

ASSESSMENT
Residential Amenity

4.1.1 Local Plan Part 2, Policy 8 ii) requires new development to “secure a
satisfactory level of amenity and safety for surrounding uses and for occupants
or users of the development itself, with reference to noise, vibration, odour, light,
dust or other pollution or nuisance, privacy/overlooking, and the relationship
between buildings.
4.1.2 The original porch proposed measured a depth of 2.3m by 2.7m in width with a
ridge height of circa 3.4m. In close proximity to the siting of the proposed porch
is a ground floor lounge window at No.7 Chestnut Gardens. It was considered
during the application process that the scale and massing of porch as initially
proposed would result in a dominant and overbearing addition resulting in a loss
of light to this aforementioned window at the neighbouring property. As such,
amendments have been sought for a reduction in the size of the porch. The
revised porch will project 1.65m beyond the front elevation of the dwelling and
measure 2.5m wide. The smaller porch safeguards neighbouring amenity.
4.1.3 It should also be noted as a fall-back position the porch only exceeds Part 1,
Class D permitted development parameters by 400mm when measuring the
overall height and circa 1.1sqm in external floor area.
4.1.4 In regards to the rear extension, a larger homes householder notification
application was submitted under planning ref. 10/21/0414. As no objections
were received during the application process the prior approval of the Local
Planning Authority was not required. The rear extension as granted under ref.
21/0414 projected 3m along the shared boundary with No.7 and then stepped
up to 5.5m at circa 2.4m wide.

Page 154

4.1.5 This current application largely comprises of the same rear extension, albeit the
proposal seeks an additional 500mm depth of the 5.5m aspect thus resulting in
part of the rear extension projecting 6m beyond the existing rear elevation.
4.1.6 Policy 8 requires an assessment in to issues including loss of light and
dominance. The principle tool for appraising these impacts is the 45 degree
rule, as set out within policy RES E2 of the adopted residential design guide.
The proposal rear extension is noted as marginally failing this assessment in
relation to the patio doors within no.5’s own rear extension. However mitigation
for this shortfall is provided by the fact the affected patio door windows serve a
room that has multiple other light sources unaffected by the proposal. As such
the overall impact upon the neighbouring property is reduced. Additional
mitigation is also provided by the land level difference between the two
properties, with no.7 being sited at a higher level than the host dwelling.
4.1.7 Taking all of the above into account, the proposal for the rear single storey
extension will not unduly impact the neighbouring occupants in terms of loss of
loss of light and outlook.
4.1.8 The proposal also details the erection of a 2.3m high boundary wall between
no’s 5 and 7. This element is retrospective. Members are advised that under
the allowances of Schedule 2, Part 2, Class A of the General Permitted
Development Order 2015 (as amended) a wall could be erected up to a height
of 2m without the benefit of planning approval. It is considered that when
allowing for the differing garden levels the additional 300mm beyond permitted
development allowances is without detriment to the amenity of no.7, or other
properties adjoining the application site.
4.1.9 No.10 and No.12 The Larches, are sited north-west of the application site at a
higher level. The existing fence in place dividing the properties is retained. As
such, given the relationship between these dwellings no harm to living
conditions of the neighbouring occupants will be caused.
4.1.10 The rear garden levels have been altered and raised from the road level. The
garden is enclosed by boundary treatments to all sides, the engineering
operations carried out will not impact upon neighbouring amenity in terms of
loss of privacy by virtue of overlooking given the screening benefits from
fences/walls.
4.1.11 On balance, the proposal is considered to meet the requirements of Policy 8 of
the LLP2 (2015) and supporting SPD Policies.
Design and Visual Amenity
4.1.12 Policy 11 of the Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan Part 2 (2015) requires all
new development to “present a good standard of design and will be expected
to:
i) Demonstrate an understanding of the wider context; and

Page 155

ii) Make a positive contribution to the local area.
4.1.13 The external materials to be used in the construction of the proposed single
storey extension and front porch are red brick which will harmonise with the
host dwelling. This is the same for the retrospective boundary walls which have
also been constructed with red brick and include the same detailing as the host
dwelling. The single storey rear extension and front porch both feature a pitched
roof to match the existing dwelling house.
4.1.14 Furthermore there is a similar porch at No.7 Chestnut Gardens meaning the
proposed porch will be a subordinate addition to the street scene and will not
form an obtrusive feature.
4.1.15 The boundary wall which has been erected facing onto the highway at Chestnut
Gardens measures 2.4m high. It was noted on my site visit that the boundary
wall harmonises with the existing dwelling with the use of the same details and
red brick. Upon analysing the street scene on google maps before the boundary
walls were erected (see below image) it is noted that the previous fencing offers
little privacy for the occupants and the neighbouring dwellings.

4.1.16 On balance, the proposal is considered to be acceptable from a design and
visual amenity perspective, in accordance with Policy 11 of the LPP2 (2015).
Other Comments
4.1.17 Concerns have been raised regarding the loss of value to nearby properties
resultant of the proposal. It should be noted that this is not a material planning
consideration, and has therefore not been taken into account when assessing
this application.
4.1.18 Objections have also cited consent has not been gained to erect boundary
treatments on shared ownership. Any party wall issues are a private matter
between the relevant parties, and not in the scope of planning.
5.0

RECOMMENDATION

5.1

Approve subject to the following conditions:

Page 156

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this planning permission.
REASON: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. Unless explicitly required by condition within this permission, the development
hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the
proposals as detailed on drawings:
Drawing No. SK 003, Proposed front, side and rear elevations and proposed
ground floor plan - Received 13th June 2022
Drawing No. SK 004, Proposed front, side and rear elevations, proposed plan
indicating new boundary wall, proposed cross section garden level – Received
13th June 2022.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify, which plans are relevant
to the permission.
3. Notwithstanding the submitted details, the external walling and roofing
materials to be used in the construction of the building hereby permitted shall
match those used in the existing building to the satisfaction of The Local
Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is
satisfactory in accordance with Policy 11 of the Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Local Plan Part 2 and the adopted Blackburn with Darwen Design
Guide Supplementary Planning Document.
6.0

PLANNING HISTORY

6.1

10/96/0148 – Residential development incorporating one retail shop unit

6.2

10/21/0357 – Erection of porch to front. Approved.

6.3

10/21/0362 – Single storey rear extension, 6.0m from original rear wall.
Withdrawn.

6.4

10/21/0414 – Erection of single storey extension to rear from original rear wall.
5.5m from rear wall, max height 3.4m. Prior approval is not required.

7.0

CONSULTATIONS

7.1

Public Consultation
Public consultation has taken place three times due to amended proposed
plans and revised development description. Letters have been posted to 7

Page 157

neighbouring properties on the 11th May 2022, 16th May 2022 and the 13th June
2022. The objections received are shown in section 10 of this report.
8.0

CONTACT OFFICER: Emily Colebourne, Assistant Planning Officer

9.0

DATE PREPARED: 4th July 2022

Page 158

10. SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS
Objection – Miss Patel. Received: 25/05/2022

To whom this may concern,
I am a resident that has been written to re the proposed rear single storey extension for 5
Chestnut Gardens, Blackburn, BB1 6PS which I'd like to raise an objection to.
This property comes in my line of sight and has persistently been overbuilding walls which
are 8 feet high which none of the cul de sac have been allowed to do as keeping in line with
the look and feel of the whole cul de sac.
The current building build is sufficient and I do not wish for the building to be erected
externally any further due to it then being an overdevelopment.
The walls built both party wall to their neighbour No 7 and to the public road on Chestnut
Gardens exceeds the high allowance and makes the whole street look very industrial.
I have attached pictures of my concerns.

Page 159

Page 160

Objection – Mr & Mrs Chand, 12 The Larches, Blackburn. Received: 26/05/2022.
I’ve received a letter with a further planning proposal for 5 Chestnut Gardens, Blackburn BB1 6PS
which i’d like to refuse.
I’m a resident of 12 The Larches, Blackburn BB1 6PR and this property comes in my direct line of
sight from the back of our home.
The developers have continued to over build without plans and following the regulations in place
which is causing a complete eye sore to the area.
Depreciating the value of the homes in the area with the very large overbuild of party walls and walls
to the public path.
We’ve all got party / boundary wall’s on split levels and never exceeded the legal limit or ever
changed the look of the area which is 1 metre bricked walls and then up to 2 metres in total fenced
up.
Why they have been allowed to build a brick wall which exceeds 8 feet is baffling to none residents
who come and drive by let alone us residents.
The existing build of the home is sufficient and in rights with the 45*degree rule of light to all
premises involved currently. Allowing any further development to the home will be in a legal breach
of this from what information I have gathered by a visit from the local councillor.

Objection – S Imran. Received: 27/05/2022.
My name is Shabana and I’m a resident that’s been written to for Planning Application Reference
10/22/0430
First and foremost please can I express my comment to this application to remain anonymous.
I’d like to express my objections on any further development approval for 5 Chestnut Gardens,
Blackburn, BB1 6PS due to the current build being over the legal allowance/ guidance on fencing,
walls adjacent to public walkways & roads.
The property has built brick walls which are way above the legal requirements not fitting with the
approval of the surrounding area or the requirement to any modifications allowed when we first
purchased these homes of Gleeson Homes.
There is a Act in the Deeds of these homes that states all fencing & walls need to be 1 metre in
height and within the same look of the area.
I myself have our back garden adjacent to the walkway and public path yet haven’t ever been
allowed to create such overshadow of a development and overshadow of brick walls.
This wall is blocking the total view to the neighbouring property which is no longer viewable from
Chestnut Gardens at all.
As a neighbourhood watch area how is the neighbouring home visually protected when it’s enclosed
by this property with walls to this extent?

Page 161

Objection – Ms Sabana Chand, 7 Chestnut Gardens, Blackburn. Received: 30/05/2022.

I’ve received a Full Planning Application from yourselves in proposal to an extension of the
rear Single Storey and erection of a front porch which my neighbour has proposed and
applied for at 5, Chestnut Gardens, Blackburn BB1 6PS.
I’ve reviewed the plans on your website under the application ref: 10/22/0430 and would like
to raise an objection for this extension to take effect.
Firstly I’d like to query and escalate why this plan has been allowed to be submitted on
multiple occasions, when these same proposals have been rejected and declined by the
Planning Team in April 2021 and twice thereafter due to the reasoning mentioned below.
As per the plans for the rear extension of 5, Chestnut Gardens. They are proposing a 6.0m
rear wall / home extension from our adjoining residence, which would result in a huge loss of
light into our home and the breach of the 45 degree rule of light or Code 45 of Light, coming
into the Open-Plan Kitchen, Dining, Lounge and my work which are all our habitable areas
of the home and all situated at the rear of our home.
The front porch would yet again do exactly the same but to the front of our home
overshadowing us both at the rear and front and blocking the light into our home.
If the extension took place as it’s currently proposed, this would result of the ground floor of
our home being completely out of sight and not in view from the street where our drive is
located and we park and walk up to our home (Chestnut Gardens).
When at the back of our home, from the inside and externally from the street we are be
completely snookered by the building that has been proposed and the surrounding walls that
have been illegally built. I have attached pictures of the current boundary walls that have
been built without any permission which is hiding our home from view completely both from
our home outwards and from the street inwards.
I have also attached pictures of neighbours who have been happy to share their gardens and
front walls that have been built all facing the public paths. No one has been allowed to build
above 1 metre and have all kept within the legal requirements and within the look of the
street.
The 8 feet external boundary wall is making us feel very vulnerable and unsafe as if our
home was at an attempt of a burglary or theft (god forbid) no one from the view of the street
or road would be able to view us or aide us to safety.
If there ever was a fire smouldering (god forbid) again this wouldn’t never be visible to the
general public to raise an alarm on, putting my young family at risk.
On these plans the Party Wall (Boundary) which they are proposing to erect has already been
raised by full bricks (Pictures attached below). This is above the 2 metres they are allowed. It
currently measures 8 feet from their ground level however I have been made aware by the
enforcement officer that has visited the development, that the owners are claiming to raise
their ground level and he will re-visit to make sure this wall is within the legal requirements
on completion of the ground work. I do however currently maintain my objection to this wall.
On the drawings and plans proposed their Boundary lines are completely incorrect. As per
my deeds and land registry the boundary wall starts from the end of our rear bedroom facia

Page 162

board of the roof. If you look at the current build in reality, and the plans they have submitted
they have built into and over our land. The boundary line they have proposed is completely
incorrect.
Again this has been acknowledged by the Enforcement Officer awaiting the outcome of these
plans.
This party wall was built without any “Party Wall Agreements” or written consent by either
yourselves or alternative process. This has massively shaded daylight into our home and
losing the view out of all of our rear right side windows & doors, and is completely
overshadowing the light from our French Doors on the left-rear of the home. Proposing any
further building extensions and extending the build to 6 metres would be a further catastrophe
to the light coming into the home, to the enjoyment of our home, detrimental to the value of
our home and most importantly the safety element of any home which we should legally be
allowed to enjoy and feel.
I have had these plans independently reviewed by a Building Inspector who has pointed the
above details for you to consider on my behalf.
Once again
 The Building to 6 metres would breach the 45 Degree Rule of light – this has already
been explained to the Neighbours by the Enforcement Officer, Conor Dawson who
visited the site with his manager and they have been made aware that they cannot
breach this rule and allow any further building work – however they have still
continued to submit plans, and they have continued in the last week to dig the
foundation of the further 0.5metre they have applied for.


The Front porch would be too dominant and yet again overshadow our home by
obstructing light and view of the home.



The current 8 feet wall built on the supposed boundary line is completely incorrect
and not within there right of line – this is coming into our home / land.



The current 8 feet wall built adjacent to the public path on Chestnut Gardens is not in
line or look of the street and is once again completely blocking our home from view
in case of emergency – all walls need to be reduce to the legal requirements to allow
us to have the enjoyment of light and the reassurance that we are visible in case of
emergencies.



As with everything else built incorrectly i.e. the walls - the home owners and the
builders have continued the build work without any plans in place which is causing
me great concern as to why this should be allowed and why the process of application
is being submitted after they have already built these walls?

Page 163

Above is the 8 feet walls adjacent to the public path completely overshadowing the visibility of our
home

If the porch is erected any further we’d be completely snookered in both front and back

8 feet wall yet again unable to view our home

Page 164

Neighbour who built a 1 metre wall with panels inside in line with our street and the area

Back garden of a neighbour along the same path further up

Page 165

Yet again another neighbour on the street with their back garden along the public path

The Current build of 5 Chestnut Gardens coming over and into our land / premises

Further Objection – Ms Sabana Chand, 7 Chestnut Gardens, Blackburn. Received: 28/06/2022.
Hope you’re well.
I have yet again received another proposal for the Extension of the rear single storey and front porch
for 5 Chestnut Gardens, Blackburn BB1 6PS. As well as a garden level erection and replacement of
the Side Wall Boundary & Party Walls (Retrospective)
I have been awaiting a call from yourself to discuss this since the 16th June’2022, however I believe
you were on Annual Leave last week and therefore will be calling me on Wednesday 29th June after
2.30pm.
In the meanwhile I do express too raise my comment on this application.
I do believe there are numerous comments / complaints in relation to this build already and they
would be taken into consideration under the comments on Application reference: 10/22/0430 –

Page 166

However as I have re-received a letter I’d like to re-raise my concerns which have now been
independently verified by a planner and surveyor.
As mentioned previously I do not agree to the boundary wall line No 5 Chestnut Gardens has drawn
on their plans to you. These are incorrect in line with the registry documents and very vital as this
could result in a legal dispute and escalated into court.
I am yet again reiterating the fact they have submitted plans to you with incorrect boundary lines at
the front and back of the home. As discussed over the phone, if you look at the back of the houses as
an example, the party wall that they have proposed is over my roof facia which is incorrect, and their
build is overhanging into our home.
Likewise at the front of the home they have proposed a porch there is no mention of a 1 metre party
wall that currently exist. Does this mean this wall will be used into the New Proposed Porch that has
been submitted? Would this mean yet again they would eat into my premises and boundary?
No 5 Chestnut Gardens has an approval of a porch already in place, I do not understand why new
plans have been re-submitted when they already have a plan in place and approved matching the
size of our porch which could be located under Planning Application Ref: 10/21/0465
We have been reassured by a planning officer like yourself, Adam Sheikh, in April 2021 that both
homes would have a porch of the same size, this was agreed and approved. Why are further size
adjustments being allowed / considered when this would be oversized and overshadow our home?
The party wall between the 2 homes that has been raised to No 5’s current ground level at 8+ feet
high has been independently varied to be 1 feet too high even after they have attempted to raise
their ground level. The reduction of this brick wall by 1 foot would significantly allow more angle
light through all the windows at the rear of our home, and would also make our home visible
externally from the street in case of emergency as mentioned in my prior comment.
The external wall along the public path, which again is 8+feet. I believe you’ve witnessed this wall
yourself when you visited the site. This wall is not in line with any other homes within our cul-de-sac
and is very large in size which again I emphasis is overshadowing not only the cul-de-sac but the
visibility of our home, and depreciating the value of our home due to the fact we are now
completely overshadowed and hidden.
There are other homes in and around the cul-de-sac who have gardens facing a public path, on
higher ground levels that have a 1 metre wall with a fence risen above in line with the area’s look.
The fact they have built a double sided brick wall along the left of our drive without our consent on
not the boundary line but over into our drive needs to be removed as we have not allowed any build
of any infrastructure to take place by their builder in our premises. Our Fencing has been removed
and replaced by Brick walls – and then a retrospective plan submitted, how is this ever legal ?
Yet again, the plans have slipped another request to the rear build of the home to be extended from
the current 5.5metres to 6metres when this has been declined now 6+ times and also physically
spoken to the owners about that this would breach the 45 Degree Rule of Light to a habitable room.
Adam Sheikh has spoken to them in April 2021 as he was the planning officer in your office at the
time who refused this build to 6 metres.
You, yourself have asked them to withdraw and re-submit their plans which they did do at 5.5metres
however these new plans yet again state 6metres.
Your Enforcement Officer, Conor Dawson has spoken to the home owners too in relation to this not
being possible however yet again they have submitted this.
I would like for you to take the above points into consideration for myself once again.
Awaiting to speak to you.

Page 167

Further Objection - Ms Sabana Chand, 7 Chestnut Gardens, Blackburn. Received:28/06/2022.
Hope you’re well.
I have yet again received another proposal for the Extension of the rear single storey and front porch
for 5 Chestnut Gardens, Blackburn BB1 6PS. As well as a garden level erection and replacement of
the Side Wall Boundary & Party Walls (Retrospective)
I have been awaiting a call from yourself to discuss this since the 16th June’2022, however I believe
you were on Annual Leave last week and therefore will be calling me on Wednesday 29th June after
2.30pm.
In the meanwhile I do express too raise my comment on this application.
I do believe there are numerous comments / complaints in relation to this build already and they
would be taken into consideration under the comments on Application reference: 10/22/0430 –
However as I have re-received a letter I’d like to re-raise my concerns which have now been
independently verified by a planner and surveyor.
As mentioned previously I do not agree to the boundary wall line No 5 Chestnut Gardens has drawn
on their plans to you. These are incorrect in line with the registry documents and very vital as this
could result in a legal dispute and escalated into court.
I am yet again reiterating the fact they have submitted plans to you with incorrect boundary lines at
the front and back of the home. As discussed over the phone, if you look at the back of the houses as
an example, the party wall that they have proposed is over my roof facia which is incorrect, and their
build is overhanging into our home.
Likewise at the front of the home they have proposed a porch there is no mention of a 1 metre party
wall that currently exist. Does this mean this wall will be used into the New Proposed Porch that has
been submitted? Would this mean yet again they would eat into my premises and boundary?
No 5 Chestnut Gardens has an approval of a porch already in place, I do not understand why new
plans have been re-submitted when they already have a plan in place and approved matching the
size of our porch which could be located under Planning Application Ref: 10/21/0465
We have been reassured by a planning officer like yourself, Adam Sheikh, in April 2021 that both
homes would have a porch of the same size, this was agreed and approved. Why are further size
adjustments being allowed / considered when this would be oversized and overshadow our home?
The party wall between the 2 homes that has been raised to No 5’s current ground level at 8+ feet
high has been independently varied to be 1 feet too high even after they have attempted to raise
their ground level. The reduction of this brick wall by 1 foot would significantly allow more angle
light through all the windows at the rear of our home, and would also make our home visible
externally from the street in case of emergency as mentioned in my prior comment.
The external wall along the public path, which again is 8+feet. I believe you’ve witnessed this wall
yourself when you visited the site. This wall is not in line with any other homes within our cul-de-sac
and is very large in size which again I emphasis is overshadowing not only the cul-de-sac but the
visibility of our home, and depreciating the value of our home due to the fact we are now
completely overshadowed and hidden.
There are other homes in and around the cul-de-sac who have gardens facing a public path, on
higher ground levels that have a 1 metre wall with a fence risen above in line with the area’s look.
The fact they have built a double sided brick wall along the left of our drive without our consent on
not the boundary line but over into our drive needs to be removed as we have not allowed any build
of any infrastructure to take place by their builder in our premises. Our Fencing has been removed
and replaced by Brick walls – and then a retrospective plan submitted, how is this ever legal?
Yet again, the plans have slipped another request to the rear build of the home to be extended from
the current 5.5metres to 6metres when this has been declined now 6+ times and also physically
spoken to the owners about that this would breach the 45 Degree Rule of Light to a habitable room.

Page 168

Adam Sheikh has spoken to them in April 2021 as he was the planning officer in your office at the
time who refused this build to 6 metres.
You, yourself have asked them to withdraw and re-submit their plans which they did do at 5.5metres
however these new plans yet again state 6metres.
Your Enforcement Officer, Conor Dawson has spoken to the home owners too in relation to this not
being possible however yet again they have submitted this.
I would like for you to take the above points into consideration for myself once again.
Awaiting to speak to you.
Objection – Hira Tahir, 1 Chestnut Gardens, Blackburn. Received: 30/05/2022.
I am a resident in 1 chestnut Gardens, Blackburn, BB1 6PS.
I recently received a letter regarding Number 5 Chestnut Garden's permission for an extensions and
amendments to walls around the garden reference number 10/22/0430.

The new wall is a big eyesore in this area, as it is very high compared to others in the area. Everyone
else in this area has an approx. 3ft brick wall with a fence on top which is in keeps of the area and a
residential look.
However, this wall makes it look very “industrialized” in design which does not fit into its
surroundings.
Due to the high, different and industrial design, I am very worried how it may negatively affect my
property value and the look of my area. This would also open an opportunity for anyone else to use
this as an example and start building very high walls around their properties which will further affect
the look of the area and reduce the value of surrounding properties.

Page 169

Agenda Item 5

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 170

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 172

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 173

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 174

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 175

Agenda Item 6

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 176

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 178

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 179

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 180

Agenda Item 7

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 181

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 184

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 185

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 186

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 187

